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SENATOR DEBORAH ORTIZ:  I’d like to welcome everyone and just let you know, we are waiting for Assemblymember Wilma Chan before we formally begin.  But we do have a fairly ambitious agenda today, so I may go ahead and begin, and hopefully, Assemblymember Chan will join us and have an opportunity to make an opening comment.  I just know that we have many speakers.

She’s here.  Great.  As Assemblymember Chan is being seated—and every member that is here, that has joined us, will have an opportunity for some comments—let me just let everyone know that this hearing is being recorded.  If you have any concerns or objections to that, please let us know.  It’s a standard practice, but I need to provide notice that indeed we are being recorded.


There is a witness signup sheet.  I know we have, again, a very ambitious agenda, but we will have an opportunity for public comment at the end.  So, if you want to make a few comments under “Public Comment,” please sign up so we’ll have a sense how long that will take.

Let me welcome everyone.  I am Deborah Ortiz.  I’m a senator from the Sacramento area and chair of the Senate Health Committee.  I’m joined here today by my colleagues in the Assembly who have really been wonderful in being a part of this discussion.  They will have an opportunity to make an opening comment as well.  On my left is Assemblymember Chan.  She is the chair of the Assembly Health Committee and has been very, very good on participating in this discussion.  Assemblymember Jones, who is from my old Assembly district, who is the chair of the Assembly Judiciary Committee, has taken a keen interest in this; as well as Assemblymember Mullin, who chairs a biotech select or subcommittee, who has also been very engaged and interested in this policy area.  So, I welcome them.


Let me just share with you what the purpose of this hearing is.  There are a number of important questions as to who owns the rights to research findings and inventions that will be coming out of Proposition 71 and the research that will be funded on the taxpayers’ dollars, that voted in confidence for this initiative.  


The questions have arisen, and I have raised them:  What can the CIRM—the oversight committee—do with those rights?  And, most importantly, how do we ensure that California residents receive a significant and direct return on their investment in stem cell research?  They’re some of the most perplexing questions we faced in implementation of Prop. 71.

Our task is complicated by the fact that some of the options for obtaining economic benefits, particularly those that involve the state receiving a revenue stream in the form of a royalty or other types of direct payments, may not be possible if we want to use tax-exempt bonds to pay for that research.  And although the language of the initiative, I think, allows the opportunity to draw down from taxable bonds, there is a higher cost associated with that.  That prohibition is a function of the federal law that prohibits a benefit to the state by using government-issued tax-exempt bonds.  It’s a very complicated legal question, but it’s an important one, as it affects Prop. 71.  

If we are not able to use tax-exempt bonds, the $200 million annual cost of paying off the bonds—roughly, some have said, a 3 billion cost for 3 billion in research—could go up to another billion.  It could be even larger in five years, when the state begins paying off these bonds.  Again, if we have to use taxable bonds, that cost of financing the research is higher, potentially forcing us—my concern and my colleagues’—forcing us to make cuts in the very, very critical programs that we now struggle to save every year in the Legislature:  Medi-Cal, Healthy Families, and other safety-net healthcare programs.

Given that we are unlikely to see any real economic benefits from the research for ten years or more, it becomes imperative that we use tax-exempt financing to the greatest extent possible.  I think that’s what the voters envisioned and I think many of us had hoped was more cost effective.  My own position has been, and continues to be, that the oversight body of the stem cell research initiative—the ICOC—should adopt very clear and strong standards as they relate to ensuring the state’s interests are protected and that the state receives a meaningful economic return on its investment, while, at the same time, it moves the science forward consistent with the intent of the initiative.  


Frankly, I have some concerns whether the ICOC is taking this task seriously, but they will have an opportunity to explain, for the record later, how they’re approaching this task.  We also need strong public policy to ensure that the way that they manage intellectual property rights does not, in and of itself, impede the rapid and broad dissemination of basic research, findings, and tools.

We’re going to receive testimony that the prevailing model of intellectual property management—the federal Bayh-Dole Act—may actually fail that test in many ways.  That appears to be the model that is being proposed by the ICOC at this point.  I think we’re going to hear testimony that suggests that model would in fact preclude the ability of researchers to share the preliminary discoveries that arise out of these early stages of Prop. 71 research.  Again, there is a distinction between somewhere down the line a therapy, a treatment, that helps save lives—as we all hope and want and intended in our vote for 71—and the early front-end, simple discoveries in the research area that are tools and building blocks for more research.  Ought those building blocks of research be tied up in patents in such a way that other researchers don’t have access to them?  Is that an appropriate condition of funding through Prop. 71 that’s imposed upon those who receive Prop. 71 dollars; again, to enhance and to increase the rate of research and discoveries?


Finally, in 2005, at a time of escalating problems with the affordability of prescription drugs and therapies, we would be remiss if we didn’t attempt to ensure that the issue of the ultimate accessibility and affordability of stem cell therapies and treatments relying on Prop. 71 funded research is addressed.  As we’ll hear today, that goal has not been addressed very well by the Bayh-Dole Act; again, the model that, all indications are, the Prop. 71 oversight committee is considering.  But we may have an opportunity to do so with the policy that we hope to develop here in California.  Let me make it very clear:  The Legislature has no authority to require this of Prop. 71, the oversight body.  My hope is by raising and elevating this issue, having the public debate, assuring that those very patient groups that are here to lobby against any impediment to research—and I respect that—but I also want to be sure that they understand, at this point there’s no assurance that they have access to these treatments or therapies unless there’s a policy adopted by CIRM.


The ICOC has already received one set of recommendations on this topic.  It was prepared by the California Council on Science and Technology.  I think we’ll hear some concerns today that that report was not only premature, but glosses over many of the important issues that we should be spending time deliberating, including the unintended effects of the Bayh-Dole Act that have become apparent over time that is now the evolving school of thought:  that it puts constraints on innovation and science and research.  And then, we have the additional constraint in California that is unique to our funding mechanism using bonds:  that these tax-exempt bonds as a source of financing will in fact preclude the ability to draw a revenue stream back to California, as proposed in the campaign discussions and the messages to the voters.


Bottom line:  I don’t believe the CCST report provides either an objective or comprehensive analysis of the full array of options that are available to us to drawn on in developing an intellectual property policy for stem cell research grants.  I am perhaps most distressed that despite legislative admonition that the CCST broaden its study group and solicit broader representation of Bayh-Dole critics and public interest groups, the CCST nonetheless chose to ignore that request and issued their report, and that report is being used as the model from some in CIRM to say this is the model we should go on.  Once again, it’s incomplete, it’s premature, and it does nothing to address these important underlying public policy questions.

I think I speak for many in saying that we are less interested in seeing the state adopt a status quo policy for management of intellectual property rights than we are in seeing that the state adopt a policy that makes sense and serves the public; the public who not only are waiting for cures but are also footing the bill for this research and who may be faced with critical healthcare programs that they rely upon today being further cut in order to finance the bonds and this research that may not benefit them.


This hearing is a first of what will probably be many public forums for discussion on this issue.  The ICOC subcommittee will be meeting throughout the fall, and hopefully, this hearing will spur debate and broad consideration of the options that are possible in this complex but, I think, vitally important issue.


With that, let me welcome you once again and let me extend an opportunity to my colleague and my counterpart and chair of the Assembly Health Committee:  Assemblymember Chan.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER WILMA CHAN:  Good morning.  I’m going to be very brief.  I think the senator gave a good overview of this hearing.  I want to thank her.  She’s been working on this issue, probably before I got there, but for years and years and years.


My main reason for being here, and my main hope, is that we can keep faith with the intent of Proposition 71.  As you know, a lot of laws now are being done in California through the ballot initiative, which you could either like or dislike.  But, at any rate, as you know, Proposition 71 passed by a big margin, and the reason it passed by a big margin is because there were a lot of expectations over the benefits that it would have to the voters who voted for it and the people in California.  Among them, intellectual property gains were talked about extensively throughout the campaign; and the economic impact analysis of the costs and benefits associated with Prop. 71 were also used to win voters over.  And, in particular, as the senator said, the ballot initiative actually said that the state was to receive financial benefits from patents, royalties, and licenses resulting from the research activities funded under the measure.  

Now, I understand that there are difficulties and that it’s a complex subject, but I just want to say that I’m really here to make sure that in the next period ahead—and I want to congratulate San Francisco on having the Institute located here—that we are able to keep faith with the public; because if we aren’t, there is going to be significant problems in the road ahead.  On the other hand, I think there’s a lot of promise in this proposition.  So, let’s solve the issues, look at the details, and make sure we come up with a program that satisfies the needs of the citizens of California.

Let me also say I’m sorry:  I won’t be able to stay for the whole hearing.  But I do have staff here, and I will be here for awhile.  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Great.


Assemblymember Jones, who’s chair of the Judiciary Committee.  Welcome.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER DAVE JONES:  Thanks, Senator.  I want to begin by thanking you for proposing to hold this hearing and for your leadership in this area.  I share the concerns raised by the senator a moment ago.  

I won’t repeat them, but, in a nutshell, it seems to me that the voters thought they were getting three things when they voted for Proposition 71.  First, they thought what they were getting was the promotion of research that will lead to treatment and cures for some very serious diseases.  Second, I think they thought that these treatments, which will be developed with the substantial assistance of state funds, would be accessible and affordable to the citizens of our state.  And third, I think they thought—and certainly the campaign said this—that the State of California would be able to share in some of the revenues from successful products or treatments developed with state funds.

I’m very concerned that the latter two points haven’t been given significant emphasis, and I’m very concerned that the latter two points—that is, accessibility and affordability of the treatments and, also, the sharing in benefits—are not being sufficiently secured as we go forward in implementing Proposition 71.  I hope to hear today ways in which we can do that.  I understand that this is a very complicated and complex set of issues and that there are some challenges.  But I believe all three of these goals can be achieved.  They’re not mutually exclusive. 


And finally, I think it’s critical that we do so, not only because of the voters’ expectation, but I think our credibility in this important endeavor is at stake.  Our ability to continue to go to the voters to ask them to fund, in large measure, major research of this type is at stake.  And, at the end of the day, I think we have to answer to Ms. Smith in a poor neighborhood—say in Sacramento—who is working but too poor to pay for insurance, who doesn’t have health insurance, but is paying taxes to the State of California to enable this important research to go forward.  How will she and her children have access to the important treatments that come out of this research?  That’s the question I would pose to each of the witnesses today as we go forward.


I want to thank the witnesses and thank the members of the public and thank my colleagues and, most of all, thank Senator Ortiz for proposing that we hold this hearing.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Assemblymember Jones.


Let me introduce Assemblymember Gene Mullin.  He chairs the Assembly Select Committee on Biotechnology and has been a wonderful source of input and direction for our policymaking.  Welcome.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER GENE MULLIN:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz.  I really do want to thank you for including me in the hearing and to use some of those bar tickets that have been up on my shelf at home.


In 2004, I authored ACR 252, which requests the California Council on Science and Technology to create a special study group to develop recommendations to the governor and the Legislature on how the state should treat intellectual property.  Earlier this year I authored ACR 24, which expanded the scope of the study conducted by CCST on the state’s intellectual property policy to include contracts, grants, and agreements under Prop. 71.  


The CCST report provides a basis to advance the discussions on intellectual property policy.  I’ve always maintained this report not be the only source used in the development of an IP policy or guidelines set by the California Institute for Regenerative Medicine.  This is only one set of recommendations, but it does, if you will, move the ball forward.


California’s in the unique position to create an intellectual property policy as forward thinking as was Prop. 71.  You do know what the expectations are.  I think while difficult to achieve, those expectations should be paramount in keeping in the forefront of our discussions.  The goal of the California Institute for Regenerative Medicine should be to strive to fulfill its original stated purposes and intent and not abandon those ideas because they are difficult to implement.


Again, let me thank Senator Ortiz for bringing us all together, and I, too, look forward to hearing from our witnesses today and to continue to work with her and with all others interested on adopting a policy that makes sense for all Californians.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Since we’re running as usual, due to my statement, a little bit behind time, let me quickly go into the first panel.  This is sort of the framing of the issue on the “Purpose and Intent of Proposition 71 Intellectual Property Provisions.”  We have Dan Carson from the Legislative Analyst’s Office who will take five minutes; as well as Francisco Martin from the Legislative Counsel’s Office.  This will give an overview of the requirements and the intent of Prop. 71 that deal with intellectual property.  I think we’ll find it was one of the things that was not on the forefront, by no fault of anyone.  It was sort of the hidden issue that has now become far more predominant.


Mr. Carson, with the Legislative Analyst’s Office, will give us an overview of the major IP provisions of the initiative, as well as a summary of the provisions of their analysis pertaining to the intellectual property provisions.  We’ve also asked Francisco Martin, with the Legislative Counsel’s Office, to be available for questions on the intellectual property provisions as drafted in Prop. 71.

Welcome, Mr. Carson.


MR. DAN CARSON:  Good morning.  Let me be the first to wish you a Happy Halloween.


I’m director of the Health Services Section of the LAO.  My name is Dan Carson, and I am here to respond to, in particular, some of the questions we’ve been asked by the chair to address relating to the ballot pamphlet analysis of the measure which we drafted.


As you know, state law directs the LAO to prepare these ballot pamphlet analyses.  There’s two specific aspects we’re supposed to cover in these.  First is to provide a summary for the voters on what these measures do, in concise language that’s accessible to the average voter.  It’s supposed to be neutral in tone.  The other thing we do is to try to estimate where we can what the fiscal impact of these measures, both in terms of costs and revenues, are on state and local government.  And that sort of circumscribes the role that we play for these ballot measures.


One of the questions you had asked us was:  How did we characterize these specific intellectual property provisions that are the subject of this hearing today?  Our write-up was very concise on this point, so I can read you, really, what is just one sentence that was in a section that we had headlined:  “Benefits From Royalties and Patents.”  That sentence reads that “the ICOC”—of course, the Independent Citizen’s Oversight Commission—“would establish standards requiring that all grants and loans be subject to agreements allowing the state to financially benefit from patents, royalties, and licenses resulting from the research activities funded under the measure.”  


Then, in our description of the “Fiscal Effects” section later in our analysis, we highlighted the following in part of a section called, “State Revenues From Research.”  And we said, “As noted earlier, this measure would allow the state to receive payments from patents, royalties, and licenses resulting from the research funded by the Institute.  The amount of revenues the state would receive from those types of arrangements is unknown but could be significant.  The amount of revenue from the source would depend on the nature of the research funded by the Institute and the exact terms of any agreements for sharing the revenues resulting from that research.”

Now, you specifically asked us to comment regarding what assumptions, or findings, we made about the fiscal effects of the intellectual property provisions in our analysis.  This aspect of the measure is one that prompted us early on to seek information from the University of California, which seemed, to us, a logical place to go because they were already in the stem cell research business and, of course, had been, also, in the business of reaching intellectual property agreements for various research endeavors.  At the time, UC was not able to estimate for us how much money they thought might come from—I’ll use the abbreviation—IP agreements here.  They weren’t, also, able to tell us the dollar value of the stem cell research that they were already doing.  Therefore, we really weren’t in a position to establish, even, any sort of wholesale ratio of:  “X” amount of dollars drives “X” amount of breakthroughs and patentable properties and therefore drives some revenues to the state.  We were not in a position to do that.


But, on the basis of the information we received from the UC and from other looks at the information available, we did become convinced that the state would enjoy some financial gain from these specific provisions.  UC told us, for example, that about 70 percent of the $100 million in intellectual property revenues that they received in 2002—which was the most recent year of data available to us at that time—came from inventions and the life sciences area.  And they told us that for the top twenty-five commercialized products, that that was about 85 to 90 percent coming from life sciences.

So, we concluded that there could be some significant payoff to the state; although, we didn’t feel we were to the point where we could put a more exact price tag on it for the voters.


Now, you asked us to talk about what assumptions the LAO made in regard to the use of tax-exempt or taxable bonds as a source of funding for the research funded under Prop. 71.  I consulted with our bond experts who participated in our writing of the analysis, and what I’ve been advised is that you had it right, Senator Ortiz.  We had talked about $3 billion in bonds being sold.  We put it at an average interest rate at 5.25 percent at that time but paid off over 30 years.  That 5.25 percent that we used in our analysis was consistent at the time with the tax-exempt rates that were available.  We recognized that in our analysis, the rates we would actually pay could always turn out to be higher and lower for a variety of reasons; only one of which is whether the payments are exempt for federal taxes.  


We would point out that right now, because long-term interest rates have dropped some, that right now the rate on taxable bonds is now about that 5.25 percent and that the tax-exempt rates are running about three-quarters of a point lower than that 5.25.  In other words, it’s a better deal now than the numbers we were throwing around at the time we prepared our ballot analysis.


Now, you asked us to comment what the fiscal effect would be if we ended up using taxable rates rather than nontaxable rates.  Of course, this does interact very closely with the IP issue that you’re talking about here today.  If it turned out, due to these royalty arrangements, that you sold the bonds—all of them—as taxable, and if that debt service cost was, let’s say, one percentage point higher, you would be talking about $690 million over the life of the bonds.  About         $23 million more in payments per year based on this thirty-year time period.  


We would point out that you would want to think about what would happen if it was a narrower spread, such as in place right now.  That differential would be about $17 million annually, and the lifetime difference of the bonds would be a little over $500 million.

You might also want to think about this in the context of what we bean counters call “the time value of money”; which is to say, a dollar you have today is worth a lot more than a dollar down the line because of the effects of inflation.  If you took that into account and went back to that one percent spread example we gave you earlier, you’d be talking about a $440 million difference in value over the life of those bonds.


Of course, in making these assumptions and laying out these numbers, I would point out that it’s altogether possible, as the measure permits, for there to be a mix of taxable and tax-exempt bonds sold.  So, it’s possible you could have gradations of fiscal effects less than we’ve talked about here.


You also had sought our opinion as to what was intended in regard to the state procuring IP rights when the voters approved Prop. 71.  Of course, we have not, as an office, conducted any surveys of voters to know exactly what messages those voters took away from our ballot pamphlet write-up.  Certainly, as you saw, we attempted to communicate to those voters regarding the features of the measure that we thought there was a significant provision here related to intellectual property rights.  We tried to convey that we thought there was a potential significant fiscal impact from that provision.  


A closely related question, of course, is:  What does the measure require?  In a legal sense, I have to defer to learned counsel here.  I think in our reading of the measure, the sense we had of the language at the time was that, while every grant and loan funded through Prop. 71 would be subject to IP agreements, we didn’t think it would necessarily result in such agreements for every single grant and loan funded through the Institute.  We also assumed that some basic research necessary to understand better how stem cells work might not have an immediate commercial application or might result in a patentable discovery that would generate state revenues.  


And so, we tried to be careful in our ballot pamphlet to make it clear to the voters that the fiscal impacts depended on the nature of the research that was done and the specific kinds of agreements that were reached.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Mr. Carson, I’m going to ask you to conclude, please.


MR. CARSON:  That’s a fine point to conclude.  I’d only say that we think this is an important fiscal issue for the state and a significant policy issue for the state.  To this point, we do not have a full analysis to guide you as to what we think the best policy is at this point, but we certainly stand ready to assist the Legislature in that regard.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for your presentation.


Members, I thought it’d be best if we allow questions to be raised after each speaker.  That way they’re fresh for purposes of impact.  


Francisco Martin is here for questions for Legislative Counsel.  Do you have a presentation, Mr. Martin?  No.  Okay.  So, let me allow my colleagues, if there are some questions that you would like to raise to Mr. Carson, this is the opportunity to do that regarding the Legislative Analyst ballot argument and his presentation. 


Mr. Jones.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  I just had a question, first, for Mr. Carson.  Was there an economic impact analysis done by analysts associated with the Prop. 71 campaign?


MR. CARSON:  More than one actually.  We looked at a detailed set of materials they had given us.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  What did that analysis claim would be the potential revenues or economic impacts of Prop. 71?


MR. CARSON:  In regards specifically to intellectual property, or more broadly?


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Let’s start with intellectual property.


MR. CARSON:  In materials that they made public after our analysis was completed, they said that for IP they thought that over the lifetime of the bonds, they could generate as much as a billion dollars in revenues to the state.  Now, that was not material available to us at the time we prepared our analysis.  They did, however, provide us substantial additional materials related not to IP in particular, but to what they thought the economic spin-off of the measure in general might be.  And we did also address that issue in our ballot pamphlet write-up.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  The assertion with regard to the $1 billion in revenues, that was shared with the voters, right, through the campaign?  I mean, my recollection is, it was generally available; it was part of the advocacy around the campaign.


MR. CARSON:  I recall, in particular, that they did discuss that aspect of the measure at the San Diego hearing that Senator Ortiz conducted for the Legislature regarding the stem cell research bond.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Okay.  And then for Mr. Martin, there is, I guess, what I would loosely characterize as an intellectual property balancing test in Prop. 71 that the ICOC is charged with undertaking by way of policymaking that calls for a balancing of the goal of obtaining significant additional treatments or significant additional therapies as a result of this investment, but balancing that, also, with trying to derive benefits for the state due to the creation of intellectual property.  I’m wondering whether that is not tantamount to a presumption in favor of the state benefiting directly from patents, royalties, and licenses; unless it can be shown conclusively on the other side that essential research is not unreasonably hindered by relying on patents, licenses, and royalties.

MR. FRANCISCO MARTIN:  I think that’s an accurate statement.  The committee is required to conduct a balance.  I think if you look at the overall proposition, the intent of the electorate in that case was to ensure that the state secured those revenues.  In my view, that implies implicity(?), and that is, that they maximize those revenues in the context of that balance.  And so, yes, I would agree with that statement.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Assemblymember Mullin?  Assemblymember Chan?

Let me let the public and the members know that under the tab that says, “Prop[osition] 71 Background,” not only do we have the proposition text, but we have the economic analysis that was conducted by the campaign in support of the measure.  I believe the provisioning question regarding that balancing test that Assemblymember Jones mentioned is subdivision (h) in the text of the initiative, which implies royalties and revenue streams.  So, that is in your packet for your review, and that economic analysis is there as well.

At the risk of getting further behind time. . . . well, let me waive questions, and let me just thank Mr. Martin as well as Mr. Carson.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Madam Chair?  I apologize.  One additional question for Mr. Martin.


If the state were to utilize licensing agreements, or licensing arrangements, such as patent pooling or technology transfer trust—some of the things that we’re going to hear about a little bit later on, I think, in the hearing—does that limit the potential exposure to antitrust claims that might otherwise emerge from the private sector engaging in concert in the use of intellectual property in some way, shape, or form?


MR. MARTIN:  That’s a difficult question without specifics, because, as I view Prop. 71, it’s not an express authorization to engage in activity that would otherwise be anticompetitive.  I mean, I don’t see anything in here.  It authorizes the state and implies that the state should, in conducting this balancing test—the committee on behalf of the state—should maximize those revenues.  But there’s no express statement that the way in which the state would do that would be in a manner that would be anticompetitive.  


Under the federal case law—the Parker v. Brown case, and the Midcal case—that give us guidance as to how the state action immunity would apply, there needs to be an express authorization in state law to engage in activity that would be anticompetitive.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  But we could do that by statute, though.


MR. MARTIN:  Well, that’s another difficult question because this is an initiative.  Initiatives cannot be amended by the Legislature.  The people will approve a change in an initiative.  The only way the Legislature could is if they presented it to the people or if the initiative permitted it.  The initiative in this context does permit it but with a 70 percent vote, but to further the purpose.  So then, once we have a concrete plan, an analysis has to be made whether that conflicts with the purpose or furthers the purpose of the initiative.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Have antitrust claims been successfully civilly prosecuted in the context of patent pooling?


MR. MARTIN:  There have been some that are successful.  You’re talking about state action settings.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Or just private patent pooling?


MR. MARTIN:  Well, the Midcal test is, when state action is involved, the courts require there be an express authorization for that anticompetitive conduct in state policy and that the state mechanism provide for monitoring of the private conduct.  If that two-pronged test is met, then not only the state conduct but the private conduct is immune.  But there are several “ifs” there, and without a concrete proposal, it’s very difficult to say whether the proposal would be immune or whether, even, the amendment could be made.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  On that point, Assemblymember Jones, I think what Mr. Martin didn’t say is that we could indeed, through a legislative initiated ballot initiative—like SCA 13 that is sitting on the Senate Floor—we could indeed amend, if it were to go to Judiciary in your house, we could expressly authorize that immunity from antitrust with the two-prong test language; and of course, it would have to then go to the ballot and be adopted by the voters.  Although the language of the initiative expressly precludes the Legislature from amending for three years, which is more problematic, if not impossible, the language also precludes amendment unless 70 percent of both houses amend Prop. 71.  That does not preclude the ability of the Legislature to move a constitutional amendment through both houses and put it on the ballot for the voters to adopt.  So, that probably is a task for those who have a lot more time in the Legislature.  But we do have a vehicle that could indeed do that, if that were appropriate.  That’s sitting on the Senate Floor—SCA 13.


MR. MARTIN:  Yes, that’s correct, with a constitutional amendment.  That would be the preferred method because of Section 8.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much for your testimony and also for the questions.  


Let me ask the next panel to come forward.  That next panel is on the topic of “Constraints on Intellectual Property Options From Use of Tax-Exempt Bonds.”  I think Mr. Fernandez is here—Juan Fernandez—from the Treasurer’s Office, who has five minutes; as well as Bill Heir from the Legislative Counsel’s Office; and Mr. Perry Israel, who’s a partner in Orrick, Herrington, and Sutcliffe, who has six minutes.

Members, this panel will examine the constraints of the types of intellectual property agreements that the state can enter into if it wishes to use tax-exempt bonds to finance the research.  Mr. Fernandez from the Treasurer’s Office will give us a brief primer on general obligation bonds, the process that the state will go through to sell those bonds for stem cell research, and the differences between taxable and tax-exempt bonds.  He’ll be followed by Mr. Heir with the Legislative Counsel’s Office, as well as Mr. Perry Israel with Orrick, Herrington—technically, although they’re outside counsel, they are the state’s bond counsel—who will describe the federal IRS rules governing when bonds can be issued on a tax-exempt basis and the types of intellectual property arrangements that may or may not be permissible if the state uses tax-exempt bonds to pay for the research.  

A Legislative Counsel opinion on this topic is in the hearing background packet.  It’s under the tab, “Tax-Exempt Bonds.”  It’s a very critical legal opinion.  It is the basis for what we believe is sound Legislative Counsel’s direction.  They are the attorneys for the Legislature.  They’re established by the Constitution.  I put great weight in their legal opinions.  Although, we will have, likely, a debate here from others.  But I think we may come down on the side of. . . . if indeed we can use tax-exempt bonds to extract something, it’s going to take some novel approaches with some balancing, and I’m anxious to hear that.

So, let me now welcome Mr. Fernandez, who will go first.


MR. JUAN FERNANDEZ:  Good morning.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Good morning.


MR. FERNANDEZ:  I will make my comments brief so you can hear from the “real” experts.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Oh, but you have so much to offer this committee.


MR. FERNANDEZ:  Let me first give you a brief overview of how this Treasurer’s Office issues bonds for the General Obligation Bond Program.  We are the agent for sale and act as the issuer for the state’s general obligation bonds, and we manage a great number of bond acts—stem cell being one—but we have a few for K through 12, parks, water projects, transportation projects.  Normally, when a department needs funding, they come to the Treasurer’s Office with a twelve-month cash flow, and we immediately fund those cash flows through a loan from the Pooled Money Investment Account.  The goal is that the departments that need bond money do not have to wait for a bond sale to get their cash.  So, we give them a loan from the Pooled Money Investment Account, and then, several times during the year, we accumulate all those outstanding loans from the Pooled Money Investment Account and issue general obligation bonds.


So, when the State Treasurer’s Office issues general obligation bonds, we issue bonds for a number of bond acts; sometimes dozens of bond acts.  So, it is unlikely that you’re going to see an issuance just for stem cell bonds.  It’s going to be part of our entire bond program.  We issue general obligation bonds five or six times a year.  They vary from $500 million to $600 million to over a billion dollars in issuance.

I know that the panel is also interested in hearing the differences between taxable and tax-exempt bonds.  The major difference is, the term explains, the investor of a tax-exempt bond does not have to report the interest he or she earns on the bonds on their tax returns.  If you own taxable bonds, you have to report the income that you earn from the bond on your tax returns.  Because of the tax-exempt bonds—the investor does not have to pay income taxes—the interest rate is normally lower than a taxable equivalent.  For example, right now we estimate that the difference between a California taxable and tax-exempt bond is approximately 75 basis points.  That’s .75 percent.

The major advantages of a tax-exempt bond, of course, is that it’s cheaper than a taxable bond; so ultimately, the state will have to pay less in interest costs over the life of the bond.  The major disadvantage is that the IRS restricts in two major ways an issuer of tax-exempt bonds.  Number one, it limits the type of projects or purposes for which the bond proceeds can be used.  It has to be for governmental purposes.  And, number two, it requires that after you issue the bonds, you spend the money in a timely fashion.  The IRS does not want you to sell bonds today and sit on the proceeds for years, earning arbitrage on those proceeds.  So, those are the major disadvantages of tax-exempt bonds.


Taxable bonds, I am unaware of any restriction on the use of the proceeds by the federal government.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m sorry—could you repeat that?


MR. FERNANDEZ:  Sure.  I’m unaware of any restrictions on the use of taxable bonds.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Taxable.


MR. FERNANDEZ:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I have some questions, but I’ll hold off.  Members?  Mr. Mullin?


ASSEMBLYMEMBER MULLIN:  Having taught high school economics for a while, this is a little bit beyond my general area of expertise.  You indicated that tax-exempt bonds could be used for general government purposes—could you go over the two reasons again?—general government purposes, which I understood, and the second part was some timeframe?

MR. FERNANDEZ:  Yes.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER MULLIN:  Explain that a little bit more, please.


MR. FERNANDEZ:  Normally, when one issues tax-exempt bonds, one has to certify that has a reasonable expectation on spending the money within three years.  And there’s certain benchmarks within those three years:  You have to spend 85 percent of the proceeds within the first six months, 50 percent of the proceeds within a year, and so forth.  And you have to meet those benchmarks.  If you do not meet those benchmarks, in essence, you have to pay 100 percent tax on all the arbitrage that you earned on the bond proceeds while they sit in your account.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER MULLIN:  So, in a case of Prop. 71, you would certainly not for all $3 billion out immediately.  You would put those out under a stage series, and then each stage that went out, then they would have to be spent within that timeframe.


MR. FERNANDEZ:  Correct.  Proposition 71 limits the amount of bonds that can be issued in any given year to $350 million.  As I explained at the beginning, we normally do not sell bonds in anticipation of expenditures.  We actually fund expenditures through the Pooled Money Investment Account.  That’s just the state’s cash account.  So, we would give, for example, CIRM—the Institute—a loan for the first twelve months of operations.  And as they spend money from that account, we would issue bonds . . .


ASSEMBLYMEMBER MULLIN:  That would trigger the bond sale.


MR. FERNANDEZ:  Correct.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER MULLIN:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Along those lines, have you issued a loan thus far to CIRM?


MR. FERNANDEZ:  No, we have not.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And it’s been . . . 


MR. FERNANDEZ:  Well, we can’t(?) issue a loan from the PMIA account because, first of all, the Pooled Money Investment Board has a fiduciary responsibility over those funds.  As I think the panel knows, there’s outstanding litigation with the Prop. 71 bonds.  The security for that loan would be the issuance of the bonds.  So, the PMIA will not give a loan to CIRM at this time because of the litigation risk.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Do you envision once that litigation is resolved—that I think we all hope and assume it’s going to be resolved soon—that that’s the only impediment that lies in the way of the PMIA issuing that loan?


MR. FERNANDEZ:  Correct.  You may also be aware that, I think it was in May, the finance committee that oversees—the General Obligation Finance Committee—that oversees the Prop. 71 bonds met and authorized the issuance of bonds and also the issuance of bond anticipation notes.  So, we’re looking for investors that may be interested in purchasing bond anticipation notes.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  What has the interest been thus far?


MR. FERNANDEZ:  We haven’t found any so far.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And is it your opinion that that’s because of the lawsuit?


MR. FERNANDEZ:  Correct.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And that once that lawsuit goes away, that there will be interest in purchasing those bond anticipation notes?


MR. FERNANDEZ:  Correct.  Once the lawsuit is settled, if it’s resolved favorably on the state’s behalf, we’ll go ahead and issue a loan from the PMIA account, which is rather easy to do, and they can start spending money quickly.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Wonderful.  And let me just go back to your original point.  I think your hypothetical in terms of the three-year test of reasonable expectation, that they will be. . . . is it “issued” or “spent” within three years?


MR. FERNANDEZ:  Spent.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Spent.  That relates to tax-exempt bonds.


MR. FERNANDEZ:  Correct.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But CIRM has the ability to in fact issue taxable bonds.


MR. FERNANDEZ:  That’s correct.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  What is the test for taxable bonds?


MR. FERNANDEZ:  There’s no test for taxable bonds that I’m aware of.  In essence, the issuer has full flexibility in how quickly the money is spent or how the proceeds are used.  There’s no limit from the IRS.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, if indeed there’s this three-year reasonable expectation that these bonds will be spent, does that. . . . I mean, how do you envision that portfolio of combining taxable and tax-exempt that was the premise that would inoculate us from the federal prohibition on tax-exempt bonds being a revenue stream back to the state?


MR. FERNANDEZ:  First of all, let me say that in mentioning the three-year requirement—the three-year limit of spending your bond proceeds—that was just a general statement on some of the limitations/disadvantages of tax-exempt bonds.  The way the State Treasurer’s Office runs the GO Bond Program, we do not have to meet those tests because we spend the money first from the PMIA account, and the bonds are issued only to reimburse those expenditures.  So, by the time the bonds are sold, they are spent for tax purposes.  The proceeds are spent because they’re going to repay an outstanding obligation, which is the loan from the PMIA account.  So, we don’t have to worry about the three-year period.


With respect to what portion of the Prop. 71 bonds are taxable and tax-exempt, we envision going. . . . this is the first time the bonds have been authorized for medical research purposes.  So, we envision, __________ bond counsel, going to the IRS and seeking some guidance in how to treat these bonds and how to structure these bonds, to maximize the amount of bonds that we could issue tax-exempt.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Have you begun that process yet?

MR. FERNANDEZ:  No, not yet.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  When will you ask for that issuance of that?  I know the IRS has never ruled on point, and we’ve never seen them say, Oh, yes, go ahead and do this.  You’ll be inoculated under federal tax law.  But when do you anticipate trying to get that kind of assurance we would all welcome?


MR. FERNANDEZ:  We are first working with CIRM—we hope to meet with them very soon—on their intellectual property policy.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Oh, so it has to follow the policy that they adopt.


MR. FERNANDEZ:  We’ll look at what policy they adopt, and then we go to the IRS and say, Okay, if we meet this certain criteria or structure the bonds in a certain way, would you permit these bonds to be tax-exempt?  Because, when you think about it, when the bonds are issued, there’s no certainty that the state is going to receive any royalties back.  And it could be years . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So we’re discovering.


MR. FERNANDEZ:  It could be years before those revenues are realized.  So, we hope to sell those points to the IRS and that they rule favorably.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask you a question.  There was a San Francisco Chronicle story on October 25th that suggests that the Treasurer’s Office was aware before Prop. 71 was approved that there may be a conflict in the initiative that would limit the state’s ability to use tax-exempt bonds.  What did your office do with that information?


MR. FERNANDEZ:  Well, first of all, the initiative is very clear that it authorizes the issue of taxable and tax-exempt bonds.  It authorizes both.  We knew that there’d be some problems, or some expected uses of the bond proceeds that may trigger the issue of taxable bonds.  


We may have spoken when we met years ago, when . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  When I first proposed this.


MR. FERNANDEZ:  Yes.  We talked about certain restrictions of tax-exempt bonds with respect to medical research and certain other things.  So, we knew that there were certain uses of those bond proceeds. 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  What did the Treasurer’s Office do with that information that they knew before the election?  Did you share that with the Prop. 71 committee?


MR. FERNANDEZ:  No.  Do you mean like the committee that was . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Yes.


MR. FERNANDEZ:  No.  I did not, no.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You did not.


MR. FERNANDEZ:  No.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Anyone in the Treasurer’s Office share that memo, that legal opinion?


MR. FERNANDEZ:  Well, no, we had no legal opinion.  This is something that I need to make very clear.  We had no legal opinion prior to the passage of Prop. 71 that spoke to this issue.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But a memorandum.


MR. FERNANDEZ:  No, we did not, Senator.  I have to correct that point.  The memorandum that we received, the first memorandum that we received—the one which is a specific analysis that our accountant did for us—was after the passage of Prop. 71.  The article in the Chronicle speaks to this memo, and that memo was a memo that our accountant prepared for us, that we shared with your office when SCA 13 was first introduced, and it spoke about some of the issues concerning ACA 13.  But the Treasurer’s Office didn’t have any legal memos from anybody with respect to the taxability of the tax-exempt status of Prop. 71.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, when the Treasurer’s Office became aware of this potential problem using tax-exempt bonds under the provision of subdivision (h), which is in the language of the initiative that purports to be able to create a revenue stream back to the state—which you’re perfectly correct in saying that since they have the ability to use taxable bonds, I can only conclude that that was the intent of subdivision (h):  to use taxable bonds.


MR. FERNANDEZ:  That’s what we presumed.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s what you presumed?


MR. FERNANDEZ:  The state has authorized bond programs before that require the issuance of taxable bonds.  There’s a housing bond act, for example, that was authorized in 2002 that will require the issuance of taxable bonds.  So, to us, we looked at the initiative, and we saw that there were certain uses that may require the issue of taxable bonds.  We looked at the language, and the language is clear that you could issue either taxable or tax-exempt bonds.  So, to us . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me just narrow the question again.  I apologize if I misunderstood it.  There is a memo dated May 23rd of this year.


MR. FERNANDEZ:  Correct.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And it is to the State Treasurer’s Office from Orrick, Herrington in which they, on page 4 of that memorandum advising the    Treasurer, go on to say, “In an earlier memorandum outlining our initial analysis of Prop. 71 . . .”

MR. FERNANDEZ:  Correct.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Initial—I presume it was before the election.


MR. FERNANDEZ:  No, that’s the incorrect assumption.  That memo was prepared at our request in January after the passage of the proposition.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me go on to finish this because we are hoping. . . . we requested a copy of that initial memorandum but we haven’t received it.  “In an earlier memorandum outlining our initial analysis of Prop. 71, we advised you that it was likely that intellectual property rights [for example, patents] derived from research which was financed from proceeds of state bonds would be treated as assets financed by the bonds.  Therefore, if private industry licenses the patents to produce drugs or therapies and the state receives royalties, we have a situation where bond-financed assets are arguably used in a private trader business, and the state will receive a payment in respect of that asset from private industry.”  It goes on to say, “In an earlier memorandum, we identified the issue but indicated the exact impact would depend on the details of an intellectual property arrangement, which CIRM would include in these grants.  Among other things, Prop. 71 as originally enacted did not appear to mandate that the state receive royalties in all cases, nor did it indicate any target for how much money the state would seek to recover from the intellectual property rights.”  


The significance of that—there was a concern raised by Orrick, Herrington that we may not realize this revenue stream because of the nature of using tax-exempt bonds.

MR. FERNANDEZ:  Well, our view has always been that that’s a business decision that needs to be made.  We knew back, certainly, when the January 2005 memo was prepared, to us, that there were some issues concerning the issuance of tax-exempt bonds to fund certain medical research.  But that’s a business decision that needs to be made by the policymakers.  If you think you’re going to generate significant revenues from these royalties, you need to look at the additional expense of the taxable bonds.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Just somewhere of five to seven hundred million on a conservative down-market that we have now, and the interest rates, as Mr. Carson indicated, would be another 500 to nearly 700 million.  If we use taxable bonds to finance the already three billion, I think, to fund.


MR. FERNANDEZ:  We’ve done our own calculations.  First of all, not the entire $3 billion would be taxable.  There’s certain expenditures authorized by Prop. 71 which can easily be funded with tax-exempt bonds.  For example, training grants; the building of medical facilities.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But those building of medical facilities, I know that’s in a recent opinion, I think, that the Treasurer shared with maybe the Chronicle.  They’re capped.  Those capital outlays are less than 5 or 10 percent of the three billion.


MR. FERNANDEZ:  Yes, that’s correct.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  The voters envisioned the majority of it—the supermajority, whether it was 95 percent or 90 percent—would go to pure research.  So, let’s focus on that part of how much of that. . . . I mean, that’s what, I think, Mr. Carson and Legislative Analyst is using their numbers.  Even if it’s only five to seven hundred million in the scheme of. . . . and again, we’re in a down-market in terms of the rate going down, but we have to understand, that’s an added cost if we go to tax-exempt bonds.


MR. FERNANDEZ:  Just for the record, I want to say that our calculation was closer to 420-some million dollars.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  All right.  Well, let me thank you.  I don’t know if there are other members who want to continue on this line.  We’re behind time, but I think it’s really relevant.  You are the counsel to the Treasurer’s Office on the bond counsel, so I appreciate your input.


MR. FERNANDEZ:  Sure.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Mr. Jones.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  I just want to make sure I understand.  Prior to Prop. 71, though, the Treasurer’s Office did have concerns about the impact of using tax-exempt bonds and simultaneously trying to obtain a royalty revenue stream, in terms of the potential conflict in trying to do those two things.


MR. FERNANDEZ:  I wouldn’t characterize it as “concern.”  The voters have approved bond programs before, like the housing bond act that I just mentioned that certainly requires use of taxable bonds to build houses and to fund mortgages.  So, we knew those would be taxable.  When we read Prop. 71, we realized there were some proposed expenditures from Prop. 71 that may require the issue of taxable bonds.  The bond act authorized both the issuance of taxable and tax-exempt bonds.  So, I wouldn’t say necessarily it was a concern.  It was something that we read and we saw:  Okay.  That may require taxable bonds.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Have you had a chance to review the proponents’ economic impact analysis with regard to the benefits of Prop. 71?


MR. FERNANDEZ:  No, I have not.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  And with regard to—and I won’t characterize it as “concern” then—with regard to the limitation as it relates to the use of tax-exempt bonds, did the Treasurer’s Office share its views with regard to that limitation to anyone connected with the proponents of Prop. 71 prior to the election?


MR. FERNANDEZ:  Not that I’m aware, no.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Okay.  And then, there’s another thing that you said that I’m curious about.  In response to the senator’s question, you indicated that you hoped to meet with CIRM and get a better understanding of what intellectual property policies they might want to pursue before submitting a request letter to the IRS on this issue.

MR. FERNANDEZ:  Correct.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Wouldn’t it be useful to send the broadest possible query to the IRS to better inform CIRM’s decision-making with regard to what the broadest possible options it might have available to us in the use of tax-exempt bonds?  Why wait until they’ve made their policy decision before you submit to the IRS?


MR. FERNANDEZ:  Let me ask Mr. Israel to add something because he’s more of an expert here than I am.  But I think normally the IRS responds to a specific fact pattern, and normally they don’t give you advice on just broad issues.  You need to put certain patterns, factual patterns, in front of them, and then they’ll give you their opinion on their views of tax rules as it relates to those facts.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Okay.  I’d be interested in hearing more, but if that’s true, couldn’t we set forth a series of fact patterns that cover the waterfront with regard to the potential scope of arrangements that might be pursued vis-à-vis intellectual property and then hear back from the IRS as to which of those might be ones that we could pursue?  Again, the question—and particularly from the Treasurer’s Office, which has a different role and responsibility than CIRM—wouldn’t the Treasurer’s Office want to ask the broadest possible question of the IRS so that that can inform the ultimate decision-makers?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And let me just point out—Mr. Israel, you are also of counsel to the Treasurer’s Office, as Orrick, Harrington is.


MR. PERRY ISRAEL:  Bond counsel.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Bond counsel.  So, actually, it would be an appropriate question for Mr. Israel regarding that advice from IRS in representing the Treasurer’s Office on whether or not that’s legal protection to issue those bonds and in what combination.


MR. ISRAEL:  Sure.  I can go ahead and address your question. 

SENATOR ORTIZ:  I was going to go to Mr. Heir first, but why don’t we go ahead and have you do your presentation and then answer the comments and the questions raised by Assemblymember Jones.  And we can close with Mr. Heir because we have even more ____________ analysis from them.


MR. ISRAEL:  Well, I think it’s important to start out by saying that when I’m talking here today, I’m not trying to advance any particular policy position.  I’m simply trying to describe what the federal tax rules are relating to tax-exempt bonds.  And I emphasize “trying to describe” because those rules oftentimes are less than clear.


But, as Mr. Fernandez pointed out, the intellectual property issues that are raised by Prop. 71 with respect to tax-exempt bonds are novel.  And I believe, Senator, you also used that exact word.  They’ve raised issues which have never been addressed by the IRS.  And so, the best that we can do as we start by addressing these questions is to look at other areas where the IRS has talked about what are called “private activity bonds” and try to figure out how to use those rules by analogy in the intellectual property rules.  We do strongly believe that we need to go to the IRS and to talk with the IRS concerning these matters.  We have had some preliminary discussions with them just to sort of raise the issues—get some ideas going—and they are inviting us to come in with questions.


In general, for tax-exempt bonds to be issued—federal tax-exempt bonds to be issued—the bonds cannot be what are called “private activity bonds.”  Bonds are private activity bonds if you have two things.  First of all, if the proceeds of the bonds, or anything which is financed with the proceeds of the bonds, are used in the trader businesses of anybody other than a state or local government.  So, in this case, we’re going to be issuing bonds; the bonds will be used to finance, among other things, grants; the grants will presumably give rise to intellectual property.  We will be treating, we think—and the IRS has confirmed this with us—we will be treating the intellectual property as having been financed with the bond proceeds.  And if that intellectual property is used in private trades or businesses, then that will be treated as being private use.  So, we’ll meet the first half of the test.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Will you quickly go through that test again?


MR. ISRAEL:  Sure.  It’s a two-part test.  The first half of the test is that we cannot have more than the lesser of 10 percent or $15 million of any bond issue used in the private trader business or the trader businesses of private individuals or private companies.  


The second part of the test is that . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me just ask on that point.  So, that private business, if 10 percent . . . 


MR. ISRAEL:  Or $15 million is more likely our limit since most of the bond issues are substantially in excess of $150 million.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, if 10 percent of that business that we issue a grant versus a loan to, if 10 percent or the 15 million test is—what?  Their percentage of their profits?


MR. ISRAEL:  No.  That’s the percentage of the bond proceeds.  Let’s take an example.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, the total bond proceeds.


MR. ISRAEL:  Let’s take a building example rather than a grant example for a moment.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, but see, I don’t want to go building.  Let’s be very clear.  The initiative never envisioned capital outlay in excess of 10 percent.  So, 90 percent of the money that the voters supported was for research.  So, let’s talk about that hypothetical.


MR. ISRAEL:  Let’s say that we make a grant to start with.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Company “B.”

MR. ISRAEL:  To company “B” or to university “A.”  A nonstate university, by the way, because the state user is treated differently.  If you make a grant of bond proceeds to a company or to a 501(c)(3) organization, what will happen is that those bond proceeds are treated as used in the trader business of the grantee.  So, just by making the grant, you have private use of the bond proceeds.

Now, if you make a grant to the University of California—to a state university—you do not have private use by reason of the grant.  But you can have private use through the next step, which is, the University of California does research, it develops some sort of intellectual property, and it licenses that intellectual property.  It licenses that intellectual property to company “A” or to 501(c)(3) organization “B.”  When it licenses that intellectual property, because that intellectual property was financed with bond proceeds, those bond proceeds would be treated as being used by the licensee in their trader business.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And, again, we as a state or CIRM cannot extract out a revenue royalty stream back to the state.


MR. ISRAEL:  That’s the second part of the test.  In order to have private activity bonds, you need to have both private use and . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Which we did in the first test.


MR. ISRAEL:  Right.  And private payments, or payments coming back from the private users.  If you have payments coming back from the private users that are in excess of, again, the lesser of $15 million or 10 percent . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  A grant to company “A.”

MR. ISRAEL:  A grant to company “A.”  If company “A” goes out and develops intellectual property, licenses the patent, and the state has a royalty stream coming back from company “A” as a result of that grant, we now have both private use and private payments coming back to us.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Which violates the tax-exempt bond.


MR. ISRAEL:  Which could cause us to violate the tax-exempt bond issues.


Now, there are a number of details around the edges, which is why we need to talk with the IRS.  The details around the edges include things like—it’s pretty speculative—how much money we’re ever going to receive, if any.  It’s speculative as to when the timing is that that money would come.  It’s possible that we could set up bond issues so that the bonds mature before we would expect there to be any revenues in the future.  And so, we sort of sidestep some of these tests.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, we have a delayed operative return of revenues after the expiration of the three-year test?


MR. ISRAEL:  Not necessarily a three-year test.  This is tied into the maturity of the bonds.  But it depends on how the bonds are issued.  Again, we need to talk with the IRS about these questions.  We also need to talk with the IRS in general about leaving aside the revenue stream coming back.  We want to talk with the IRS about the timing of that.  We want to talk with the IRS about other benefits that the state may be able to obtain.  For example, can we obtain reduced costs of the intellectual property or reduced costs of any therapies that are developed and not have that be treated as being a payment to the state?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Yes, and for the public, that would mean:  Do we condition those grants to company “A” or university “B” that says, If and when a therapy is discovered in the future, you must provide that product to the state at the lowest commercial price, for example?


MR. ISRAEL:  For example, right.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Or, we could condition a grant to company “A” or university “B”:  In exchange for us giving you $300 million in research money, you must promise to not tie up those discoveries, short of a therapy, and allow other researchers to access, then, this global access model, that we’ll hear from later on.  Does that violate?

MR. ISRAEL:  We think that those do not, but again, we need to make sure that we talk to the IRS and to get the IRS to sign off on that.  It’s important to recognize that the IRS is the ultimate arbiter of all of this; that for bonds to be sold, there needs to be given what’s called “an unqualified opinion.”  For us, or anybody else, to get to an unqualified opinion basis, we’re going to need to go to the IRS as the ultimate arbiter with respect to this.  Again, “the devil is in the details” here.


Another thing to think about is, you know, we talked about you make a grant to company “A.”  Well, in truth, you’re going to make a series of grants to company “A” and a series of grants to company “B” and a series of grants to university “C,” and somewhere down the road some sort of intellectual property is developed.  What paid for that intellectual property?  Which of those grants?  And that’s important because those are all financed by different bond issues.  As Mr. Fernandez was talking about, we don’t issue all the bonds at once.  So, how do we trace them back?  That’s an important question and a question that needs to be talked with the IRS as well.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  But it’s not insurmountable in that there are standard, legally accepted accounting measures for tracing.


MR. ISRAEL:  So I’ve been told.  I’m working with intellectual property lawyers so that we can understand enough of this tracing, and also trying to understand enough of what CIRM might have in mind so that we can talk with the IRS in a way that’s, first of all, intelligent—that actually describes what CIRM might be doing—and, within the context of that, to provide the IRS, really, with a very specific grid:  Here are ten different ways that we’re talking about handling the intellectual property, or whatever we’ve got, as broad—if I may, Assemblymember Jones—as broad as we can.  But Mr. Fernandez was also right:  The IRS, we can’t just go in and say, Let’s sit and talk.  They want us to come in with specifics, so we need to have a broad range of specifics.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Oh—I’m sorry.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  I appreciate that.  I guess the distinction I want to make might be most easily addressed by asking the question to which I know the answer, but that is:  You are counsel for who?


MR. ISRAEL:  We are bond counsel to the state.  We are counsel to the Treasurer’s Office.  We are the ones who deliver the opinion that says the interest on the bonds is tax exempt upon which the bonds are sold.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Okay.  I think it’s obviously very fair and appropriate and necessary that the Treasurer’s Office be talking to CIRM to get an idea of what CIRM wants to do, but there may be some things that are available to us that CIRM may, for whatever reason, not want to do.  Nonetheless, it seems to me that the Treasurer’s Office and the people of California would benefit from the broadest possible posing of the question to the IRS, even if those include some scenarios that CIRM, for whatever reason, is not seeking to pursue.


MR. ISRAEL:  And I agree with your point.  What I would like to do is I strongly encourage the stakeholders in this and the policymakers in this to help us figure out the right questions to be asking the IRS.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  I appreciate that, and I appreciate the Treasurer’s desire to do that as well.  I think that’s some of what we hope to hear through this hearing.  But I thought it was an important distinction to make, and I’m very appreciative of the fact that the Treasurer’s Office understands, as due counsel for the Treasurer’s Office understands, the desirability of asking the questions as broadly as possible.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And we’re more than happy to share with you those three hypotheticals.  You’ll hear sort of a framework of them today as well that we indeed are looking at and have encouraged the CIRM to consider, but thus far we haven’t. . . . you perhaps know better than I do where they’re going, but we haven’t gotten . . . 


MR. ISRAEL:  I wish I did.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, I think we’re all trying to do the right thing in an era in which there are no bright lines.  But I’m more than happy to share with my colleagues what we’re looking at.  You know, there’s three scenarios:  Can we get a revenue stream to go anywhere?  I think it’s going to be very difficult in whichever way we fashion it, but we’ll await that direction from you.  I think the second scenario we’ll hear is this model of extracting out a promise to assure that if a therapy is developed somewhere down the line, that that indeed is available at a lowest commercial price or the most affordable price, whatever.  Whether or not that would violate our ability to use tax-exempt bonds.  


And then finally, it doesn’t go to the question of therapies or treatments but, rather, this front end, which is the most likely:  being therapies, treatments, prescriptions maybe fifteen—we hope sooner—but maybe ten to fifteen years down the line.  But, in lieu of that, there is a great value—and, hopefully, we’ll have the gentleman from ________ call in—as well as some models within the UC currently that look to assuring access to other researchers to have available to them these preliminary findings that are funded through Prop. 71 dollars that could then allow them to further research and lead to the discoveries quicker by sharing this new body of discoveries on a very basic research tool level, diagnostic tools, you know, means of, again, ultimately building on a treatment but are so preliminary.

So, those are the three models.  I think all of those are available and should be available.  I just really want to hear a compelling argument why we shouldn’t push for those as a public policy.  But we’ll hear from the CIRM later on that.

MR. ISRAEL:  I guess one of the last things I could add is that we have started working with the Treasurer’s Office on developing an outline of the very particular issues and of the very particular proposals that we’ve heard so that we can put together this ruling request in a very timely fashion.  Our goal is to really try to get something filed by the end of this year.  


Again, we’ll continue to work with your office and with anybody’s office as we try to develop this.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that, Mr. Israel.  Let me share with Mr. Israel and Mr. Fernandez, please extend my interest to the treasurer that I think my office is more than happy to be a part of it.  I would welcome if not participation in it, at least an ongoing level of communication as to where they’re going.  You know, we have been a key part of this from before 71, as you know.  So, my hope is that the treasurer will allow us to be a part of that in the planning stages.  So, I do hope to hear a response from the Treasurer’s Office on that request.

Mr. Mullin, do you have questions?


ASSEMBLYMEMBER MULLIN:  Just a real quick procedural question.  When you do develop the scenarios and you go to the IRS, you have to have a clear opinion from them, an unqualified position, before the bonds can go out for sale.


MR. ISRAEL:  Well, actually, we will need a view from them.  The interesting thing is that because bond counsel has to give an unqualified opinion, if bond counsel acts without having a specific private letter ruling from the IRS, bond counsel tend to be much more conservative than what the IRS might allow.  So definitely, what we’ll be looking for from the IRS is clear guidance from them in the form of a private letter ruling which we can rely on in giving them the unqualified opinion.


 ASSEMBLYMEMBER MULLIN:  All right.  So, it’s called a private letter ruling.


MR. ISRAEL:  That is correct.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER MULLIN:  And the 10 percent or $15 million, that’s to the original grant, not at some point down the future when the revenues start to roll back in, if there are any.  That would not be 10 percent of the revenues generated but 10 percent of the original bond.

MR. ISRAEL:  Right.  That is correct.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Other questions?  Let me also point out that we just went through the scenario in which the CIRM, or ICOC, issues grants.  Is there a very different scenario if they issue loans?


MR. ISRAEL:  Yes.  If they do loans, it’s much worse.  We have talked about these two tests to be private activity bonds and you have to meet both of them.  There’s actually another way you could be a private activity bond, and the other way you can be a private activity bond is by simply loaning bond proceeds.  If you loan bond proceeds to anybody, then you’re automatically going to be a private activity bond and we would automatically have taxable debt.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, most, if not all, will likely be grants, which is not a bad thing if there’s a benefit to California.


MR. ISRAEL:  That’s actually true of much of California’s GO Bond Program.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But again, those are generally for bricks and mortar—capital outlay—the first time as I posed the original concept to the Treasurer’s Office:  Can we do this to do non-bricks and mortar?  So, this is the first, obviously.


Thank you for your testimony, both of you.  I appreciate it.


Mr. Heir from the Legislative Counsel’s Office is here to hopefully bring some perspective from our attorneys in the Legislature on where we see pitfalls.


Welcome.


MR. BILL HEIR:  Bill Heir, Legislative Counsel’s Office.


I don’t want to duplicate a lot of what Mr. Israel said, so what I will do is simply incorporate by reference our opinion which lays out the rules and so forth.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  And your opinion is in our packet under the tab, “Tax-Exempt Bond Issues.”  There is a Legislative Counsel opinion that’s pretty comprehensive that raises some of the same issues that I was concerned about.  So, it’s here for the public’s review.


MR. HEIR:  Yes.  And there’s detailed rules, as you’ll see from the opinion, so I don’t need to repeat those.  Just suffice it to say that in a situation where. . . . I mean, we’re talking about the private business use test and the private payment test.  In a situation where the state requires, pursuant to intellectual property agreements, royalties back from the products and treatments that are produced, that would constitute payment in our mind, and therefore, it would be the private payment and those would not be tax-exempt bonds.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  In which scenario?  Would you repeat that?


MR. HEIR:  The situation where the state requires that, pursuant to the intellectual property agreements, there are royalties being received back by the state.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Actually, it’s not the state.  It would be CIRM.


MR. HEIR:  CIRM, which is a state agency, yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, that’s an important point because Legislative Counsel opines that they are a state agency, which may or may not be an issue in the lawsuit right now.  But they view themselves as not being a state agency. 


Could you repeat that for the public again?  I apologize.  It’s an important point.


MR. HEIR:  The private business use test and the private payment test, both tests need to be met, as Mr. Israel pointed out.  The proceeds of the bonds would be used by private business whenever there’s intellectual property that’s produced from those proceeds.  We consider that to also be proceeds from the bonds.  And when royalties are paid in respect to that property, the private payment test would be met.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, what does that say for our ability to extract out royalties?  What is your interpretation of subdivision (h) in the initiative and what the implications are as was suggested throughout the campaign—that we would see financial returns to the State of California—and the economic analysis that was used to support the initiative, which I supported as well?

MR. HEIR:  Yes, under that scenario where the royalties are received back by the state, those bonds, in our opinion, would not be tax-exempt bonds.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, they would have to be taxable bonds.


MR. HEIR:  Correct.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m not sure if there’s more on your presentation.  I know we have discussed situations other than revenue streams coming back to the state, but these two other models—you know, whether or not a condition could be imposed in the grant scenario either to a private company or to a university or 501(c)(3) that in exchange for an eventual discovery, that there should be an assurance that they would be made available to the public or to Californians at a lowest commercial or lowest price.  Would that violate the tax-exempt?

MR. HEIR:  Yes.  That would be the other scenario where the payments aren’t being made directly to the state.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Are not.


MR. HEIR:  Yes, they are not.  Instead, if the intellectual property agreements provide that any inventions, products, treatments derived from the research are provided at a discount to citizens of California, then the issue is:  Is there a payment being made back to the state?  In our opinion, based on the fee regulations that are out there, we think that as a general proposition, a situation could be imagined where that type of indirect payment would be allowed and not violate the tax exemption.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It would be allowed and would not violate.


MR. HEIR:  Correct.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Let me ask a third scenario in which rather than conditioning the issuance of research dollars to institution or company “A” and “B,” that in exchange, there’s a condition that says:  If there are preliminary discoveries and diagnostic tools or breakthroughs in research—tools, essentially; building blocks to research—as all have said, we’re going to be doing at the front end pure research without. . . . let’s temper our expectations about a treatment or a cure.  If there was a condition that said you can’t tie these up in patents and restrictions and you shall make them readily available for other researchers—for example, in a research pool—to have access to, to lead to further innovation, would that violate the use of tax-exempt bonds?


MR. HEIR:  As long as there is not that private payment being made back to the state either directly or indirectly pursuant to the regulations, that would not violate the rules.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I have a couple of questions, but go ahead, Mr. Jones.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Somewhere in my materials I have something that suggests that there may be a different application of the private activity rule if the state receives early repayment of the bond proceeds in some way.  I don’t know if that’s correct or not, but is there some variant to the test that you both have described that relates to early repayment of the bond proceeds, that makes it more favorable from the standpoint of the sorts of things we’ve been talking about trying to accomplish here?


It looks like the answer’s “no.”


MR. HEIR:  I’m not aware of anything that would necessarily be helpful to receiving earlier repayments back.  As I said, it’s possible that if the repayments are in fact farther out—which may very well happen, given the time period it takes to develop these things—it is possible that we may be able to convince the IRS that if we have early maturing bonds, that payments that are received after the bonds are gone—which are speculative at the time the bonds are issued anyway—should not be taken into account.  There’s some regulations that suggest that, and that’s certainly one of our arguments that we’re going to be making with the IRS.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Okay.  In other words, if the results of the research—the commercial applications of those results—don’t occur until some far point in the future which is later than the maturation of the bonds, then that private activity, if you will, may not count towards the application of this test.


MR. HEIR:  Again, we want confirmation from the Service with respect to that, but there are some regulations that suggest that, yes.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Okay.  And then, if we—I’m not very good at math—but if we tried to stay within the private activity rule but nonetheless had royalties flowing back, what’s the maximum amount of the bond proceeds we could use—tax-exempt bond proceeds we could use—in that way?

MR. HEIR:  Fifteen million dollars out of each issue of bonds.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  And each issue is how much again?


MR. ISRAEL:  As Mr. Fernandez described, the state goes to the market about six or eight times a year.  Each one of those times that they go to the market with a multipurpose issue, it is treated as being a single issue for federal tax purposes.  So, you could imagine the state could do a series of bond issues and each one of those bond issues up to $15 million was used for private activity, it would take a long time to get to $3 billion at that rate.  But you could imagine that happening over a long period of time.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Is it 10 percent of three billion?  Is it typically 300 million, or not?

MR. ISRAEL:  What you get is the lesser, of 10 percent of a particular issue or $15 million from that issue.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  I see.


MR. ISRAEL:  Let’s assume there were no other GO bonds and that there was only the stem cell bonds.  If the state issued $150 million worth of stem cell bonds, then 10 percent of that would be $15 million.  Fifteen million dollars of that issue could be used for private activity without giving rise to a problem.  A month later, the state could issue another $150 million worth of stem cell bonds.  If the state issued all $3 billion of stem cell bonds at once, you’d say, Well, gee, the 10 percent is 300 million.  But remember, for each issue it is the lesser, of 10 percent or $15 million.  So, if you issue $3 billion worth of bonds, you still only get        $15 million of private activity from that particular issue.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Okay.  I understand.  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask a question of all of you, but let me just start with Mr. Heir.  And we will hear from the ICOC.  I think Dr. Penhoet is here to speak to their policy as it’s evolving.


The ICOC chair, Mr. Klein, has suggested a number times in my discussions with him, and I think in public, that a share of the royalties that the grantees receive from inventions they develop should be directed to the state to a fund that he refers to as “compassionate care.”  I think that is subsidizing therapies for underserved populations.  That seems, to me, to be in direct violation of this private use/private business revenue stream direction.  I know it’s not a lot of facts here, but just on first blush, is that money doable with tax-exempt bonds?  Again, that a share of the royalties that the grantees will receive from various treatments or inventions or therapies that they develop should be directed to the state in a fund that he refers to as a “compassionate care fund” that could then be used to subsidize therapies for underserved populations.  Is this doable with these brief set of facts?


MR. HEIR:  To the extent these bonds would remain tax-exempt.  If we’re talking about a compassionate care fund that’s payable to the state and the state then makes the allotments and so forth pursuant to appropriations . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Out of royalties and revenue streams.


MR. HEIR:  Out of the royalties, yes.  That would constitute private payment within the two tests because the state would be receiving the benefit, and therefore, it would be a direct payment to the state, in our opinion.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It would preclude our ability to use tax-exempt bonds.


MR. HEIR:  Correct.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, we’d have to go to taxable bonds.


MR. HEIR:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I know there’s not a lot of facts here.


Mr. Israel?


MR. ISRAEL:  Again, I agree with Mr. Heir.  We believe that that does give rise to definite tax issues.  There are some details, right.  One possibility that’s been suggested is, suppose the money didn’t go to the state but the state required that it go to a 501(c)(3) organization which did this.  That’s, again, one of the items which is on our grid to raise with the IRS.  Honestly, I’m not sure how it would handicap that result.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Yes, I think it’s a totally new model.  It’d be interesting to see who oversees this 501(c)(3) and determine whether it is indeed separate and apart from not only CIRM, but the state.  How do you develop that?  I don’t know.  Perhaps there are models out there on stem cell research that could be 501(c)(3).

I know we’re going to hear from Dr. Penhoet and others from ICOC on that model and others, hopefully, but again, let me just say, this is quite helpful. 


Unless there are other questions from committee members, let me thank you all for your time.  We are a bit behind time, so I’m going to have my staff bring me up to speed as to whether we’re deviating from the schedule.


We are going to go ahead and put Professor Eisenberg on the phone.  Professor Eisenberg wanted to at least listen to this next panel.  And I think we’re going to have the sergeants do that.  Ms. Eisenberg is not available after 12:30, so we need to allow Ms. Eisenberg on by twelve.  It’s now five or ten after eleven.


Let me invite the next panelists to come forward:  Mr. James Pooley, who is a partner in Millbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy; as well as Dr. Penhoet, who is the vice chair of the Independent Citizen’s Oversight Committee.  They will comment on the CCST report and the status of the ICOC policy.


I think Assemblymember Mullin mentioned he had a resolution this year requesting the study.  The resolution was amended in the Senate Health Committee to address a number of issues, including the constraints on the intellectual policy options if the state wishes to use the tax-exempt bonds for research.  Having read the report, I had some concerns.  I issued a statement that outlined those concerns.  It’s clear that the report, I don’t believe, gives any serious consideration to the issues of accessibility and access.  

But let’s allow Mr. Pooley, who is the patent attorney and a partner with the law firm Millbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy—who’s also a member of the CCST study group—to explain what they recommended and why they recommended it.  


After that, we’re going to hear from Dr. Ed Penhoet, who is the vice chair of the ICOC (Independent Citizen’s Oversight Committee)—and he’s also the chair of the Intellectual Property Subcommittee—on what process they are pursuing to develop an intellectual property policy for Prop. 71 and what resources they plan to draw upon to develop that policy.

Welcome, Mr. Pooley.  We look forward to your testimony.


MR. JAMES POOLEY:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz, Assemblymember Chan, and Assemblymember Jones for chairing this informational hearing.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  As well as Assemblymember Mullin.


MR. POOLEY:  And Assemblymember Mullin, thank you.


I also want to say that, although I am not a registered patent attorney, I have been working with patents and other forms of intellectual properties.  I’ve been a lawyer for more than thirty years.  I teach in the intellectual property program at Bolt Hall at the University of California, Berkeley.  And I was a member of the National Academy of Sciences’ four-year project looking at the impact of intellectual property laws on the national economy.


I’m delighted to have this opportunity today to be able to share with members of the California State Senate and Assembly the results of the California Council on Science and Technology’s interim report, “Policy Framework for Intellectual Property Derived From Stem Cell Research in California.”  I was a member of the study group that authored that report, which was released on August 23.  Our goal with this report, as it is with all other CCST studies, was to provide independent, sound, evidence-based advice to the state’s policymakers and the Legislature and the executive branch.


California Council on Science and Technology (or CCST) is a nonpartisan, nonprofit 501(c)(3) organization that was established in 1988 by state legislation authored by Sam Farr.  It was created for the purpose of offering nonpartisan expert advice to the state government on science- and technology-related policy issues.  Because science and technology are at the center of so many of today’s policy concerns, policymakers have rightly looked for independent expert advice to help them think through appropriate actions.  Over the past seventeen years, CCST has been asked by the state to provide advice on topics ranging from genetically modified foods to education and workforce development, nanotechnology and energy.  Accordingly, the State Assembly passed Resolution 252 in September 2004 asking CCST to provide advice on how the State of California should treat intellectual property created under state contracts.  

Now, in November of last year, California voters passed Proposition 71; after which Assemblymember Mullin authored ACR 24, requesting that the CCST study group, formed in response to ACR 252, produce an interim report with specific IP guidelines for the California Institute for Regenerative Medicine.  Senate amendments to ACR 24 in mid-July raised additional issues that were addressed briefly in the interim report’s addendum.

So, let me tell you about our study group.  We assembled a group of seventeen leaders from California’s science and technology community representing a range of expertise, including research management, inventor to IP process, federal and state technology transfer, economics, and public policy.  The co-chairs were Alan Bennett, associate vice chair for Research at UC Davis, and Stephen Rockwood, executive vice president, Science Applications International Corporation.

Now, we looked carefully—CCST looked carefully—at the backgrounds of each of the participants to ensure no conflicts of interest and a balance of bias.  With every study CCST undertakes, it knows that integrity and credibility are key, and it therefore takes the greatest of pains to assemble a group of individuals who have a range of expertise but are free of conflict of interest.  No one comes without bias, however; and so, we worked mightily to balance that so that all views can be considered accordingly.


Once the study group’s report was drafted, it was put through a rigorous and _________ peer review involving several dozen experts, both within and outside the CCST, from private foundations, government agencies, academia, venture capital firms, and the high-tech industry, including biotech.  And the result is this interim report.  A final report is scheduled for completion at the end of this calendar year.  We do recognize that despite the considerable efforts that have gone into producing this report, there are many questions that remain.  So, our hope is that this report serves as a starting point for discussion that will lead the state toward developing sound, well-reasoned IP policy that serves as a model for the rest of the nation.

Let me take a few moments to talk about intellectual property in particular; what it is and why it’s important.  Intellectual property is the legal mechanism by which we protect the products of creativity.  Intellectual property, or IP, comes in a variety of forms.  Trademarks, patents, and copyrights and trade secrets are the primary ones.  IP permits us to lay claim to things we create, just as we would lay claim to physical property.  It is important because, in a free market environment, IP provides incentive for further creativity.  In other words, it helps to spur innovation and the creation of new knowledge.  In many ways, it provides the fuel for advances in many fields; not the least of which are the rapidly expanding disciplines within biomedical science.


For California, a state long known and well respected for innovation, the promise presented by stem cell research signaled opportunities that absolutely could not be passed up; for example, an opportunity to conduct basic research in new areas, and then leverage new findings in biomedical science to develop new therapies and cures for diseases that have none today, and an opportunity to strengthen California’s economy with new jobs and new businesses and a new powerful government-university-industry alliance.


But before that can happen, we must keep in mind that a long time horizon is necessary to take basic research through the many steps—some of which occur serendipitously—that eventually lead to a marketable product.  We also need to acknowledge the extraordinary costs involved in developing this particular type of IP and the extent to which these costs will be borne by industry.  


The $3 billion invested by the state is a great deal and certainly the largest made by any state on any basic research program to date, but it is the industry investment—hundreds of millions of dollars and over many years—that will lead to commercialization.  And let me just put it this way.  If industry does not find competitive incentives to invest in CIRM research, it will simply invest elsewhere.  IP policy must be sensitive to this reality.

CIRM’s mission as a new state agency is to make grants and provide loans for stem cell research.  Given that premise, our committee provided ten straightforward objectives that CIRM should consider in setting IP policy, and these are described, in turn, in the interim report.  Let me highlight one in further detail.  


We believe CIRM’s policy should support the open dissemination of research results and the transfer of knowledge.  This is because widespread dissemination of research results is critical for the advancement of stem cell science and the development of practical application.  Knowledge begets knowledge.  The only way for the science to move forward is for scientists to have access to new findings.  Most new knowledge created from the stem cell initiative, particularly early on, will be in the form of new research tools, computer programs, and databases.  Particular attention needs to be paid to how these new data are treated, making them as widely available as possible.


Now, following World War II, the federal government began to invest heavily in science and technology as the Cold War ramped up.  With the launch of Sputnik in the late 1950s, a new era in federal science and technology funding was born involving a range of entities, including universities, nonprofit institutions, as well as private contractors.  But with it came the inevitable question:  Who owned the resulting IP?  And because there were no easy answers forthcoming, a huge inventory of patentable inventions built up with industry reluctant to invest, given the lack of clarity around licensing.  By 1980, the U.S. government held title to approximately 28,000 patents, with less than 5 percent licensed to industry, for development of commercial products.  Without strong IP protection, clarity over ownership and the ability to obtain exclusive licenses, companies had little incentive to invest in transforming the research discoveries into marketable products.  At the same time, a real bureaucratic tangle had evolved with each federal agency negotiating their own agreements and with each research entity resulting in a multitude of policies and an impossibly incoherent system.  If anyone could call it a system at all.


So, in 1980, the Bayh-Dole Act was passed, intended to streamline the process for managing federally funded IP and providing for a healthy process of technology transfer so that universities and their industry partners could indeed take knowledge created in the lab and move it from the bench to commercialization.  Bayh-Dole led to the development of consistent IP policies that permitted grantees to patent inventions resulting from federally funded research which they could then license to other entities, including to private firms willing to invest in commercialization.  As a result, many research universities and labs began to encourage faculty and other researchers to identify and report discoveries that could be patented for commercial development.  They established technology transfer offices to handle patent processing and licensing.


Now, Bayh-Dole is generally credited with having led to the development of some technologies that may not have been made available to the public in its absence.  In many respects, it is considered the standard for managing the IP process at the nation’s universities and nonprofit research entities.  Bayh-Dole serves as the driver for technology transfer in this country.


So, it is with this reality front and center that we made our set of recommendations.  State-funded research should be guided by IP policy that is consistent with Bayh-Dole.  We did not say “identical.”  But we do believe that whatever policies are established in California, they should not conflict with Bayh-Dole specifically.

Recommendation 1:  To encourage robust participation in CIRM-funded research by both for-profit and nonprofit organizations, we recommend that grantees be permitted to own the IP that they create and projects that are fully or partially funded by CIRM.  This is consistent with Bayh-Dole, and here’s why that’s important.  From the grantee’s perspective, it allows them to leverage other funding, as appropriate, and avoids the administratively burdensome need to isolate CIRM-funded research from other research.  It also gives them credit for knowing the best strategy for moving their invention from basic research toward the commercial realm.  They’re in the best position to know this, and their knowledge should be leveraged accordingly.


Recommendation 2:  We also recommend that CIRM require grantees to provide a plan that describes how the resulting IP will be managed in a way that advances science and benefits the State of California.  No doubt, there is heightened public interest in this program; and frankly, to be responsive to a public that overwhelmingly voted “yes” to this initiative, we believe that providing a plan from the outset is simply the right thing to do.  It makes sense to ask grantees to explain how their work will benefit California and spell out their strategies for directing commercialization opportunities to the state.

Recommendation 3:  At the same time, we feel strongly that CIRM should not require grantees to guarantee that their work will provide a revenue stream to the state.  Neither the state nor CIRM should create financial burdens that impede the rapid development of therapies.  And there is evidence that this type of requirement would do exactly that.  There is significant evidence on the federal level that policies requiring direct revenue sharing have had negative effects on the technology transfer process.


Recommendation 4:  Advances in stem cell research is a process of knowledge building.  Scientists move forward in their understanding of complex matters by studying the work of other scientists and adding to that knowledge base.  We see this play out in the numerous scientific journals published each week as new research findings are reported out, some incremental, some controversial, some groundbreaking, some seemingly inconsequential.  Fundamental to this process is the sharing among scientists of research tools.  Our study group underscored this tenet by urging CIRM to require researchers to share their CIRM-funded research tools with as few encumbrances as possible.  We believe it’s important that grantees preserve in any agreements they make with third parties their ability to broadly share research tools and data and to publish freely any new findings, as appropriate.  And any licensing of CIRM-funded inventions, IP policy should also make clear that grantees should be expected to reserve their own right to use the invention for research and educational purposes.

Recommendation 5:  We further recommend that licensees be required to work diligently to develop CIRM-funded IP into therapeutics and diagnostics.  Any exclusive commercial license should include such a provision.  This would permit the grantee to terminate the license if the licensee does not work to develop the invention in a timely manner.  And if a grantee did not move forward with commercial development, there should be a requirement that they notify CIRM and provide CIRM with the opportunity to do so.  In the same vein, any inventions resulting from CIRM funding should be reported by the grantee promptly to CIRM, and CIRM should require annual updates from grantees with respect to the status of inventions.


Recommendation 6:  Consistent with Bayh-Dole, if grantees do not move forward in developing their inventions for the public benefit, then CIRM should retain the right to step in to do so.  Under Bayh-Dole, the federal funding agency has the authority to license an invention it funded if the grantees don’t take action to achieve practical application of the invention in a reasonable amount of time.  These so-called march-in rights have been controversial.  Industry, for one, worried early on that this would leave them vulnerable to meddling by the government; and so, they showed a great deal of reluctance to invest in federally funded inventions.  But, in the twenty-five years since passage of Bayh-Dole, march-in rights have never been used.  There have been arguments to do so, and one case in particular, petitioners called on government to march in to control the price of a new drug on the market.  The thought was that the march-in rights could be used to regulate pricing.  The funder—NIH—was not convinced.  Ultimately, it was determined that this wasn’t what march-in rights were created to do.  In fact, as has been pointed out, there are other, more appropriate, mechanisms for dealing with pricing issues, including antitrust laws.  

An important thing to emphasize here is that, while CIRM absolutely must retain the right to step in to ensure that inventions are developed in a timely manner, this should be a right that is used only with great caution.  Bayh-Dole, while far from perfect, illustrates how delicately the balance among academe, the government, and industry must be managed if technology transfer is to be successful.  The government must see that taxpayer dollars have been spent wisely and for the public benefit.  Universities must also see the benefits, in revenue sharing, in prestige, and in attracting and retaining high-quality researchers.  And industry must be assured that their investment is a wise choice and not a blind gamble.  

Recommendation 7:  We also recommend that CIRM leave the details of licensing to the owner of the IP.  Again, they’re in the best position to judge the most effective ways for commercializing their discoveries.  We noted earlier that CIRM should avoid overly prescriptive policies for IP, and this is, in part, what we mean by that.  Grantees have the expertise to negotiate deals with the private sector, and they’re in a position to monitor those who license the IP to ensure that they are being diligent in their efforts to develop useful products.

Recommendation 8:  Finally, in the spirit of Bayh-Dole, we also believe CIRM should have full rights to all CIRM-funded inventions, nonexclusive and royalty-free.  This would mean that CIRM would also have the right to allow other CIRM grantees to use such inventions in their CIRM-funded research activities.  This, again, is consistent with federal policy, and it brings us back to the notion of making information as accessible to researchers as possible in order to keep moving knowledge and the science forward and as quickly as possible.


Recommendation 9:  Our final recommendation focuses on an important administrative task.  Given the complexities involved in the startup of a new research program and given the volume of activity it is likely to generate, our study group recommends a very explicit tracking system.  We urge CIRM to establish a database to track CIRM-funded products and a way to collect and update the information.  The database is an important housekeeping tool, quite obviously, but it’s much more than that.  It would serve as a useful source of information to other researchers as well as to companies interested in engaging in commercial development of stem cell technology.  We also think it makes the most sense for CIRM-funded researchers to be required to provide CIRM with regular reports that can be essentially poured into the database.  This makes information even more readily accessible to researchers, but really to anyone interested in keeping tabs on CIRM-funded activities. 

CIRM is faced with many challenges.  It’s a new organization.  It is essentially writing its own rules and making its own way, all the while it is being closely watched by the nation and the world.  We believe that the IP policies that are put into place and the way in which IP is managed will be the determining factor in whether this program functions as intended; that is, whether it is successful in taking the intellectual outputs of this public investment and translating them into useful products, therapies, and treatments.  

Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Mr. Pooley.


I apologize, we’re a half-hour behind in which not only testimony but questions should have been dealt with.  Let me just let the public know and the members know that Mr. Pooley’s testimony is in writing and it’s available.  We’ll try to catch up on time, but it’s going to be a bit difficult because I’m sure there are going to be questions from committee.  So, with that, let me thank you.  I’m sure there will be questions.

Let me welcome Dr. Penhoet.  Hopefully, you’ll share with us some of your thoughts on the direction in where ICOC is going on these very difficult issues of intellectual property.  But welcome.


DR. ED PENHOET:  Thank you.  Good morning.  Mr. Mullin.  Mr. Jones.  Ms. Ortiz.


As you stated, I am the vice chair of the ICOC in California, and I am also chairman of the task force which has been delegated the responsibility by the ICOC to make recommendations to the full ICOC regarding intellectual property.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And let me just let members know, the written testimony is here.  It’s about two-and-a-half pages.  So, if you feel it’s important to highlight some points so we can have time for Q&A, I would encourage you to do that, rather than read all of the testimony.


DR. PENHOET:  Indeed.  I will not bore you with my background except to say I’ve been active . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Impeccable background.


DR. PENHOET:  . . . in the academic world, in the business world, and in the nonprofit world in my career.  I’m currently president of the Gordon and Betty Moore Foundation here in San Francisco.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And a cofounder of Chiron as well as CEO in the past, and president.


DR. PENHOET:  And you may have read that we agreed to sell Chiron to Novartis over the weekend specifically to avoid any conflict of interest I might have with the stem cell chaos.  [Laughter.]


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for disclosing that.


DR. PENHOET:  So, you do have my written testimony.  Let me go, then, really to the heart.  

You mentioned several times that you would like me to comment on what our position is with respect to various issues; so let me first address what the process is for us developing an IP policy.  We have appointed a task force of a significant fraction of the total membership of the ICOC.  That task force is working to establish a recommendation to the whole ICOC board over the next several months.  We do have a short-term target of developing an interim policy for training grants which we hope to deliver to the ICOC board in December.  But, I think as you all know, the primary purpose of training grants is to train people, not to generate IPs.  So, this is, for us, not a major milestone, nor will it commit us to anything in the future with respect to IP.


So, the process is in place.  We waited for the CCST report before we began our official process of developing an IP policy.  Because the CCST report was commissioned by the Legislature, we thought it was an important aspect of what we should consider in going forward.  And so, once the CCST report was out, we began our work.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Just to be fair, though, the CCST was originally commissioned by resolution, not statute, and it was broader IP policy for the state.  And subsequent to that and after enactment of Prop. 71, there was inserted—I don’t know if it’s the second resolution, Assemblymember Mullin—a second resolution that attempted to define the direction after the fact of Prop. 71 policies.  Let’s be fair.  It wasn’t a directive of the Legislature that envisioned Prop. 71 policy initially, and it was a resolution.


DR. PENHOET:  I’ll simply try and describe the situation.  It’s not a matter of fairness.  We understood the CCST report was forthcoming, and we waited to get that report before we began our formal work of our committee.


Having received the report, we scheduled a meeting last week so our members could address specifically the CCST members.  There were four people there who were part of the CCST report, and they presented their findings, and we had ample opportunity to analyze their points of view.


Specifically, as I stated in written testimony, today I am here to listen.  I am not here to offer any solutions to these IP problems.  Our task is to listen to a broad constituency of the public and of various, different interested groups.  We do not have a pre-formed opinion about which is the right way for us to go on these IP issues.  They are very complicated.  They do involve and they end balancing; very important issues of making sure that the intent of the voters is carried out with respect to bringing new therapies to the public in California with all the other variety of issues that you have discussed today.  

So, we, today, are specifically trying not to come to a quick conclusion about what we should do in this regard but in fact have the opportunity—and thank you for providing this opportunity today—for us to hear from many different points of view before we come to a conclusion about what the IP policy of the CIRM should be.


Having said that, we must have a policy in place, so our work is continuing.  I agree with the sentiments of many others.  The most long-lasting effect of this whole initiative is likely to be embodied in the IP policies because they will form the backbone of how the working with CIRM is conducted going forward.

Again, with respect to timelines, we do hope to present an interim policy recommendation for training grants-only on December 6th.  In order to meet that objective, we will have to have another meeting of the IP policy task force; hopefully on November 22nd, is when we’re trying to arrange it.  We do expect from the National Academies of Science a report on November 17th on a two-year-long study they’ve been doing on patenting genes and proteins.  And, in the study, there will be a variety of recommendations.  We think that many of those will be relevant to stem cells.  Stem cells weren’t particularly called out as part of this, but we think that a number of those recommendations will have something important to say to our deliberations.

So, we are here today, all ears, taking good notes, I hope.  We will have the benefit of the National Academy report on the 17th.  By the way, I am a member of the National Academy myself and also a member of the board on Science and Technology of the National Academies, who sponsored this study.  And then, we will have another meeting on the 22nd and an interim report to the ICOC on December 6th.  But we do not expect an IP policy that relates to grants—which is the essence of our work—to be recommended to the board at least until the February board meeting.  We do not anticipate making grants, other than training grants whose purpose is training, until at least February.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, February of 2006 is the earliest you think a policy will be recommended to the full board.


DR. PENHOET:  The full board as it relates to research grants.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You are waiting on the National Academy of Science recommendations.


DR. PENHOET:  That will occur in two weeks basically.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, between that and November 17th . . . 


DR. PENHOET:  That’s another piece of information for us.  It won’t necessarily dictate any particular path for us, but we think it’s an important study.  It’s been underway for quite some time, so we want to take that into account.  I believe, from what I’ve heard, it will address some of these issues of sharing information to empower research—which is a very important issue to us—with CIRM.


But we look forward to hearing many points of view about this.  We’ve heard a number already, both in our own meetings, and we look forward to hearing even more today.  So, we are doing our best to remain objective and not jump to a conclusion prematurely in our work.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Appreciate that.  I have a few questions, but let me let my colleagues go first.  Mr. Mullin or Mr. Jones?


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Let me start first with Mr. Pooley.  The resolution, Mr. Mullin’s resolution, that the Legislature adopted asked the CCST to look at ways in which the investment of taxpayer dollars here would generate some public benefit, including, but not limited to, state revenues, favorable pricing, revenue sharing, and reinvestment into research.  I note that in the addendum of the report, there was a mention of this but no, in my view, significant analysis with regard to these questions.  When does the CCST plan to take up that portion of the charge under the resolution?

MR. POOLEY:  Well, as far as the process goes, we have continued to address all of those issues that were raised, I believe, in the resolution that you talked about.  It came at a time when the draft report had already been prepared.  We got together to talk about all of the issues that were raised, but there was a fairly limited time to do it.  We’ve continued to meet.  We’ve had two meetings since then, and we plan to have more.  I mean, I see the discussion on those issues as ongoing, and frankly, the issues that you identified were part of our initial discussions as well.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  The report, though, is characterized as an interim report.  Is there going to be a subsequent report prepared?


MR. POOLEY:  Oh, yes.  In December we will issue the final report.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  And that will address more fully these other issues?


MR. POOLEY:  I presume that it will cover all of the additional information and discussions that we’ve had since the time that that request was made, yes.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Okay, because I have to say, I was disappointed by the level of attention given to, and the depth of analysis given to, some of these other issues in the report.  My hope would be that the CCST could spend additional time in its full report on those issues and also solicit views more broadly speaking that might represent some of the alternative options that we’re going to discuss later on in this hearing.


MR. POOLEY:  Always happy to take suggestions on where to get information.  We’ve tried, as the process started earlier this year, to get as many different points of view in as we could. 


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  The other concern I have with the recommendations in the report is that your third recommendation comes down very strongly against any sort of requirement that grantees would guarantee that their work provide a revenue stream to the state in some way, shape, or form.  And as I read the proposition, particularly at section (h) and then in the preamble, it seems like that recommendation is at odds with what the proposition itself says, which, as we heard earlier from the Legislative Counsel in section (h), creates an presumption that the CIRM will adopt policies that will ensure that there is benefit to the state unless it can be shown in a given context that that requirement, if you will, of benefits would unreasonably hinder research.  So, I’m wondering if you could share with me why the CCST is recommending something that’s at odds with the actual text of the proposition itself in this regard.

MR. POOLEY:  Well, I certainly understand the question because that issue came up very early in the process.  The first answer is that we were charged with, in the first instance, addressing an issue for the whole state broadly on IP policy and not necessarily specifically about stem cells.  But since we were tasked to come out with the interim report and focus on that in particular, that really formed the context for much of our discussions, and there was, certainly, a certain amount of tension around the announced objective in connection with Prop. 71 to get a revenue stream back to the state.  In our observation in general, to do so would make it difficult to achieve commercialization.  In other words, it gets back to this essential tension between what the role of the state is supposed to be in generating opportunities and paying for pure research; in other words, being a “Johnny Appleseed” versus starting a fruit company and taking all the risks of getting your product to the market.  

Of course, if you drop that metaphor and get back to reality and understand that you also have to deal with the FDA to get to a product and a therapy that actually can be used in the marketplace, there’s this long and very tortuous and rocky road from the time of original research that yields a promising result and commercialization.  You’re either going to have the state partnering with commercial entities to get through that long road, or the state’s going to have to do it all itself.  If you take the first route which gives you maximum opportunities to generate lots of good ideas and produce promising therapies, if you take that route, then you have to pay attention to how the rest of the road is going to be traveled and who you’re going to have to partner with and what will be the incentives to get them there.  

Generally speaking, history has shown that it’s very hard to get people to invest when they see that there are required royalty streams going back up to some other entity.  They’ll look elsewhere.


Now, obviously, I think if you read the report carefully, what we’ve said is not that this can never be done—that it’s a horrible idea under all circumstances—but that if you’re going to try to get maximum, commercializable therapies delivered to the public, you have to be very, very cautious about requiring a royalty stream back because you may end up finding fewer partners than you need to get there.  That’s the reason.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  I appreciate the policy argument you’re making.  I think there’s a rebuttal to that argument, and we’re going to hear a little bit about that from some witnesses later on.  I won’t take the time of the committee with the rebuttal, but my question is:  How can the CCST recommend something that’s contrary to what the law now provides as a result of Prop. 71?  It seems to be very clear what section (h) says—and I think we had counsel, here earlier, provide us with an explanation of what section (h) provides.  It just seems to me that CCST’s recommendation is contrary to what the law provides.  It may be from your perspective, or CCST’s perspective, good policy, but I think fundamentally the problem is it’s contrary to what the law now provides as a result of Prop. 71.

MR. POOLEY:  And I think the problem comes from the fact that we were asked to provide advice on what is possible.  Although the statute may provide, and does provide, that it is an objective to secure a royalty stream coming back, we thought it was important for us to be honest about the reality of achieving commercialization with that kind of burden on the prospective partners that you need in order to get there, in order to provide the large multiples of investments and risks necessary to get to commercialization.  


So, in a sense, if you’re asking us to simply tell you what can you do to get money back to the state, we can tell you that.  And I think in the report there is a discussion of models that have been used to do that.  But we think it’s also part of our task to tell the truth about what we think the impact of that actually will have in achieving other objectives of the initiative.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Okay.  But you’re not disagreeing with my legal analysis, though, with regard to Prop. 71?


MR. POOLEY:  We all can read the statute.  I mean, absolutely.  It’s there.  And I think it’s also just as clear that many people expected, when they voted for that initiative, that there would be some return.  Clearly, I think you can take from our report, the state has the choice to make here.  It can maximize the return in that kind of way, but it has to be understood that it will have consequences in terms of the state’s ability to partner with commercial interests that would be necessary to achieve commercialization.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Another recommendation is that the CIRM should retain march-in rights.  One of the concerns that I have with regard to that, though, is that I don’t believe those rights have been exercised in the last twenty-five years.  So, how useful will that truly be, given the fact that they’ve never been exercised under Bayh-Dole?


MR. POOLEY:  Well, all I can say is they exist.  It depends on the purpose for which you’re using them.  If you’re using them for the purpose of making sure that commercialization work is done diligently, then march-in rights are a very reasonable way to achieve that.  Certainly, you’d have to say that in the abstract—even though they haven’t been used by the federal government—because you keep track of what it is that people are doing and you have a reporting process, which is another one of our recommendations.  If people aren’t doing the work to get it there, then you come in and take it back.  All we’re saying, however, is that like any other management process where you stop somebody that you’ve assigned to take care of a particular task, you should make judicious use of those rights.  There’s no reason to suspect that the state would be more or less energetic about using them.  It depends on who you put in charge of pulling the trigger.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Or perhaps we need to revise the threshold under which those rights can be used or the process by which those rights can be used.


MR. POOLEY:  That’s one method, certainly:  management technique of making sure that they get used more often or considered more often.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Okay.  And then, with regard to march-in rights, I don’t know if this is addressed directly in the report, but it is conceivable, is it not, that march-in rights could be used with regard to ensuring that a standard of accessibility and affordability be met downstream with regard to the treatments and therapies that result from the research?  That, at least, is theoretically possible, is it not?

MR. POOLEY:  It’s certainly theoretically possible.  Again, a decision to employ march-in rights for that kind of purpose would have pretty clear—although, you couldn’t say exactly how large—consequences on the willingness of commercial partners to participate.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  One of the recommendations in your report, also, is that the CIRM avoid overly prescriptive policies for intellectual property derived from CIRM-funded research—and now I’m paraphrasing—because grantees are in the best position to determine how to ensure that discoveries are made widely available.  


We heard that argument a moment ago, but I guess I’m wondering whether you wouldn’t also concede that there may be circumstances where the individualized market-based decision of a grantee or a licensee of a grantee may be at odds with the broader public goal of widely disseminating the therapy or the treatment.


MR. POOLEY:  Of course that’s always possible.  This involves, again, a management issue where you balance the need for some control over what is the ultimate use of public funds with what you know to be the impact on the process of private entities in carrying out the process.  So, of course, you always have that possibility.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  How do we ensure if a private entity makes a decision that the level of return that it can get from a particular treatment or therapy is not as great as another treatment or therapy—and yet, the first of those may have broader public benefit; the second one has more profitability for the company but a reduced public benefit—how do we ensure as the public decision-makers that that private entity is in fact making decisions to allow the broader dissemination of the treatment or therapy?

MR. POOLEY:  I think that the recommendation that we’ve made is that you do that primarily with after-the-fact monitoring of what has happened so far, as opposed to micromanagement and the creation of regulations that dictate what has to happen in the first instance.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Okay.  But, after-the-fact monitoring, you would still have the ability to intervene, then, under your proposals?


MR. POOLEY:  Well, I mean, it depends on how you define march-in rights.  If you are trying to make sure that drugs and therapies get to the market as quickly as possible—and that is where you’re headed—and you find that the decision-making that’s being made by the IP owner and the IP owner’s licensees is dragging all this out and is not producing something useful for the public, then that’s exactly what you can use march-in rights for.  Of course, you can design a system where march-in rights can be used for other purposes, but there’s not good history on exactly how well that can work.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  And then, finally, since all California taxpayers are paying for this and some number of them are working poor people or other people that can’t afford to purchase insurance or aren’t otherwise provided insurance, how do we make sure under a market-based approach—under the approach that you’re advancing through this report—that these treatments and therapies are made available to those people?  I mean, I grant you that there is a legitimate argument that in terms of getting products out into the market, you want to reduce as many of the transaction costs as possible; and there probably needs to be some intellectual property regime to encourage capital to flow in to help commercialize products.  

But what I worry about is that the history with regard to that approach has maybe resulted in more products being put out there.  And there’s some debate about that also.  There’s some contrary evidence I think we’re going to hear about later on today that suggest that, in fact, the contrary is true.  But let’s assume it is the case that more stuff is getting out there.  It has not resulted, however, in broad distribution.  And in this circumstance, it’s the taxpayers of California, including poorer taxpayers, that are paying for this.  How do we make sure that they get the benefits of this?


MR. POOLEY:  Right.  There are a variety of ways, obviously, to address that.  I think what we have said in our report is that if you try to introduce controls over the ultimate cost of therapies into the process of developing and commercializing the therapies, that can have a very profound and constricting effect on the ability to get partners who are just not going to be interested in doing it.  If you’re trying to get industry to partner with you to get commercialization done, it might be better to find other ways to achieve that greater accessibility to the therapies and costs by direct funding of that kind of accessibility.  But all we’re talking about in the report is:  What would be the effect, based on history and experience in trying to get these therapies to the market, of putting on restrictions like that at the early part of the process?  And that, we can assure you, would have a restrictive effect.  Would it kill all opportunities?  Probably not.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Okay, thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Mr. Mullin?


ASSEMBLYMEMBER MULLIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Just to follow up on that last statement, you said there should be, potentially at least, one way to provide greater accessibility, which would be direct funding of that accessibility.  You’re talking about direct funding from the state to allow access by those who generally don’t have the resources as opposed to some structure by which you could still encourage the product going to market and encourage partnering but put some restriction within the state; for example, sales to the state, as has been mentioned earlier.  Is there a way to do it within the industry itself, or would it fall back on the state to provide those resources?

MR. POOLEY:  Yes.  Of course, in our committee we didn’t look at—and we don’t have the expertise—all the avenues that are available to the state for direct funding of the objective of getting lower-cost therapies available to people who can’t afford them or who aren’t insured.  


What we were tasked to look at is:  What would be the effect of your trying to address that problem as part of the process of regulating the chairing of IP and getting partners who would invest in it?  I think our conclusion is that, as a general rule, to the extent that you introduce limitations like that into the process early on as part of a rider on the IP right, if you will, you limit severely your ability to get commercial investment.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER MULLIN:  It almost sounds like an “all or nothing.”  I think there’s probably gradations among there within that that may well still make this a desirable product development at the same time have some limitations.  I would hope that as you move forward constructing a final report, you might look at that, emphasize that a little bit more, and see if there are ways by which we can say, Well, it may have some hindrance on the commercialization on the market-based approach, but we still think that there are ways by which you can do that.  


And I appreciate, by the way, the fact that your study goes forward without necessarily being constrained by what 71 said, because I think that’s the whole purpose of that, by saying let’s take a look at what we anticipate as sort of a nonbiased approach to it, not necessarily colored by the way 71 was structured.  Because, as we mentioned several times, this is a source of information that will move forward in enabling some sort of decisions to be made down the road.

I’d also thank Dr. Penhoet for doing exactly what we’re hoping will take place, and that is that all of these hearings and this information will be used as part of the ultimate decision-making process.  We’re all here to get as much information as we can, so I appreciate your testimony.


DR. PENHOET:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  I do have a few questions, and I want to acknowledge, we’re an hour behind time just because this is such important information.  I know we have someone on the phone that will be our next speaker—Ms. Eisenberg—but I ask her to give me just a few more minutes as we go through some questions of these two witnesses.


Let me start with Mr. Pooley.  I’m trying to gather my notes on your recommendations, and I appreciate your role in trying to provide some guidance in the context of what is traditionally privately funded research.  


You make a number of recommendations which all are consistent with Bayh-Dole.  It’s a commercialization model.  It’s about twenty-five years old, I guess, and there’s a lot of rethinking of that model.  And we’ll hear from some of the witnesses later about whether or not that’s an ideal model; whether it’s appropriate for our time.  But I think it’s fair to say that your recommendations pretty much mirror a Bayh-Dole model.  


MR. POOLEY:  It’s our recommendation, again, that they be consistent with Bayh-Dole.  Although Bayh-Dole presents one solution that some people have criticized because of its collateral effects—and they’ve done that from the beginning—it’s one that the universities and other institutions that receive funding deal with and they will deal with going forward.  


And so, we thought two things.  One is that it’s a good system in general and that dealing with two different systems would be a problem.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, I appreciate that.  But even in the context of your recommendations, you make some vague references about benefit to the state—on Recommendation 2:  “We also recommend that CIRM require grantees to provide a plan that describes how the resulting IP will be managed in a way that advances science and benefits the State of California.”  That implies the subdivision (h) balancing test that’s in the text of the initiative, which is one sentence.

Are you—hopefully, as you move forward and come back with some final recommendations—are you going to define the variables or the factors or the criteria of benefit to the state?  Do you envision yourself defining that benefit at some point?


MR. POOLEY:  Well, I’m sure we will have, as I think we already have had some, examples in a nonexhaustive list of the kinds of things that the state would benefit from, yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me go to those because I believe you do in fact outline them—or maybe it’s Dr. Penhoet’s criteria that I saw.  And maybe they’re consistent.  Providing cures.  In Dr. Penhoet’s final statement:  “I believe that the State of California may achieve economic benefits from CIRM-funded research in a number of different ways, including providing cures”—as opposed to lifelong therapies for patients—“increased economic activity resulting from growth in the industry, jobs, taxes, economic development, direct remuneration to the state from arrangements with industry which provide royalties or other forms of revenue sharing.”  And Dr. Penhoet, I’m going to ask you on point with that one.  That seems to be a contradiction with everything we’ve heard from bond counsel in our ability to direct remuneration to the state from arrangements with industry to provide royalties or other forms of revenue sharing.  That appears to be a challenge, if not highly unlikely.  But also, the other benefit was, “substantial increases in research and developments.”  Are those along the lines of what your thoughts are on benefits to the State of California?


MR. POOLEY:  Yes, they are.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I mean, these are all great benefits.  They were part of the campaign, but there’s no assurance that these benefits will flow in terms of access to people who don’t have healthcare coverage.


MR. POOLEY:  That is a risk.  There isn’t any experience that will tell us exactly what will happen.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  The CCST report, I was disappointed in that it concludes that, Oh yeah, there’s these other models out there—IAVI, NIH Foundation, the Gates Foundation funding—but they’re too premature; we don’t know what the outcome will be.  Is it the intent of the CCST in their final report to revisit those recommendations and actually spend a bit more time?  It was rather conclusory; yet, there are models out there.  But we don’t know about them, and they weren’t really dealt with effectively in the report.  Is CCST going to go back and look at those models as well as the ones that we’re discussing in this committee and we’re getting recommendations to ICOC to consider?

MR. POOLEY:  We intend to continue to look at any evidence that we can get on any programs anywhere that will provide useful input to our conclusions.  But it’s empirical data that we’re looking for to tell us how these things work; otherwise, they’re simply ideas, and they deserve comment as ideas.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, they’re more than ideas.  Let me just correct you there.  Mr. Baltimore himself, who’s on the ICOC board, has received a Gates Foundation grant—of how much?—20 million to pursue research.  Embrace that.  It indeed has a model that conditions global access to any therapies or any discoveries in research.  That is not insignificant.  I think Gates has funded over nearly half a billion dollars in research thus far.  To suggest that somehow those are substantial—and again, with the condition of global access; meaning, sharing of research discoveries—is that a model that you will commit some time and resources to in your final report?  And we’ll provide the empirical data you need.


MR. POOLEY:  Again, we’re going to look at all information that’s available to us, but what we’re looking for is information about programs that would be comparable to what we’re talking about here.  Again, a choice has to be made:  Are you going to grant money and sort of let it go and not participate . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  With conditions.


MR. POOLEY:  With conditions.  Or, are you going to grant money with the expectation and design that it will produce therapies that will require the participation of industry?

SENATOR ORTIZ:  There’s no absence of private industry participating in the IAVI or the NIH Foundation or the Gates Foundation funding.  I mean, they’re there receiving and taking and thanking, as Mr. Baltimore was quoted.  


MR. POOLEY:  I understand.  I’m talking about industry investment later on to take discoveries into commercialized products through the FDA process, through trials, and so on.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, I don’t know that global access precludes that.


MR. POOLEY:  I’m sure it doesn’t.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I would hope you would look at this with openness and look at these models as equally compelling as a private sector model that you’re espousing, which is an appropriate model when you borrow private sector money.


MR. POOLEY:  What we’re trying to do is find models that can tell us how things actually work through the development process.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  You know, I really wanted to go and spend a bit more time, but even your recommendations appear to be sort of general statements coming close to some of the policies that I’d like to see, but they don’t really have any substance or teeth in them.  

March-in rights have never been exercised under Bayh-Dole, but you believe that by an auditing and a reporting and a tracking mechanism under CIRM that march-in rights could indeed then be exercised in California.  I mean, I think you touch on it:  “Consistent with Bayh-Dole, if grantees do not move forward in developing their inventions for the public benefit, then CIRM should retain the right to step in to do so.  Under Bayh-Dole, the federal funding agency has the authority to license an invention it funded if the grantees don’t take action to achieve”—and this is your test—“achieve practical application of the invention in a reasonable amount of time.


How would you define “achieve practical application of the invention,” and what you would consider to be “a reasonable amount of time,” if we were to flesh out that statement?

MR. POOLEY:  That can only be determined according to the specific invention therapy that you’re talking about and in the context of those facts.  You can’t set up a single period of time that would apply to all therapies and treatments across the board, as far as I know.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  The one case in which an effort was made to exercise the march-in rights—what was the product?  Norvir.  They declined allowing the exercise of those rights.


MR. POOLEY:  Well, again, it was a decision made by another agency of the federal government.  I guess what we would hope is that the state government agencies, given march-in rights, would exercise their own judgment about when to use them.  But my understanding was that that developed because the march-in rights were asked to be exercised for a reason that march-in rights were not designed for.  At least that was the decision of the NIH.  But again, this would be for the state to exercise in its own judgment.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  I appreciate that.  I mean, I understand your position.  I was disappointed in the CCST report because it really kind of dismissed pretty summarily what we had hoped to have considered.  You have suggested you’re going to go back and revisit those.  I do hope that there will be a good-faith effort to look at as fully the models that we have suggested, whether it’s global access or whether it is a model that assures lowest available price.  I hope that those will be as vigorously pursued as options—even if they’re ultimately dismissed by your final report—as the other models under Bayh-Dole.  That’s all I would ask.

Dr. Penhoet, I know we’re rushed on time, but I really do need to get to a couple of questions.  You indicated that the ICOC will wait for the National Academy of Science preliminary reports on IP recommendations and that you have a February deadline.  But I also heard from Mr. Israel and Mr. Fernandez from the Treasurer’s Office—and Perry Israel from bond counsel—that there are discussions going on to develop IP policy scenarios to present to the IRS.  Is anyone from the ICOC participating in those meetings, that you’re aware of?


DR. PENHOET:  Not directly in the meetings, no.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Are they indirectly in the meetings?


DR. PENHOET:  There may be conversations—not with me—that have gone on.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But you are the chair of the committee that is developing the ICOC.


DR. PENHOET:  Of the task force.  I am.  I mean, I don’t know exactly where you’re trying to get with this, but there’s a broad menu of possibilities associated with remuneration, which is the point you brought up before.  I think within that . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No.  Mr. Israel from Orrick, Herrington and Mr. Fernandez from the Treasurer’s Office shared with this committee that there are communications going on, on the three models that could be considered as policies:  either global access to the discoveries of research or this model of allowing a lowest available price.  You know, working through the hypotheticals of how we don’t violate our tax-exempt status.  That there are discussions going on, on that broad policy, that I am appreciative of, and that they’re proposing those policy scenarios to be run by the IRS to assure that we won’t jeopardize our tax-exempt bonds.  


Now, I assume that since my office is not in communication and a part of those discussions on that policy development, that hopefully, someone from ICOC is in communication.  If you’re unaware of that as the chair of the committee, then I wonder who it is ICOC is dealing with in the Treasurer’s Office on those policies.

DR. PENHOET:  Well, our committee is charged with the responsibility of developing the policies and not associating with the federal government about what those policies will be. 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No, no, no.  Working with the Treasurer’s Office.  Is anyone from ICOC . . . 


DR. PENHOET:  As I said, I am not directly interacting . . . 

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Are you aware that anyone, either from the staff or the board, is dealing with it—Orrick, Herrington or the Treasurer’s Office—to develop that policy?


DR. PENHOET:  There may be others.  I haven’t been involved in any of those conversations.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You’re personally not aware of anyone from your body doing that.


DR. PENHOET:  Well, there are numerous conversations going on around the various issues related to the bans and to the bonds, et cetera.  Those are primarily driven by Bob Klein.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I just want to know who’s working on the policy and whether or not there’s going to be input from all parties and that your committee at least is aware of what Mr. Klein or anyone else is doing in negotiating with the Treasurer’s Office.  I hope that information is shared with you because this is a very important policy.  It’s the crux of this hearing.


DR. PENHOET:  No, I understand that, but I think with respect to what the ramifications of our policies would be—vis-à-vis taxed or tax-exempt bonds—I’ve been briefed on this issue.  But I think in the end, quite frankly, the business analysis will have to come down to whether the remuneration that would result from the collection of royalties shared with the state would likely be greater than the excess costs of taxable bonds.  As a business person, that’s the way we analyze the situation.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, the only comments I’ve heard from members of your board—not you directly that I recall—in communications with me directly or in public, is that that is not the obligation of the CIRM and ICOC:  Those are laudable goals, Senator Ortiz, to assure that there’s access for working poor and uninsured, but that’s not our task as a policy-making body.  So, I hope that there will be a revisiting and a reconsideration of that as long as it’s legally sustainable with the mechanism of using the bonds.

DR. PENHOET:  We’re trying to be sensitive to that issue, to be sure.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.


DR. PENHOET:  And then, you did ask about the direct remuneration statement I did make, and I want to clarify.  

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Oh, yes.  Please.


DR. PENHOET:  First of all, we do expect to, from time to time, deal directly with the private sector.  In those cases, the CIRM, in any model of IP, would have to be the organization which in fact negotiates the royalties or other remuneration from a private sector entity as a result of them receiving funding.  The state does have precedence in this regard.  When I was CEO of Chiron, we got state grants.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But not through a bond, Dr. Penhoet.


DR. PENHOET:  No, not through a bond.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think legal counsel was very clear.  You cannot get royalties back to the state when the origin of that funding is bond versus general fund.


DR. PENHOET:  And I wasn’t making a distinction about the source of funding.  I was just trying to clarify a point for you, which is that, irrespective of where the funding came from, there is a precedent of the state directly entering into negotiation with private firms to develop medical therapies.  I know that from personal experience as a result of receiving funds from the State of California to help us develop an AIDS vaccine.  Unfortunately, we were not successful.  We would have been thrilled to pay the royalties that we agreed to pay had we been successful.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But let me ask you to consider something and take it away with you.  When any source of funding—private; General Fund; anything other than tax-exempt bonds—are used, you can extract out that royalty return.  When you use tax-exempt bonds, which I think the voters envisioned were the primary means of financing Prop. 71, even though they do have available taxable bonds, you cannot do that very model that you are familiar with, with General Fund dollars.  There’s a distinction.  Tax-exempt bonds have a bar under the federal tax law that preclude revenues and royalties coming back to the state or any entity of the state.  That’s a huge problem if we intend to use tax-exempt bonds.


DR. PENHOET:  And that’s very clear to us at this point in time.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, I assume that this statement—“direct remuneration to the state from arrangements with industry which provide royalties or other forms of revenue sharing”—well, this is a way you said CIRM could fund research in a lot of different ways.  One of the ways was “direct remuneration to the state from arrangements with industry which provide royalties or other forms of revenue sharing.”  I would suggest you amend that as long as it’s from the use of taxable bonds versus tax-exempt bonds.  That’s the problem.

DR. PENHOET:  It is our understanding, based on what we’ve heard so far, that if we receive such remuneration, that it would have to be as a result of the sale of taxable bonds.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Correct.  Okay, good.  I appreciate that.


I know we’re behind time and we have a speaker that is late, but go ahead, Mr. Jones.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  I apologize.  Just very quickly.  Dr. Penhoet, thank you, again, very much.  I appreciate your written testimony and your verbal testimony to the effect that you as the chair and your task force are going to very seriously listen and consider a range of alternatives here with regard to how to handle intellectual property.  I know you had an initial meeting last week at which there was some presentations made by CCST and some of those in the biotech industry.  My question is:  Will you invite some of those who have alternative views—some of which we’ll hear later this afternoon—to come and make presentations with equal time and given equal serious consideration as you did with regard to the meeting you had last week hearing from CCST and the biotech industry?

DR. PENHOET:  Yes.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Do you believe you have sufficient time between now and February to invite those alternative views in to be heard and considered?


DR. PENHOET:  Yes.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  All right.


DR. PENHOET:  We have three or four months, and we’ll try to use the time effectively.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  I appreciate that.  And then, we had a lot of discussion earlier about the Treasurer’s Office and bond counsel seeking the opinion of the IRS with regard to what might be permissible with regard to our use of tax-exempt bonds in this context.  Do you have any objections, speaking as the chair of the IP task force, to having that letter set forth the broadest range of possible options available to us with regard to the treatment of intellectual property in this context?


DR. PENHOET:  I believe that would be the most valuable to us.  I don’t know whether it’s practical because we have heard from Mr. Israel that the IRS does not like to give you a menu from which you can choose.  They always want to deal with specifics.  But, in terms of its utility to our decision-making process, that would be the most desirable outcome for us, from the discussions with IRS.  We could then choose in the menu rather than having to try different alternatives and get responses.  So, it would be very useful to us, but I guess from what Mr. Israel said, what I came away from, his testimony believing it’s probably not likely to happen.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  I was left a little more optimistic.  As long as we can be specific with regard to the facts associated with each scenario, my hope would be that that would include asking questions or asking for opinions with regard to things that were dismissed in the CCST report or dismissed by its recommendations.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Mr. Jones, we have a speaker who’s only going to be on the phone for five minutes.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Okay, thank you very much.  Did I see a nod “yes,” Dr. Penhoet?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We can bring him back and ask questions or do this aside.  I apologize.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Thank you very much.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Members, we are moving into the Bayh-Dole Act as a model for intellectual property policy for Proposition 71.  Mr. Pooley suggested the Bayh-Dole model is an appropriate or an ideal one.  This panel will deal with the question as to whether or not that’s the case.  There are a number of experts who provide their perspective on Bayh-Dole as a model for 71.  All of them have studied or worked with Bayh-Dole for some time and are very familiar with its workings.  In particular, they will share their insights from twenty-five years of the act:  what we have learned from the implementation of the act and what aspects of the act have produced unforeseen consequences that we should try to avoid as we develop an intellectual property policy here.


Professor Eisenberg, are you on the line?  Professor Eisenberg?  Let’s go ahead and dial one more time.


We do have Rebecca Eisenberg.  She’s a law professor at the University of Michigan.  She’s written and lectured widely about biotech patent issues, and we’re quite fortunate to have her with us today, if we can get her through the phone. 

PROFESSOR REBECCA EISENBERG:  Hello?

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Hi.  Professor Eisenberg?


PROFESSOR EISENBERG:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  I apologize for the delay, and I understand you’re on a tight timeline.  


This is Senator Ortiz.  I’m joined by Assemblymember Dave Jones as well as Assemblymember Gene Mullin, and we welcome your participation.


PROFESSOR EISENBERG:  Thank you.  I’m really honored and delighted to be able to participate, however briefly.  I have spent many years studying the role of intellectual property at the public-private divide in biomedical research, and we appreciate the opportunity to speak to you all as you try to formulate the intellectual property policies that will govern the research to be sponsored by CIRM.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, thank you.  Let me just make sure I understand.  How long do we have you so we can apportion your comments/testimony along with what are likely to be very important questions from my colleagues?  How much time do we have with you?


PROFESSOR EISENBERG:  How much time do you have with me?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Correct.


PROFESSOR EISENBERG:  We have about twenty minutes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Wonderful.  Let’s go ahead and begin with your presentation, and let’s reserve some time so my colleagues can ask some questions.


PROFESSOR EISENBERG:  Okay, great.


Like many Americans, I’m really grateful to the State of California for committing these resources to stem cell research, particularly at a time when the federal government is lagging in its support of this promising field.  I think it’s a smart move that’ll bring many benefits not only to the people of California but to all of us.  But I think it’s also important to recognize that stem cell research is not an isolated domain of research but a part of a much larger biomedical research enterprise.  And stem cell research both draws upon and contributes to advances in other parts of this enterprise.  It’s a cross-cutting technology that we can expect to connect up to the seamless web of biomedical research at many different points, and it’s hard to predict where all of those connections will be.


California, of course, has long been a leader in biomedical research in both the public and private sectors, but it has never been an island within the biomedical research community.  It would be bad for both California and for the rest of the nation if it were such an island.

So, these two realms of connection—first, the scientific connections between stem cell research and other fields; and second, the geographical connections between research in California and research elsewhere—are important to keep in mind in thinking through an appropriate intellectual property strategy for CIRM.


Now, as a long-time student of the Bayh-Dole Act and its consequences, I see it as a mixed success.  On the bright side, I think it’s done a reasonably good job of promoting technology transfer from universities to the private sector and has facilitated the development of commercial biotechnology.  This, of course, is the primary goal of the Bayh-Dole Act, was to facilitate technology transfer, and that’s an important success.  It has not, with a handful of exceptions, made much money for these universities, but this was never the goal, and it shouldn’t be the goal, in my view.  The goal is technology transfer.


On the other hand, it’s had its downside for academic research that is harder to measure.  It has sometimes led to overly aggressive patenting and licensing strategies for upstream research discoveries—basic research discoveries—of a sort that could be readily disseminated in the public domain without the need for patent.  And, in some cases, the patenting of these discoveries has led to wasteful transaction costs and obstacles to research, perhaps to the long-term detriment of progress in research and even of product development.  Because most university research discoveries are of this upstream character, I think it’s important to exercise careful judgment in choosing what to patent and what to leave in the public domain as well as in figuring out appropriate licensing strategies for inventions that are likely to be important for subsequent research.


Now, I have my criticisms of the Bayh-Dole Act, and I have followed with considerable interest the debates about what sort of intellectual property policies would be appropriate for CIRM.  Nonetheless, the State of California does not, and cannot, write its intellectual property policies for this important initiative on a clean slate.  CIRM is a relatively small part of a large biomedical research enterprise that has been operating for twenty-five years under the scheme put in place by the Bayh-Dole Act, and this matters.  Universities inside and outside of California have long been on a learning curve under the Bayh-Dole Act.  There’s a notable difference in the success of those universities that have had tech transfer offices up and running since the 1980s and those that have jumped more recently on the patent bandwagon.  The old-timers are typically more savvy, less greedy, and more responsible about the role of their patents in the research community than the newcomers.  A new scheme for California that departs markedly from the Bayh-Dole status quo would start us on a whole new learning curve, and it would take a long time for everyone to learn the new moves.  

Moreover, research institutions within California are operating under the Bayh-Dole Act for a substantial portion of their biomedical research portfolios, including stem cell research.  Introducing a new scheme alongside the Bayh-Dole Act could potentially create conflicting and confusing obligations.  Researchers and institutions within California are part of a larger community that extends beyond the borders of the state.  To the extent that Bayh-Dole reigns beyond the state, researchers and institutions within California might find themselves at a disadvantage if they don’t have the same sorts of rights and bargaining chips as other members of this community.

I have a few suggested modifications consistent with the overall Bayh-Dole framework that might eliminate some of the problems that have been encountered under the Bayh-Dole Act and help to advance the goals of CIRM while still maintaining congruity and harmony with the overall Bayh-Dole scheme.


First of all, under the Bayh-Dole Act, the federal government keeps a retained license to practice patented inventions made with federal funds for government purposes.  And the theory is that if the government has paid for the research, it shouldn’t have to pay patent royalties to use the results.  I think this is a good rule, but unfortunately, NIH has taken the conservative position that this retained license does not cover use of these patented inventions by NIH grantees.  Other federal agencies feel differently and think that the retained license does cover the activities of their grantees.  I would urge California to clarify in its statute that California retains a license that includes, at a minimum, a right for researchers who are sponsored by the State of California to use the patented inventions that have arisen out of previous California-sponsored research.  You might want to aim for a broader retained license for any research uses within the State of California; but at a minimum, your grantees shouldn’t have to pay for access to patent royalties to technology that the State of California paid to develop in the first instance.  You shouldn’t have to pay twice.


A second restriction on the rights of grantees under the Bayh-Dole Act that could be fortified in this context is the ability of the sponsor to deviate from the usual rules when a nonproprietary approach is more likely to further the goals of technology transfer.  This is also permitted under the Bayh-Dole Act, but such departures are limited to exceptional circumstances, reflecting, I think, a worry in 1980 that government sponsors would be too quick to assume that patents would always be the wrong way to go.  

But the world has changed greatly since 1980, and today, research sponsors are much less hostile to patent rights than they were at the time of the Bayh-Dole Act.  The term “exceptional circumstances” suggests that patenting should be the rule rather than the exception, but in fact, it has always been and remains the exception.  Patenting, that is, is the exception rather than the rule in university-based research.  Most university-based research results are primarily of interest to other researchers, and they’re not worth patenting and they’re never patented.  

For upstream research and technologies that are far removed from the marketplace, such as stem cell research, much of the research that you are likely to want to sponsor is likely to fall into the category that the Bayh-Dole Act presumes will be exceptional.  For example, the State of California may wish to sponsor research projects to catalog changes in gene expression as stem cell lines become more differentiated in different environments.  This would be a very valuable resource, but it would be a fundamental research tool with relevance to a great many different problems, and this is the sort of thing that can be expected to be disseminated and utilized more promptly and efficiently in the public domain without having to negotiate for licenses.  CIRM should have the authority to specify in advance that particular sponsored projects are of this character, unburdened by any statutory presumption that such departures from the ordinary proprietary scheme are only appropriate in exceptional circumstances.


Now, I know that Merrill Goozner has been circulating a proposal, that I find intriguing:  that CIRM might create a patent pool for stem cell patents.  A problem with the Bayh-Dole system is that it has the effect of fragmenting ownership of patent rights in the hands of multiple owners, making it necessary for firms that want to develop a technology to gather up licenses through a lot of separate negotiations with these different owners.  This is costly and wasteful and discouraging, and as a number of owners of patents proliferate, the risk that product development will be stalled increases. 


So, there may be a role for a patent pool in this area at some point, and if CIRM becomes an important enough player in this field, it might be a logical institution to get it going.  But I don’t think I would make that the organizing principle of your intellectual property at this stage.  There are already lots of other stem cell patents out there that are broader and more far reaching than any patents that CIRM grantees are likely to get.  It’s not yet clear what commercial development opportunities will arrive in the stem cell field, nor what patents will be relevant to those opportunities.  But it’s unlikely that all you’re going to need is the CIRM patents.  

So, I think this is something to keep an eye on.  You might want to be sure that CIRM has the authority it needs to put together a patent pool in the future, if that seems to be called for, but I wouldn’t start off by requiring that all grantee patents go into a stem cell patent pool without knowing what these patents are about and how they relate to other patents in the field.


One final suggestion is to think about data dissemination.  Data are not generally patentable; therefore not covered by the Bayh-Dole Act.  NIH has made a point of promoting data dissemination by its grantees.  For example, calling for grant applications to address plans for data dissemination.  They’ve done this just in the terms of their request for proposals and in their guidelines for grantees rather than any statutory change.  You don’t necessarily need statutory language to permit this, but I think it’s been a very good thing.  California should follow the lead and try to get its grantees to speak about their plans for getting data disseminated.

A few other items that you might be considering that I would caution against:  first of all, recruitment of royalties for the state.  This is always politically attractive.  It’s not at all attractive to research institutions or to their potential licensees.  It’s been repeatedly proposed in Congress to add some sort of recruitment provision to the Bayh-Dole Act that would bring revenues back to the federal coffers from royalties.  It’s always been defeated.  The point of the Bayh-Dole Act has been to promote technology transfer, not to tax it, and recruitment is a tax on technology transfer and on product development.  You want to be encouraging businesses to take risks of developing stem cell technologies.  If you just let the businesses flourish and collect your usual taxes, I think that you will find revenues coming back to the state.


The second item that you might be considering that I would caution against is a preference for California businesses as licensees under these patents.  The Bayh-Dole Act states a preference for U.S. firms as licensees.  That’s a lot less restrictive than a preference for California firms would be.  Of course, you’re all accountable to California constituencies, and the temptation to include a preference for California firms might be irresistible.  But I think it’s probably unwise, and you want to be sure that you don’t make it too firm.  My worry is that this would threaten the balkanization of intellectual property rights coming out of stem cell research in the hands of different firms and different states, and it might make it difficult for firms to collect the rights they need to move forward and develop these therapies.  
This is particularly problematic for broad cross-cutting technologies, like stem cells, that may have implications for a broad range of problems.  

Geography should not be the primary criteria for picking your licensees, and it may prove to be a significant constraint.  As a practical matter, firms are going to want to locate near the stem cell scientist whose work is funded by CIRM.  You don’t need to try to make this into the _________ in order to get the businesses to locate in California.  Just let your grantees find the best licensees to get the technology developed, and trust that California will get its share of the results at work; and, of course, California residents, along with the rest of us, will reap the benefits of the resulting therapy.


Thank you very much.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Professor Eisenberg.  Let me open up for questions from my colleagues on your presentation.  I neglected to mention that your Law Review article is in our package of materials.  I’m trying to find your recommendations to address those in my questions, but Assemblymembers Jones?  Mullin?  Do you have questions?

ASSEMBLYMEMBER MULLIN:  Just a brief follow-up on that last point, Professor.  You suggested that there’s a limitation—or at least a preference—for U.S. firms when there’s research funded by the federal government; yet, you discourage preference for California firms, but it is state money that’s being spent.  Why is it okay to have a federal preference for U.S. but not a state preference for California firms?  Could you just illuminate a little bit more on that point?


PROFESSOR EISENBERG:  You know, I think it’s unfortunate to have a preference for U.S. firms as well because the U.S. firms may not be the best firms to develop these technologies.  You know, the Koreans are doing great things.  It might be that there’s somebody elsewhere that would do a better job of developing the technology.  I just think that a U.S. preference is less likely to be a significant limitation than a California preference because the U.S. is much larger and most of the biotechnology industry is located in the U.S.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Further questions?


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Professor, this is Assemblymember Dave Jones.  We have your article in the American Scientist, Volume 91—which I found very, very helpful—where you lay out some of the concerns related to Bayh-Dole and its negative consequences on some areas of research.  I appreciated your suggestions about the ways in which we might modify the Bayh-Dole framework.  I’m concerned, though, that some of the provisions contained within Bayh-Dole itself—that is, the march-in rights, for example—haven’t been exercised.  Is your recommendation significantly different from what Bayh-Dole contains so that we’d have some assurance that decision-makers would have a greater likelihood of exercising those rights to ensure the broadest dissemination of the science that’s obtained from this investment?

PROFESSOR EISENBERG:  Yes.  I didn’t speak to march-in rights, but I think that’s a good idea.  I think that the federal agencies have been quite timid about exercising their march-in rights.  Partly, I think the statute makes it awkward for them to exercise those rights.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  In fact, they’ve never once exercised. . . . well, successfully.  There was one attempt, but they’ve yet to exercise those march-in rights.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Can you suggest a way in which to structure the march-in rights provision that would ensure that decision-makers are making the kind of decision that you urge in the American Scientist article, which is deciding what cases are important to protect proprietary rights and what cases do we want to make sure that the intellectual property is actually held in the public domain?


PROFESSOR EISENBERG:  I think the criteria for when to exercise. . . . and I want to distinguish, first of all, between what under Bayh-Dole is called the “declaration of exceptional circumstances”:  the determination in advance that this is an area where we don’t want proprietary rights versus the exercise of march-in rights after the fact.  In the case of exercise of march-in rights, usually there’s a fair amount of information available because you’re operating much later on in the course of research and development when you know what kinds of intellectual property rights you’re talking about and you know how those rights are being deployed and whether the technology is being effectively utilized.  So, I think the basic criterion in the Bayh-Dole Act of making sure that the intellectual property is being effectively utilized, that the technology is getting developed, is the right criterion to use.  

I think in crafting the provisions of the Bayh-Dole Act, the drafters were worried that the government would march in too readily, and so, they made it very cumbersome for the government to exercise those rights.  I don’t have the statutory provisions in front of me, but they have many procedural safeguards in there that makes it difficult for the government to exercise these rights.  I don’t really see the need for that.  I think maybe in 1980 we lived in an era when there was a strong anti-patent reflex on the part of public sector science.  I don’t think that’s true anymore.  I think if anything, that we’ve kicked in the opposite direction, and we don’t need to be so anxious about giving the government an occasional right to step in and extend licenses in new situations.


But the situations specified by the Bayh-Dole Act are the right ones, I think, if the technology is not being utilized effectively.  If there is a public health problem that needs to be addressed, I think they’ve identified the right situations in which you would want to march in.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  And then on the exceptional circumstances standard—or the modification related thereto—it sounds like what you’re proposing is a different standard than exceptional circumstances.  A standard that would, as you suggest, flip the current rule in some way; where it seeks to elevate patenting as the rule and not the exception.  Do you have any more specific thoughts with regard to what alternative standard we might use in that context?

PROFESSOR EISENBERG:  You know, any exceptional circumstance isn’t really a standard.  It’s just sort of a spin that’s set there in the statute.  What the statute goes on to say is when the purposes of this statute would be better served—what does it say?—yes.  It says a funding agreement may provide otherwise in “exceptional circumstances when it is determined by the agency that restriction or elimination of the right to retain title to any subject invention will better promote the policy and objectives of this chapter.”  I think you could just delete the words “in exceptional circumstances.”

ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Okay.


PROFESSOR EISENBERG:  And just say, When it is determined by—the sponsor, or by CIRM, or by the agency, or however broadly your scheme reaches—that restriction or elimination of the right to retain title to any subject invention will better promote the policy and objectives of this chapter.  I think that’s all you need, and then to streamline the process that the government has to go through so that it’s not so difficult.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  And then, you expressed some reservations about CIRM using patent pooling as an organizing principle but suggested at some point they may want to.  What’s the harm of using that as an organizing principle at the front end since there seems to be broad acknowledgement that much of the research that will flow from this particular investment will be, for want of a better way of describing it, sort of primary research that may not directly itself or lead to patentable and commercially available treatments but is the sort of research that needs to happen as a baseline before some of these treatments that we’re all hoping for can occur?  Why not begin patent pooling now?

PROFESSOR EISENBERG:  Well, I’m afraid that it creates an asymmetry between the rights of institutions that are doing research with CIRM funding and other institutions that are doing stem cell research without such funding.  It may leave them at a disadvantage in negotiating for access.  If they’ve already given up their patent rights to the patent pool and other institutions in other states have not, they may be in a worse bargaining situation.  If you could get the whole community to go along with you, that would be great, but if you’re just taking the CIRM patents, you might be leaving your grantees in a worse position than grantees who haven’t accepted CIRM funds.  That might make your funding less attractive to them.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  But they’re not giving up the right to try to commercialize it.  They’re just giving up the exclusivity of the property.  I thought in your article you—or maybe it was one of the other witnesses—cited some cases where, notwithstanding the absence of exclusivity, products were still brought to market by private entities.


PROFESSOR EISENBERG:  Well, you know, you might be able to allow the grantees to own the patents and retain some right for CIRM.  I mean, you could have an inchoate patent pool based on that principle, I suppose.  In addition to retaining the right for further use by your own grantees, you could retain the right to license others to use for research purposes on a nonexclusive basis.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  I think that’s what we’re thinking about here, at least with regard to patent pooling.  You’d still have the ability to license it and generate revenue there from.


PROFESSOR EISENBERG:  That might be a good compromise because then the universities still retain—or whoever; the grantee institutions—still retain the ownership and the right to license for purposes for which an exclusive license might be appropriate.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Okay.  So, if constructed that way, then your earlier reservations about using patent pooling as an organizing principle recedes somewhat.


PROFESSOR EISENBERG:  Yes.  I mean, I’m not opposed to patent pooling.  I just think it’s sort of premature until you know what you have to figure out what patents you want to have in the pool.  But it might be that if you can do it ex ante, you can get enough of a scale that you can then extend it more broadly.  But I would worry about making your funding unattractive.  You’re not the only game in town, even though you’re a very generous sponsor of stem cell research.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Okay.  Then finally, one of the concerns we have is making the treatments and therapies affordable and accessible to all of our public.  We have a large portion of our public that are without health insurance.  Have you given any thought to ways in which to structure the intellectual property regime so as to ensure at some level for at least some, if not all, of these treatments that they’re available at a price that folks can afford?


PROFESSOR EISENBERG:  I think that is a very difficult goal to achieve through the intellectual property laws.  I think that is a matter that needs to be addressed through the public funding of healthcare and through insurance regulation and through other mechanisms.  It’s much easier to use intellectual property to increase prices than it is to use intellectual property to decrease prices.  What’s really hard to do is simultaneously to use intellectual property to promote product development, to reimburse the state, and to lower prices.  Those goals are just all in tension with each other.  So, I think that that is not an easy fit within this scheme.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  I appreciate that, and I appreciate that it may be easier in some respects to use public health funding to take care of the problem I’ve alluded to, but I think it appears to many that expending $3 billion on this is public health funding, and a lot of voters who voted on this voted with the expectation that they would, if they suffered from diseases that could be cured through these treatments, that they would see a benefit.


I really appreciate your taking the time to testify.  

And that’s all the questions I have, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  


I know that we’re short on time here, or you’re short on time.  This is Senator Ortiz.  I understand that your testimony is primarily a critique of Bayh-Dole versus supporting any of the models that I and others would like to see CIRM adopt, like the global access or the nonexclusive licensing or the open-source licensing models.


Did you read the California Council on Science & Technology report?

PROFESSOR EISENBERG:  Yes, I did.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Perhaps I missed your comments on that.  I read the report to really be an endorsement of Bayh-Dole.  What are your thoughts on their recommendations?  Were you a bit surprised to know that the suggested changes to Bayh-Dole that you and others have recommended were not even acknowledged as shortcomings in the CCST’s report?


PROFESSOR EISENBERG:  I’m having a little trouble hearing you, but I think the thrust of your question is to ask me to comment on the . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  CCST report.


PROFESSOR EISENBERG:  It seems to me that it reflects the interests of the institutions that have a lot invested in the status quo.  And I think it’s important to recognize that there are powerful interests in favor of maintaining the status quo, and that when you have a program that although generous is relatively small compared to the size of research funding that is governed by this other set of rules, that’s a part of the reality that you face—is that you’re fighting against powerful currents if you try to do something different(?).


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Given that we may be a small pot of dollars in the big scheme of things but we’re significant in terms of state funding for embryonic stem cell research . . .


PROFESSOR EISENBERG:  Absolutely.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I mean, that model of Bayh-Dole that has raised concerns with you over the last twenty-five years—and correct me if I’m wrong—but your article suggests, and many others have commented, that it has now outlived its purpose in that it now ties up in the Bayh-Dole model/patent restriction world the inability of researchers to gain access to those heavily patented discoveries, and therefore, the theory of anti-commons, is my recollection, is that we’ve had an unintended consequence of actually impeding research.

PROFESSOR EISENBERG:  Absolutely.  I agree.  There has been a downside to the Bayh-Dole Act.  If I were speaking to Congress, I might be urging them to make some changes.  But I think that there are moves that make sense on a national level that don’t necessarily make sense on a state level, given the predominance of federal funding for biomedical research and given the pervasiveness of the Bayh-Dole Act in the current scheme of things.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  I think that does it.  Thank you so much.  I do appreciate your time.  Again, thank you from the full membership of this committee.  Thank you for your time.


PROFESSOR EISENBERG:  Good luck to you all.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  Good-bye.


PROFESSOR EISENBERG:  Good-bye.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  All right.  We are again—lots of good discussion—but a little bit behind time.  I believe we have Alan Bennett, Merrill Goozner, and Jennifer Washburn here.  Let me ask them all to join us at the table here.  Let me ask each of you to feel free to spend as much time as we’ve advised you, but the most important part is to be able to allow time and opportunity for questions and comments.  Other than traffic heading back, do we have any time restrictions on this panel?  Wonderful.


Let’s have Dr. Alan Bennett go first, and then Merrill Goozner second, and Ms. Washburn.  Welcome.


Let me welcome Dr. Bennett.  You are the first speaker.  Dr. Bennett here is the vice chancellor for Research at UC Davis.  Among other things, Dr. Bennett is responsible for technology transfer and research-based alliances with industry and also is a founding executive of the Public Intellectual Property Resource for Agriculture, which is a consortium of twenty-five universities dedicated to the collective management of intellectual property associated with ag research and technology.

Welcome, Dr. Bennett, and thank you for being so patient.


DR. ALAN BENNETT:  Thanks very much.  And I’ll try to keep my remarks brief.  I have a lot of red ink now in front of me where I’ll skip over.


I’d like to preface my remarks with just a short description of the university situation.  We primarily conduct basic research, and this is largely what CIRM contemplates funding as well.  Public research and public research funds do not typically develop products; in fact, very rarely.  And for that, we rely on partnerships with the private sector.  It’s been estimated that about $100 of academic research that leads to invention requires the investment of $1,000 to $10,000 of private capital to bring that product to market.

This single point really creates the tension in developing an effective IP policy.  The policy needs to balance incentives for institutions who do the research to protect and manage the IP as well as incentives for follow-on and really high-risk investment to advance the development of new therapies and products.

Bayh-Dole is the national policy framework that seeks this balance of incentives, and the critics of Bayh-Dole view the incentives as unbalanced.  There are areas where I agree with that, but by and large, after twenty-five years of deliberations, no single consensus has emerged on a framework that’s likely to be more effective than Bayh-Dole.  I and many of my university colleagues believe that it is an effective model.  


As we heard from Mr. Pooley, before 1980, technology transfer from universities and from government-sponsored research was simply not working. There was a catalog and inventory, if you will, of inventions that were not being utilized.  The Bayh-Dole Act was passed in 1980—twenty-five years ago—and the new law was intended to streamline the process for managing federally funded intellectual property.  Bayh-Dole is quite simple in both concept and practice.  It allows universities and other research institutions to claim ownership to inventions developed through federal funding.


The other side of that coin, though, is that it creates a number of requirements for those universities who elect to own these federally sponsored inventions.  Some of these requirements include the requirement to file patents on inventions, to have written agreements with faculty and staff, requiring that these inventions be disclosed and that the ownership be assigned to the university.  It requires that universities must share a portion of revenue with inventors and that they must use excess revenue only to support research and education.  For its part, the government agency retains a nonexclusive right to the invention and also retains march-in rights, that we’ve heard a lot about.  And we’ve also heard about this additional requirement of U.S. manufacture.


Within the technology transfer community, these requirements are often referred to as “Bayh-Dole obligations.”  They are legal obligations which universities take seriously, particularly because the vast majority of research funding is from federal agencies.  For example, in 2004, California institutions received $2.9 billion in funding from NIH grants alone.  And it’s important to note that these requirements still apply even if the federal government only supplies a portion of the research funds, and this is the so-called “one federal dollar rule.”

As a consequence, most universities also have internal intellectual property policies that mirror these federally mandated obligations, and these institutional policies also have the force of law.  If we violate or change our policy midstream, then we’re subject to legal actions by our own faculty.  We have been sued by our own faculty when we don’t subscribe closely to our own policy framework and have lost in that regard.


One thing that’s important about the Bayh-Dole framework is that it’s not prescriptive in many respects and allows a great deal of flexibility.  For example, it does not require exclusive licensing.  It does not require specific royalty rates, but it does allow flexibility for overlaying a range of additional policies to achieve social benefits, such as the requirement to make certain types of results widely available—research tools, for example—or to demonstrate a net California benefit as the CCST recommended.


So, there are a few important things that Bayh-Dole has accomplished.  One is it created clarity about IP ownership.  This is really critical and continues to be critical because to effectively transfer intellectual property, there needs to be a high degree of clarity about who owns the invention and who has authorization to license those rights.  This gets into the issue of march-in rights.  If march-in rights are used frivolously, this puts into question who actually owns the intellectual property.  It gave primary responsibility for licensing to the inventors’ institutions, and this is a point that was emphasized in a report in 2004 by the California Technology, Trade & Commerce Agency which emphasized the importance in having local licensing activity that was close to the researchers and could understand the technology in the context of the broader fields of science.


And finally, Bayh-Dole provided incentives to build the human resource and financial infrastructure to manage intellectual property.  Because the revenues from IP licensing remain with the grantee institutions, this provided an incentive for universities to invest in protecting intellectual property, filing patents, and building the human resource infrastructure to effectively manage and license IP.  This is not an inexpensive activity.  In our experience, only about 40 percent of the patents that we actually receive generate revenue.  This investment requires a financial model that’s capable of sustaining long-term, upfront investment and protection of IP.  We’re able to do that—and most universities are able to do that—out of a history of licensing revenues where, effectively, winners fund losers.  The problem is, in advance you really don’t know which is which.


So, what has resulted nationally and in California?  Bayh-Dole has been referred to as innovation’s “golden goose,” and the economists cite it as the primary policy measure that reversed (quote) “America’s precipitous slide into industrial irrelevance in the late 1970s.”


And how has California fared under Bayh-Dole?  Well, in fact, it appears that the California economy has done disproportionately well under Bayh-Dole, precisely because the framework allows universities to control and manage their IP locally and responsibly to local conditions.  Because the state is home to the most competitive universities in the world, it receives a disproportionate share of federal research dollars and has enjoyed the spin-off of a wide range of technology-based industries that employ Californians and provide life-enhancing products.  In fact, one in four biotechnology companies were started by University of California scientists, and California today is home to the first, second, third, and fifth largest biotech companies in the world.


These are, really, the major benefits that I believe Prop. 71 is likely to spawn, and the focus in defining benefits to the state in terms of royalty revenue is, in my view, missing the forest for the trees.  Having a consistent intellectual policy framework is important to the biotechnology industry, and it’s played an important role that’s allowed the establishment and growth of the industry around the state’s research universities.


So, in short, Bayh-Dole is the law of the land now and governs the vast majority of research results in California universities.  Thus, for most situations the Bayh-Dole framework is not optional—it’s required—and it drives most IP policy and nonprofit research institutions.  Although there is room for improving Bayh-Dole—and I’d be glad to talk about that if there’s time—it really has served the nation and California well after twenty-five years.  Importantly, it’s deeply rooted in both universities and in industries and has allowed the establishment of many strong and effective partnerships in technology transfer.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  I have some comments, but I’m going to withhold them, unless other members feel a need to discuss now.


Thank you for your testimony.


Let me now ask Merrill Goozner who’s going to go next.  Mr. Goozner is the director of Integrity and Science Project at the Center for Science in the Public Interest, which is a health advocacy organization in Washington, D.C.  Mr. Goozner has flown all the way from D.C. to be with us today.  I’m quite appreciative.  He is a journalist by training, and he’s a best-selling author and has written and testified extensively about Bayh-Dole and its implementation.


So, welcome and thank you for taking the time to join us.


MR. MERRILL GOOZNER:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz and members of the committee, for allowing me to be here today.


Proposition 71 is very interesting because it is the first time any state has really stepped forward to get involved in biomedical research—and, really, in American history.  Although, there were some early efforts a century ago when we first got involved in government funding of biomedical research.  And, of course, the Bayh-Dole Act, which I’m here to talk about, is the primary model in which we engage in technology transfer.


But the first thing, before I get into what essentially I’m just going to outline very briefly in my comments—an alternative proposal for handling intellectual property—is contrary to what you just heard and what many of the speakers have said, I think the Bayh-Dole Act, if not failing, is actually in some very serious trouble.  Professor Eisenberg actually spoke to some of that.  I’m going to just try to repeat it over quickly.

But why do I say that?  If you pay attention to what’s going on at the Food and Drug Administration—which I do on a daily basis—it’s a little known fact that biomedical innovation has actually slowed markedly in the past decade just by tens of billions of dollars being poured into research each year by the National Institutes of Health and by the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries.  The number of new drugs and biologic therapies approved by the FDA has declined sharply in recent years.  Moreover, those that have been approved by the FDA are actually tending toward less significance.


Before coming here to this hearing, I went onto the FDA website and looked up that, in this year, there have been 59 new drugs, by August 31st, approved by the FDA.  Only 12 of those were considered significant new therapies.  In other words, this is a rate of significance that is actually the lowest that I have ever seen at the FDA.  Moreover, if you look in the FDA statistics, which are available on their website, you will look at investigative new drug applications; i.e. the point at which the new therapies are actually being started in humans, and you have to go to the FDA for approval to begin that process of your protocols and everything else.  They are flat to down if you look from over a decade ago, and if you look at new drug applications, the end of the process—please consider are “finished” clinical trials—they also have been declining in this decade. 


So, we see at every point of the process at which biomedical innovation interacts with the federal government—the agency that matters:  the FDA—we’re seeing a decline.


In the background paper, I go over some of the discussion about that, and Dr. Eisenberg has alluded to this issue of what is being called the “patent thicket.”  You know, without getting into depth about it, I was at the stem cell meeting here in San Francisco earlier this year, and there was a paper being offered by a law firm out of Washington, D.C. that pointed out that there are currently already 1400 patents in the stem cell field at the Patent and Trademark Office.  This is not a theoretical question; this is something that already exists.  My idea that I’m about to outline about a patent pool actually comes from this paper that was offered by an intellectual property law firm in Washington, D.C.  Being a journalist by training, I am nothing but a creative thief.


So, CIRM can fall into the trap of replicating this Bayh-Dole-based federal system which has generated, I think, as an emerging mess in this field, or CIRM can become the catalyst for cutting through the emerging patent thicket; and I would recommend that California at least consider doing that.  What it could require is that all grant recipients donate their license, their exclusive license, to any insights, materials, or technologies which they’re funding into a common patent pool administered by a third party outside CIRM.  Patent pools have been successfully used in other high-technology industries, such as consumer electronics and software, to facilitate the development of new technologies that require either common standards or rest on a common base of research.  Even the California Council on Science and Technology paper, which has been presented here today, which essentially endorsed the Bayh-Dole model, suggested mechanisms like I’m talking about for the early stages of research.


So, in concept, it’s not a radical concept at all to talk about a pool.  But I think that the CIRM-initiated stem cell patent pool needs to reach beyond the early stages of research if it’s going to maximize the chances of success for what is, in essence, a targeted research campaign.  As researchers move further down the development trail, the pool can serve as a one-stop clearinghouse for all researchers in the public or private sector to get a license to pursue the next stage of their research at low-cost, minimal transaction fees and especially at a minimum amount of time. 


Moreover, the pool authority can act as an agent for implementing many of the other policies and science-based challenges that will inevitably arise as stem cell research proceeds.  It can be a mechanism for enforcing any ethical standards that Californians are concerned about.  The pool authority can play a crucial role in helping the FDA—which will be very important down the road—to set common standards; for instance, on cell line preparations.  What are the standards at which we’re going to adopt that will enable these to be used in people in clinical trials?


Of course, given that California is going to play an instrumental role in future research in this field—at least the way the political environment is lined up today—the way my estimates are, you’re going to be well over half of research funding in stem cell research.


The pool could leverage the cooperation of existing patent holders whose IP pre-dated the pool.  This was mentioned earlier.  Everybody is aware of the WORF(?) patent.  People are aware of the Johns Hopkins’ patents.  These are foundational patents in these fields.  These people have reach-through rights as they license these things to other technologies as people proceed.  The pool actually could be a place where, Hey, you’ve got to work with us; I’ve got to work with you.  It could leverage cooperation.


The pool could exert some influence over the accessibility of the fruits of downstream research.  A condition of obtaining a pool license when somebody comes to that one-stop shopping, they could say, You must contribute back to the pool any licensing that comes out of this.  This, in essence, is an open-source model.  This was used in Lennox in the development of software.  It’s being proposed in agriculture biotechnology by some Rockefeller Foundation fund.  CAMBIA, which is Richard Jefferson, he’s actually donating some of his patents and trying to get this model working in ag biotech.


However, I’m fully cognizant that biomedicine is very different than either software or agriculture biotechnology, and that has been alluded to here today as well.  When you get into the actual human use of biomedical technologies, you run into the most expensive part of the process, and that’s because clinical trials are the most expensive part.  There’s a whole bigger discussion about what is the most creative parts, but this is usually where private capital comes in and has played that role.  It takes years, and while its costs are far less than what industry claims—I wrote a book on this subject; I won’t go into that here—but the fact is, is that it can fail.  And this is serious risk capital.  The price that the private sector exacts for taking these late-stage risks is the right to charge whatever the healthcare marketplace will bear.  

And that, of course, gets to the whole question of accessibility and affordability that you’re so concerned about.  And you should be concerned about it because the reality is, is that we have healthcare inflation in this country that’s going two to three times the rate of overall inflation, and every healthcare economist that looked at that says that innovation broadly defined is one of the major drivers of healthcare inflation.  What few technologies that are significant that are coming through the system are coming through at the highest prices.  And frankly, it’s bankrupting our healthcare system.  It’s a contributor to this.  So, we need to all be thinking about this, and that’s where the intellectual property system can maybe at least be tinkered with.


So, how do you get around this conundrum?  Even if you have your pool, how do you say, Well, if we’re going to get people to bring these therapies to market, how do we create an incentive for the private sector to get involved?  And that’s where there are some people talking about it.  Even as I was preparing the final copy of this paper, there was an article last week in the Journal of the American Medical Association by a couple of NIH researchers that essentially had. . . . they didn’t use the word “prize,” but what I am proposing to you is that there could be a prize system created through CIRM, through California, that would essentially say, Once you get to the phase where you’re going to move into the clinical trial phase, we’ve got a very useful therapy here; that all this pre-work—that we had open source licensing and collaboration—that we encourage that.  Now how do you get the private sector to come in and get the kind of exclusivity it wants before it puts its risk capital in?  And so, what you want to do is maybe create a prize as an alternative to the system of high prices in the end.  A prize that goes to the successful therapy and that the prize is paid off perhaps as a surcharge—okay?—on every use of the therapy.  

Now, somebody may come and say, Well, you know, a prize. . . . well, first off, let me just talk about the intellectual property side of this.  Prizes preserve all of the Bayh-Dole rights.  In other words, everybody still gets to patent their technology.  You know, they’ve contributed to the pool.  At the end of the day the prize would be divvied up among all the people that contributed to this so that all the incentives that exist in the current system remain for the research institutions or the researchers themselves or, for that matter, for the private firms.  On the other hand, what the prize enables you to do is to get low-cost capital to fund the rewarding of all of that research, and then you pay it off by a small surcharge on the generic manufacturing.  So, you’d have generic costs for the production of the technology, plus a surcharge in order to pay off, again, the bonds that might be sold to finance the prize.  And this would add up to be a significantly lower cost for the resulting technology than our current system which essentially allows the private firm to monopolize the product in the end and tax over the length of the patent right the healthcare system at very high prices.

Now, why would the one not be as high as the other?  Why would it be significantly less?  Well, currently, the innovation system in the private sector is very inefficient.  I would argue it’s paying for a tremendous amount of marketing.  It’s paying for a tremendous amount of goods that are not really significant in terms of therapeutic breakthroughs.  There’s a lot of waste, I would argue, in the private healthcare marketplace.  And this is the system of bringing this one particular technology.


My final comment is simply to say it’s sort of a holistic look of trying to reuse California as in the traditional, very American laboratory of democracy sense of saying we have some trouble in our biomedical innovation system today.  Stem cell research, because it is kind of a unique, new area of research, provides an opportunity of saying, Can we do things a little bit differently here?  And if this model were to be successful in one state in one area of technology, that somehow we could redraw our entire biomedical innovation system to reflect these new realities so that we can have not just more advanced technology, which is always a crapshoot—and that was brought up earlier today.  You’ve got to realize the risk of failure.  The whole enterprise is very large in stem cells, as it is in any area of biomedical research, but you don’t want to track from that but at the same time will enable these new technologies to come to the market if they’re successful at prices that the system can afford.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  There’s a lot there, and I want to hold off on questions just because I think I’d rather we raise questions to all of the panel after the final speaker’s presentation.


So, let me thank you for that and ask you to stand by.


Our final speaker on this panel is Ms. Jennifer Washburn, who is a fellow with a nonprofit, the New America Foundation.  She’s also a journalist and a noted author.  I am not finished yet, but I’ve got by my bedside, among a few other tidbits of reading, her book, University, Inc.  It is highly recommended to anyone who is interested in university-based research and the relationships between universities and the industry.


So, with that, I welcome you, Ms. Washburn.  Thank you for being patient.  We look forward to your presentation.  Welcome.


MS. WASHBURN:  Thank you.  Good morning.  Thanks to the committee, first, for inviting me here to testify.


The intellectual properties that we’re exploring today I believe could not be more important.  They will determine not only what benefits the state reaps from its $3 billion investment in stem cell research, but also how those benefits are allocated among the various stakeholders:  universities, patients, biotech companies, pharmaceutical firms, taxpayers, and business groups.  This IP policy framework will also influence and shape California’s research culture for years to come.


I’ve been invited here to testify because, for the last six years or so, I’ve been studying the effects of the Bayh-Dole Act on the nation’s universities and also on the broader scientific research culture in this country.  The question I was asked to answer in my testimony is whether I concur with the California Council on Science and Technology’s recommendation that the state should adopt an IP policy modeled closely after Bayh-Dole.  The short answer is “no,” and here’s why.  The State of California can do better than merely mimic the Bayh-Dole Act.  The state has a rare opportunity to address the Bayh-Dole Act’s most glaring problems, and it should not be shy about finding new ways to do that.


Reading through the CCST’s interim report, I noted that it did on numerous occasions make reference to an issue that Bayh-Dole’s critics are deeply concerned about; that is, the need to keep a large amount of the basic research generated through public funding broadly available to scientists in the public domain.  On page 8 of the interim report, the CCST mentions at least four times the importance of keeping basic platform research available to the entire scientific community, and I commend the CCST in stressing that so many times in its report.  Yet, the CCST recommended giving grantee institutions—the private firms, the universities, and research institutes that receive its grants—complete power to license their research as they see fit.  And this is precisely an area where the Bayh-Dole Act has encouraged the wrong kind of behavior.


The Bayh-Dole Act actually created a perverse financial incentive for universities to seek the most restrictive license possible.  I’m just going to mostly speak about universities, but this would be true of any of the grantees.  Since exclusive licenses are nearly always more profitable for the university, the university has an incentive to pursue a more restrictive license.  Most companies will also opt for an exclusive monopoly if they think they can get it.  Consider the following example, which is one of many I cite in my book.  This is an example of how universities are behaving in ways that are often contrary to the public interest.


When a professor at the University of Utah discovered an important human gene responsible for hereditary breast cancer, the school did not make this gene freely available to the scientific community.  Even though U.S. taxpayers had paid $4.6 million to finance the research, the University of Utah raced to patent the gene and licensed it exclusively to the professor’s own startup company, Myriad Genetics.  This company then proceeded to horde the gene and prevent other scientists throughout the academic community and throughout the world from using it in their own breast cancer research and diagnostic testing.  The company even went so far as to send cease-and-desist letters to academic scholars who work on breast cancer research.


Clearly, when the Bayh-Dole Act allows universities to build monopolies around basic research in this manner, it runs contrary to the public interest and also to the interests of the advancement of science.


Today a growing number of economists, legal scholars, and historians of scientific innovation are concerned that the Bayh-Dole Act’s emphasis on patenting and licensing may actually harm rather than enhance innovation over the long term by shrinking the public domain for knowledge, imposing high rents on creators, stifling competition, and clogging the pipeline for future innovation.  Universities used to play a vital role in preserving the public commons—the wellspring for all that future invention activity.  

It’s hardly an accident that both the biotechnology and the computer revolutions were born in academia, not in industry.  Here, publicly funded scientists were free to work on basic research that did not appear to have any short-term commercial potential.  Scientists freely exchanged basic knowledge and built upon it until one day they made the breakthrough discoveries that launched both the Internet and biotechnology.  Now, by contrast, schools are slapping proprietary restrictions on basic research, even in cases where these proprietary claims are not necessary to promote broad use of a particular invention and instead only serve to maximize the university’s own profits.


There are many examples that I could point to.  One is, Columbia University, really taking its cue from the drug industry, recently obtained a second patent on a lucrative biotechnology technique known as “co-transformation.”  This second patent just happened to issue shortly before Columbia’s original patent was due to expire.  The biotech industry, which had long been paying royalties to Columbia, was outraged and promptly filed suit.  The biotech firms accused Columbia University of egregiously trying to maximize its own profits by seeking a duplicate patent on an invention that was, after all, almost entirely paid for by U.S. taxpayers.


I left this example out because I thought Dr. Eisenberg would address it, but there is a very important example from the University of Wisconsin that is directly applicable to this discussion about stem cell research.  The University of Wisconsin developed some very important primate embryonic stem cells.  This was back in 1989.  Many of the most important of those stem cell lines they licensed exclusively to the Giron Corporation, actually based here in California, and this really became a huge problem, particularly after the federal government restricted scientists to only using stem cell lines that had already existed prior to the ban.  It became a real crisis because suddenly all of these stem cells were inaccessible to the rest of the scientific community.  When I say “inaccessible,” there were very onerous proprietary restrictions and fees that the university and Giron imposed on the use of those stem cells.  At one point—and I’ll just quote here.  This is just a quote from one outraged scientist.  Douglas Melton of Harvard told the New York Times that the conditions that the University of Wisconsin was imposing on the use of those cells (quote) “would mean that I am the ideal employee of Giron.  They don’t pay my salary.  They don’t pay my benefits.  But anything I discover they own.”  So, these kinds of reach-through agreements are really problematic.


Today, fears about aggressive university patenting and licensing have spread to a wide range of fields, including medicine, software, electronics, and agriculture.  Alan Bennett, I know he is very intimately familiar with this problem in the agricultural field, and perhaps he’ll talk to us later about this, but in 2003, the heads of more than a dozen of the nation’s top agricultural colleges and research institutes published a letter in Science Magazine complaining that public sector scientists were hampered from performing basic crop research because so much of the fundamental knowledge that they require is now under proprietary control.  This was really a remarkable statement, and it was also remarkable that these leaders admitted that they, themselves, were partly culpable.  Why?  Because, as it turns out, a sizeable proportion of this basic plant research was developed at publicly funded institutions, only to be licensed off to private industry under terms that severely restricted public use.


So, the question is this:  How can the State of California fine-tune its own IP policy to more clearly distinguish between two very different types of basic research; research that won’t get developed commercially unless the investor is granted an exclusive license versus research that is so basic and useful that scientists both in academia and in industry are happy to use it without any exclusivity or proprietary licensing at all?  Companies are often comfortable working with this research because they know that any end product that they discover can later be patented.


So, what are California’s options?  I don’t have very much time, but I’m just briefly going to suggest a few.  

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Take as much time as you think is appropriate.


MS. WASHBURN:  Okay.  One, certainly, are these alternative patent frameworks that have been talked about here:  patent pooling; patent auctions.  Merrill Goozner, I think, has very bravely put forward a very ambitious proposal but one that has a lot of merits.  Another option is, I think, to create an independent, third-party technology transfer office of some kind.  The state could establish an independent nonprofit that handles the intellectual property stemming from its stem cell program.  This could have several potential benefits.  First, it would transfer the IP decision-making process to an independent third party, and in doing so, it would eliminate many of the institutional conflicts of interest that currently exist as a result of vesting this power exclusively in the hands of the universities or other grantees.  The governing board of this nonprofit could be made up of some full-time, highly qualified, tech-transfer professionals who would be hired by the state:  representatives from several of the universities, research institutes that receive the grants, and also members of the public who would represent various different public constituencies.  Unlike the individual universities which are motivated too often by the desire to maximize their own profits, this collective body would be far more likely to balance the need to commercialize new inventions with the need to preserve a public domain for basic scientific knowledge.  I don’t know whether this would also potentially alleviate the issue of the state’s access to tax-exempt bonds, but that’s certainly something that the IRS could be asked for its opinion on.


California’s IP policy could clearly state that any royalty payments that the state received would only kick in after a new invention had generated at least $500,000 in sales—or you could set the figure at whatever you thought was appropriate—so that commercial development was not hindered in any way.


I just want to note that this committee has heard many times that somehow it’s impossible for the state to receive any royalty revenues.  But meanwhile, under the Bayh-Dole Act it’s perfectly fine for universities to extract royalty revenues.  And so, that mystifies me.


I do want to say, though, that I think it is unlikely—and the State Legislature and the state’s taxpayers need to realize this—it’s unlikely that there are going to be significant royalties that ever accrue from this research.  But if there are significant royalty revenue, I see no reason why the state should not expect a share of it.  It’s conceivable that those revenues could possibly be used to help Medi-Cal subsidize the cost of new drugs and therapies for low-income populations, for example.


The other option I just want to throw out is—and in some ways it sounds radical but in some ways I think it’s actually the less radical option—is simply to revise the language of Bayh-Dole.  When California sets forth its IP policy, the policy could be broadly compatible with Bayh-Dole but not identical to it.  Various experts including Rebecca Eisenberg, who we just heard from, Arti Rai, and Richard Nelson have proposed revising the language of Bayh-Dole at the federal level.  And I think some of those revisions need not create problems for the State of California to commingle federal and state funding. 


One of the revisions that I think is very persuasive was proposed by Richard Nelson of Columbia University.  He proposed rewriting the act to emphasize that the principal objective of any intellectual property that is acquired is to promote the widest possible use of taxpayer-financed inventions.  Nelson also recommends that this new language should clearly state that (quote) “The willingness of firms to take up university research results without an exclusive license should be evidence that an exclusive license is not appropriate.”


Additionally, the state could require that any university wishing to pursue a more restrictive license provide an explicit rationale to an independent third party.  They could present it for review to an outside board of some kind—a board appointed by the state or a board composed of the membership that I suggested earlier.


So, essentially, there would be this additional check against exclusive licensing or more restrictive licensing of state-funded research.  This would ensure that when it comes to the state-funded stem cell program, more restrictive licensing is the exception rather than the norm. 


So, I hope these comments have been helpful.  And thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you very much.  I’m sure there are questions from my colleagues, so let me extend that invitation for them to speak first.  

ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Just a question for Mr. Bennett, taking up the issue raised by Ms. Washburn.  If one of the principal benefits of Bayh-Dole is to create incentives for the private sector to invest in and commercialize research discoveries, and one of its alleged benefits is pushing out the research into the market, why should we allow universities to collect royalties on any of this?  Wouldn’t that allow the research to get into the market that much faster?


MR. BENNETT:  Interesting question.  I did talk at one point about the incentives that Bayh-Dole created to actually build an infrastructure to manage intellectual property.  The ability to recover revenues is really two issues here.  One, our primary mission as a university is to create knowledge and to educate.  Technology transfer is a byproduct of our research, and we use the revenues that we generate from that technology transfer to fund the infrastructure to actually allow that to happen.  As I mentioned, we invest routinely upfront in new inventions, not knowing if they’ll ultimately recapture any of that investment or not.  So, one reason is that, in that those revenues go in and keep the cycle going.


The second reason is, from our perspective as a public institution—maybe less true for a private university—we’re managing a public asset.  And so, if we were going to provide access to inventions, we’d need to provide it at a market value so that we don’t advantage one company over another.  Those revenues, when they do come back, support research and education only in the university.  So, there’s several reasons why these revenues fuel the whole process and feedback into the primary missions as well.


ASSEMBLYMAN JONES:  It seems to me that both those rationales would support the state accruing a revenue stream as well.  Have you had any experience with patent pooling in the agricultural sector, and if so—or any other sector, for that matter—could you share with us your experience on that?


MR. BENNETT:  I’m involved in a patent pool now; one a fairly broad conceptual pool, another rather specific where we’re trying to enable a particular project—in this case a humanitarian project.  In that case, we are working with a number of institutions to pool the required technologies that we need to accomplish this particular objective and negotiating those rights on an institution-by-institution basis. 


Typically, if you make comparisons to the electronics industry, patent pooling is coupled with the setting of standards; for example, the standards to create a DVD and then to identify the technologies that are required to do that.  From an anti-trust perspective, it’s important to be careful that you only include technologies that are essential and complementary, or you can run into some kind of antitrust problems.  So, let’s say it can work very well and it has been shown to work very well to enable broad public benefit in the electronics industry.  It’s just being explored in the life sciences arena, but I think on a specific case-by-case, it’s possible.


Looking at stem cells it’s an interesting situation.  I think it was mentioned that there are 1400 patents existing in the space already.  When I looked, I actually came up with 7,000.  A quarter of which are assigned to universities and not-for-profit research institutions.  So, there’s already a lot of intellectual property out there, and what CIRM will fund moving forward will be extremely important.  But there really ought to be paid some attention to these wide range of IP that exists outside California, that will exist outside of CIRM, because any patent pool is only effective to the extent that it really can capture the specific elements that are important.  We don’t know whether CIRM will really encompass those elements or not.  So, I think this is an area that’s well outside the CIRM IP policy, but I do think the anti-commons is a real issue and likely to be important in stem cells, and someone ought to be paying attention to that.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:   Okay, great.  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Assemblymember Mullin?


ASSEMBLYMEMBER MULLIN:  Thank you very much to the panel.  I didn’t realize we had a skateboard park right above us.  I want you to know, I paid attention to all three of you despite the fact there was some distractions there.


I would just like to make a general comment.  This has been very helpful, I’m sure, to the audience and to me as one member of the Legislature to hear at least some suggestion options beyond what has initially been recommended by CCST.  I think what it does is it kind of expands the scope of potential.  I thank you for that and look forward to continuing to work with the chairs of Health and Judiciary to see if there’s ways to frame some other additional debate.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you. 


Well, I’ve got a number of questions.  Let me just start out with Mr. Bennett.  Thank you for your testimony and your presentation. 


Let me just say I agree with you in terms of whether you believe it’s not a good business practice or it may actually be counterproductive to try to extract out a revenue stream to come back to the state—for whatever rationale that you think that that is not an ideal.  Let me just say I agree with you primarily because it’s going to be difficult, if not impossible, using tax-exempt bonds.  So, my objection is more of a legal challenge.  As much as I have absolute confidence in the Treasurer’s Office and bond counsel to try to find a way to do that, as they should try to pursue that—and this goes to Ms. Washburn’s comments—I mean, we have this anomaly, this problem, that is defined by federal tax law that is a direct conflict in using state-issued, tax-exempt bonds or government-issued.


MS. WASHBURN: Did I hear correctly that just the issuance of the grant already violates the bond?  Or did I have that wrong?  That that violates one part of the bond permit provision, and then the second part is . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  There’s a two-part test and both prongs of the test have to be met in order to cleanse it or to allow tax-exempt bonds to be used.  In fact, they could be violated.  One of the prongs could be not met subsequent to issuance, and then there’s a whole other problem as to how one handles that.  So, it’s a pretty difficult, if not impossible, challenge; although, the Treasurer’s Office has suggested that somehow there’s a way to combine the bond package, that perhaps they will get the bright-line direction from the IRS, but thus far it’s yet to have been provided—ever, I believe.


So, let me say I just agree that that. . . . I mean, as much as the language of the initiative purports on subdivision (h) to be able to extract out a revenue stream or royalties, I don’t know if it was anticipated to be exercised only with taxable bonds or whether, indeed, there was ever any intention to use that.  It’s really, for the most part, going to be difficult, if not impossible, to get royalties back to the state and either put it in a foundation or either back into a revenue stream for healthcare programs or whatever.  We can’t use government-issued bonds to generate revenue back to the state.  That’s kind of the simple response.


Having said that—and that was your point—what we’re attempting to do, and hopefully we’ll close, is that there are some other models out there, and we’ll hear on the next panel what those other models are.  They are the models of global access to those underlying first stages of pure research that are the tools and building blocks to further research and discoveries.  And the other model is also whether or not a commitment of some sort can be made—as Mr. Heir indicated and was based on the brief facts I provided—that if we conditioned granting dollars to a public or a private entity, that it doesn’t appear that we would violate the federal tax prohibition on generating revenue back to the state if we conditioned the receipt of those dollars on a promise to provide the lowest price available in the market back to the state.  That doesn’t appear to violate on point. 


There are some other models that were recommended, but let me just say I agree with you.  I think we all need to dispel ourselves of the. . . . at least let me make it clear.  I am not expecting that we’re going to get any revenue back to the state out of royalties or licensing agreements, and if we can, that’s great.  I’d like to see the bond counsel try to achieve that.  But I think it’s a huge, huge obstacle that has yet to be overcome thus far.


Let me go on to say, however, that those other models are models I would ask you to consider and others to consider that again comes back and benefits the state. 


Let me ask Mr. Goozner—and I’m going to get to Ms. Washburn—but you had suggested a number of innovative ways that California could manage intellectual property associated with stem cell grants, including through patent pooling.  That differs from what appears to be the initial recommendation of Ms. Eisenberg.  But it’s been acknowledged by Mr. Bennett it’s a potential way of benefiting the state:  patent pooling and offering prizes to encourage biotech and pharmaceutical companies to compete for the rights to use technology developed with public funds. 


Have any of these techniques been applied successfully and practiced elsewhere?  I know it’s being contemplated on the federal level as an amendment to Bayh-Dole, is my understanding.

MR. GOOZNER:  If you look at the prize, there are some instances in economic history where these things have been used.  I think the most famous one is the sextant, which is used on ships.  It was actually created through a prize system rather than through patents.  But in terms of this is a relatively new idea—although, people who are concerned about access are increasingly attracted to it—I would just simply underline that a couple of NIH researchers—one of them being Ezekiel Emmanuel, whose brother is Representative Emmanuel in Congress, who is at NIH—just wrote a piece—and I would recommend it to you—in last week’s Journal of the American Medical Association in which he talked about buy-outs, which is, in essence, a prize.  He didn’t use the word “prize,” but what he said was that once industry has gotten to the point where they’ve gotten a technology that has been approved by the Food and Drug Administration and they’re going to bring it to market, maybe we can just simply buy it out so that we don’t put the burden on the healthcare payment system as a way of paying for that innovation.  That’s essentially what a prize system is trying to get at.


The way the system works today is that the patent system, when you grant an exclusive license. . . . say, for instance, CIRM were, in the end, to have developed the technology over the next ten years that actually led to a very successful therapy.  Whatever system you had, if a university was the ultimate patent holder in that and it licensed it to a private firm, that private firm is probably not going to get involved unless it gets an exclusive license at some point.  And frankly, people understand the full biomedical train of events that takes place in bringing a successful therapy to the public . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  To the market.


MR. GOOZNER:  To the market but to the public to get it done.  In the end, most of your costs get back-loaded.  It’s rather unique in that regard.  It’s not like agriculture biotechnology.  It’s not like software where the guy sitting in. . . . you know, the last step is just as important as the first step and they probably pretty much cost the same thing.  This is a case where you might be running clinical trials with hundreds, if not thousands, of people involved.  There’s per-patient costs.  It is a big burden.  And so, when the private sector comes in. . . . you know, I will say that historically there are many models where the federal government funds clinical trials.  There’s a national cancer network for cancer clinical trials that is funded by the National Cancer Institute.  There’s the AIDS campaign over the late 1980s and throughout the 1990s, and to this day there’s an AIDS clinical trial research group that’s primarily funded by the National Institutes of Health. 


So, I’m not saying that the public sector can’t do it, but if you want to preserve private sector participation—and I’m trying to say that a prize system does preserve it—that you would have to grant at some point an exclusive license to whoever was involved because no company is going to say, Wow, I’m going to put my money up unless I know that I’m the only one who’s going to get that portion of the prize because I’m putting up the risk capital of those final clinical trials or the clinical trials throughout.  The proposal that I’ve tried to outline tries to take into account some of those things.


Now, you asked the question:  Has anybody tried the prize system?  I would say no, not in recent history; and so, it’s a rather unique idea.  On the other hand, the pooling question is fairly common today, and it is being increasingly talked about. 


And I would just underscore this point about patent pooling.  We do have some objective evidence—and Professor Eisenberg, in her comments, didn’t go quite as far in her verbal comments today as she’s gone in some of her written comments—but there is evidence to suggest that the university-based licensing system of early-stage research has led to this patent thicket, is the way it’s referred to in the literature, in which you have long and intense negotiations over material transfer agreements between institutions and between private sector that lords(?) on their own research rights where they’ve got some involvement.  Giron is a classic example of that.  And so, as a result, you really do have what the economists call a transaction cost problem in biomedicine today, and you do have the objective evidence that the amount of innovation coming out of the system is declining.  And so, it’s almost impossible to prove empirically, but many people are very concerned about this or looking at this and they’re saying, Maybe what we really need to do is come up with things like the pools that have been used in other arenas, in biomedicines specifically, so as to cut through some of these transaction costs, especially in the early stages of research.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask you, in terms of your familiarity with what’s going on in Congress, are they likely to take up any amendments to Bayh-Dole to address any of the issues that we’ve raised today?  What’s the likelihood?


MR. GOOZNER:  The short and long answer to that is “no” right now, given the current system.  And I’ll just leave it at that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s the same system that pushed us here in California to do something better and beyond.


MR. GOOZNER:  I try to minimize my political comments.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I just got a note that Mr. Gollaher has left.  He usually is very great, and I welcome his actually making political comments.  But I’ll hold off as well.


Thank you.


Questions from other committee members?

Let me thank you, and please stay and listen to the rest of the testimony. 


Ms. Washburn, thank you for being here.  In your testimony you implied that a number of forces have fostered what you regard as an unhealthy relationship between universities and industry.  Prop 71 certainly attempts to set up a process to provide funding for the best science that creative minds can come up with.  That’s why many of us supported it and continue to support it despite where we are today.  Having said that, should we still be concerned about the impetus for some of the ideas that may find their way into Prop. 71 grant applications; that they might be influenced from the outset by commercial interests rather than this obligation to society to deliver a greater good?  I mean, I’m not sure how closely you watched some of the discussions with CIRM.  Mr. Penhoet was a bit on the hot seat today, but he is, I think, attempting to find out what’s the best policy for CIRM.


I will say that I would have welcomed a stronger statement that goes beyond Bayh-Dole as an obligation to serve the public.  I mean, should we be concerned that some of that impetus with the Prop. 71 grants may in fact be primarily pushed by commercial interests versus the good of Californians?


MS. WASHBURN:  I have to say, I have not been following this issue closely within the State of California.  I know that there are a number of concerns going on right now regarding conflicts of interest which are a really serious issue in the biomedical field.  And in my book I certainly do talk about ways in which there has been certain evidence of a sort of unholy alliance that has been formed between a lot of academic scientists and industry.  And when I say it’s an unholy alliance, what I mean is that there are a lot of concerns that academic professors are losing their objectivity or losing their ability to perform truly disinterested research that the public can trust.  So, there are many issues in this regard.


I do want to say that the relationships between universities and industry are vital and have existed for a very, very long time.  I devote a whole chapter of the book to the history of university-industry relationships.  And so, I don’t want it to sound as if I’m opposed to academic-industry relationships.  Certainly, this is a whole other area of concern.  I don’t know how much it really relates to the intellectual property.  I think what I’m really proposing is that I think there are ways of making it much more explicit in the language of the state’s IP policy that exclusive licensing should be the exception rather than the norm.  And the more that the state can think concretely about ways to say to the universities, Look, this is our expectation—that most of this basic research that stems from this funding is going to be broadly disseminated through nonexclusive licensing—the better that will be for the whole scientific community and for industry.  Ultimately, I think industry will benefit over the long term if excessive proprietary licenses, if these patent thickets are not formed too early in the research process.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And our next speakers will go to that sort of global access to those early research findings and the policy that I think is one of the models that should be considered, if not adopted, by the CIRM.  But let me just remind everybody that the challenge we face is that because this is a state initiative, the only way we can amend it is to either initiate through the Legislature a cleanup, as I proposed to do in Senate Constitutional Amendment 13, these changes and have it move through both houses of the Legislature by a two-thirds vote and then go on a statewide ballot to be enacted by the voters to amend the original Proposition 71.  That in and of itself is a huge challenge; although, thus far, we’ve had no “no” votes.  I was asked to park the measure on the floor of the Senate out of respect for a very complicated ballot lineup a week from today or so.  I did that and rightfully so.  But, you know, we have a procedural problem, which is even a greater nightmare; that the only way we can change this is to get it through both houses of the Legislature by a two-thirds votes and then get it on the ballot and hope that somebody doesn’t do a huge campaign and a lot of money to defeat it at the ballot—if indeed it gets on the ballot.  So, that’s our nightmare at this point. 


But you laid out some recommendations, and I want to just close on commenting on those with your presentation.


You suggested a patent pool as a means of being a benefit to Californians.  There are some who argue the patent pool is not great; others who say it is a good model and we should look at that.  You also suggested an independent nonprofit in which that would be used to transfer the intellectual property models to third parties and having that independent nonprofit be comprised of tech-transfer people.  It sounds like a great model, and my staff, we’re going to forward all of these recommendations and hope that the Treasurer’s Office as well as Orrick, Herrington and CIRM will consider those and have them go through the hoops to determine whether we can do those, and hopefully, they’ll honor that request.  At least get back to us to tell us why those work or don’t work.


Unfortunately, this revenue to the state, as much as I hate abandoning it, I think we’ll get some clear lines as to whether or not the IRS will allow us to do that or not.  Despite the fact that that was argued in the economic analysis in the campaign, it does indeed pose a problem, I think.  It’s our greatest legal problem; not a philosophical, not a market disagreement as to where the market should or will sustain.  As well as proposing that we take the Bayh-Dole model and revise it a bit in California.  Love to do that if it’s at all possible.  It’ll probably be left with my colleagues for another time of day because I’ve only got a year left.


MS. WASHBURN:  Can I just jump in to say that I think, actually, that   last. . . . I’d be interested to hear what Alan Bennett or others say, but I actually think that that is probably the most feasible; that it would ensure that the state funding was not incompatible with federally funded research.  It would simply clarify that when it comes to any state-funded inventions, that there would be an added level of caution about whether or not an exclusive license was pursued, and that would be a relatively simple thing that I think could be written in that would not conflict with Bayh-Dole but would give the state that added level of assurance that this basic research will be brought ___________.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s my comment and question and request, and we’ll incorporate that directly to CIRM as well as the attorneys. 


Mr. Bennett, if you want to briefly, because we’re going to lose members.

MR. BENNETT:  Quickly.  I think we’ve heard a lot, and I think it’s an area where we have a lot of agreement; that there are upstream inventions that don’t require exclusivity to be maximally utilized.  And I think the CCST recommendation recognizes that and encourages in general ways that these should be made widely accessible.  It includes data; it includes information; it includes upstream inventions.  And I think that’s something that can be overlaying on this policy which is an addition to Bayh-Dole but consistent with it.


The other part that that report talked about is net economic benefit to California, and I think Rebecca Eisenberg talked about that and suggested it’s not a good idea.  I think this net economic benefit to California, she was talking about California licensees.  Well, that’s not necessarily the interpretation in a globalized world.  For instance, net economic benefit to California may be brought about by licensing to a generic manufacturer in India.  And I think in terms of defining that benefit, matters of affordability and access can be specified as one component.  The approach here is one that we think should be quite flexible because situations are going to be very, very different.  But I think this net benefit is an important concept.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  All right.  Mr. Jones.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Just a comment.  I want to thank the panel.  It’s been very illuminating.  You’ve been very thorough, so that’s why I haven’t had many questions.  But I think we have to be careful not to blur the distinctions between the recommendations by CCST and the recommendations to members of this panel and the prior panel.  I acknowledge that, as Mr. Bennett has pointed out, CCST identified three issues of concern, but I didn’t see in their recommendations the same level of specificity or approach that was identified by Ms. Washburn or Mr. Goozner or, for that matter, Ms. Eisenberg, particularly as it relates to—as we elicited in the colloquy with Ms. Eisenberg—eliminating the exceptional circumstances clause in front of the provision dealing with the ability to, if you will, change the existing paradigm and make patents the exception, not the rule, the exercise of the march-in rights, and patent pooling.  I acknowledge that CCST identified some problems with Bayh-Dole, but I really haven’t heard the solutions until just now, and I’m hoping that CCST will look again at those that were suggested here.  And I appreciate Mr. Penhoet’s commitment to look at those that are being suggested here as well.


Thanks.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


We’re so far behind and I know my members are going to leave, and I apologize to the public as well, particularly those under Public Testimony.


We have the next panel, “Alternative Models for Developing Intellectual Property Policy,” and this is a very important panel.  We have a couple of speakers.  I apologize to Ms. Mimura because Labeeb Abboud, who is general counsel for IAVI, is ill but was good enough to try to come in and be a part of our discussions.  I don’t know if we’re going to get him given our delay.


MR. LABEEB ABBOUD:  Hello?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Mr. Abboud?


MR. ABBOUD:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  How are you?  It’s Senator Ortiz.


MR. ABBOUD:  Fine, thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Are you holding up there?


MR. ABBOUD:  Yes.  Just fine, thanks.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Good.  I thank you for bearing with us.  

Mr. Abboud is the general counsel for the International AIDS Vaccine Initiative, which is one model that we have really held out as a model that could in fact be a model for managing intellectual property that stems from the philanthropic sector as well as the emerging field of socially responsible licensing.  Generally, these models focus more on the outcomes and users of the products and therapies derived from biomedical research and in some cases explicitly pursue a goal of ensuring the accessibility and affordability of therapies and products.


Mr. Abboud, who is a general counsel to the International AIDS Vaccine Initiative, is ill and could not join us today but did humor and acquiesce to my request that he answer a few questions that my staff have given him.  At least we get his insight.  Mr. Abboud oversees intellectual property work at what is commonly known as IAVI, the International AIDS Vaccine Initiative.  This is a nonprofit organization that makes grants designed to hasten the development of safe, effective, and accessible HIV vaccines throughout the world.  They, along with the Gates Foundation and the Foundation for the National Institute of Health, fund research and development of therapies and products under intellectual property policies that seek to ensure that the resulting therapies and products are accessible and affordable in developing countries.  

He will be joined afterwards by Dr. Carol Mimura, who is here.  She is the acting assistant vice chancellor for Intellectual Property & Industry Research Alliances at UC Berkeley.  She will describe UC Berkeley’s socially responsible licensing program and provide some general thoughts on how the state may be able to impose these grant conditions under Prop. 71 that will result in either favorable pricing for state programs or access to the early stage of discoveries that are going to be funded by the taxpayers’ dollars.  

With that, let me thank Mr. Abboud and welcome you.  Please give us your insight as long as you can hold up, given your illness.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JONES:  Senator?  Mr. Abboud, if I could interrupt one second.  I’m going to have to depart.


MR. ABBOUD:  My apologies for not being able to join you in person today for your session.  And thank you for including me in your deliberations.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


MR. ABBOUD:  Maybe what would be helpful before getting to the three questions that you had raised, is just to give a word or two of additional background about IAVI.  

As you mentioned, the mission is to ensure the development of safe, effective, accessible, and preventive HIV vaccines.  Central to that mission is access for us—access to a vaccine for the developing world.  When we think about access, we think about speed to market, availability, and price.  We operate across four different levels.  We have a research and development program.  We do advocacy work, public policy work, and then we try to integrate all three programs in the developing world.  We work with developing countries and developing world partners throughout Africa and India.  And in terms of our engagement, we are funding research and development work, but we’re also partnering to move forward various programs.


So, a word about our structure.  We’re a nonprofit organization, of course, based in New York with operations in Africa and India and Europe.  We have, roughly, 150 staff members.  Quite a substantial number come from industry and are engaged in our research and development program.  We consider it to be an industrial model for project management within the organization.  And we have established clinical trial sites in Africa and India.  We’re currently running, I believe, fifteen trial sites in eleven countries, predominately in Africa and India.


In our research and development program, which I think is probably mostly of interest to you and your committee, we have a research program where we fund and collaborate with a group of universities and research institutes to try to study and resolve a couple of key scientific questions that our scientists feel need to be resolved in order to move a vaccine development forward.  And on the development side, we partner with biotechs, pharmaceutical companies, and academic institutes to develop specific vaccine candidates.  So, first is, really, further upstream and more applied research, and the second is developing a specific platform or a specific strategy and a bilateral partnership largely with industry. 


So, if that’s helpful, maybe we can turn to your questions.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay, great.  First off, how much has IAVI granted for research with this global access model as a condition of that granting of dollars?  How much has IAVI granted in total dollars for this research?


MR. ABBOUD:  In the aggregate, IAVI has been in existence since 1996.  It was a small organization in ’96 and a much larger one today.  So, we’ve had a gradual increase in our activities and our capabilities.  And our budget today is much larger than it was initially.  This year’s budget is roughly $75 million.  Roughly three-quarters of that goes into our R&D program.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And that was for this year, but over the length of its existence, how much has been granted under IAVI?


MR. ABBOUD:  We have spent both on our own operations as well as our external funding probably something short of 300 million—between 250 and 300 million—and a substantial part of that, the majority of that, has been to fund outside engagements.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask, since I know we’re not going to have you long.  A key concern that has been expressed by the proponents of Bayh-Dole as the model that should be used—CCST as well as some comments by CIRM members thus far—is that the framework presented in the CCST report attempts to negotiate favorable pricing arrangements for therapies developed from Prop. 71 supported inventions and tools; that this negotiation will discourage investment by commercial partners that are necessary to develop products.  Have you found a chilling effect on those commercial partners as a result of your terms and conditions of global access?


MR. ABBOUD:  I’ll talk about our development programs because that’s where we have the industrial partnerships and the biotech partnerships.  We don’t yet have them in our research program.  On the development side, again, we’ve had eight partnerships to date, and six of them have been with industry.  Five of the six biotech; one large pharma.  My understanding is that initially, when IAVI was established in its early two years, there was some concern that its views on IP ownership to access pricing might be viewed by industry as noncommercial.  We found in our experience to date, as we look back, that this has not been the case; certainly not in the last several years where we have been able to engage a variety of larger and smaller biotechs and, again, a large pharmaceutical company in partnerships.


The partners, in our view at least—and we hear this from our partners as well—receive from us early-stage funding which is critical to moving these technologies forward.  In many cases it’s platform development, which has other applications for them.  They also benefit from technical expertise that we’re able to bring to the table through our staff and access to our clinical trial sites.  In addition, there’s some credibility, particularly for the smaller companies, to their investors and future partners.  And then on the back end, there are potential future revenues.


So, we found that with this package, it makes quite an attractive, sort of  relationship for these companies to enter into; and within that, we then have the issues of the economics, the IP, and how the program is managed.  And within the IP relationship, there are a variety of issues, including the ownership of IP, the access rights, what remedies there are in case there’s a failure to meet those commitments, and how we manage the separation if there were to be a termination.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Mr. Abboud, I’m going to give a little bit of background for the public who may or may not have read the materials in the packet.  I failed to articulate to the public what policy it is that IAVI has in place.  Your general statement out of the International AIDS Vaccine Initiative poses the question, and the opening paragraph is:  In 1955, when Dr. Jonas Salk was asked who held the patent rights to his polio vaccine, his answer was simple:  “The people.  To patent the vaccine would be like patenting the sun.”  And the opening policy statement of IAVI is that “IAVI funds research and development of AIDS vaccines only under contracts stipulating that resulting products must be made available in developing countries rapidly after licensure at reasonable prices and in sufficient quantities.”  That’s in quantities that are sufficient.  And that policy guides IAVI’s granting of research dollars.  You indicated that there had not been an absence of interest from the private sector biotech community, as has been suggested might be the chilling effect of those who are proposing a Bayh-Dole model.  

This is one of a couple of models.  The Gates Foundation model is another.  But let me just ask you—you said it earlier but let me say it again.  Your condition that in exchange for receipt of these dollars for research funding they have an obligation to make the products available and to do so in a very timely manner after they’re licensed and at a reasonable price and in sufficient quantities, do you have any thoughts on whether that is a model that should be considered among many by the California Institute of Regenerative Medicine as it relates to embryonic stem cell research and the fact that it’s funded by California taxpayer dollars?  Do you see an impediment of that model being applied in California?


MR. ABBOUD:  Well, that’s a difficult question for me to opine on from here because I don’t know nearly well enough, as many of you do in the room, about the specifics of the California marketplace and situation.  But I can say that it’s been our experience that this is a model that has worked—with the caveat that we are in the early stages.  We don’t have a product yet that has made it through a Phase 3 and into the market.  But we’re comfortable with the structure that we’ve put in place and are following through various candidates, and hopefully, we’ll get there.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Have you had any institution or any company say, Thank you but no thank you; I’m not going to seek funding?


MR. ABBOUD:  I’ve been with the organization for the better part of two years, and that has not been a conversation I’ve had during that period.  But I think in the early days there may have been some difficulty in engaging industry when IAVI was a much smaller organization which didn’t have the capabilities that it has today to bring to the table this value-add for the partner.


I would just mention another thing.  In our agreements—and this may not be relevant to your deliberations but just as a point of fact—we either rely on the partner to deliver and make these access commitments—and they’re backstopped by remedies for IAVI; march-in remedies of various sorts that are triggered for a variety of reasons—or we rely on a license that we may take ourselves from the partner to the technology or to the product for the developing world.  We have several different models we’re either going to execute ourselves or rely on the partner, but rely on the partner with some remedies backstopping that commitment.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, you’re retaining march-in rights.


MR. ABBOUD:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can you explain to the public what those are and how they might be exercised?


MR. ABBOUD:  Sure.  In the case where we have an agreement where we’re going to rely on our partner to make those commitments—commitments for access to the developing world on price, on quantity, on speed—we will include various mechanisms to ensure that that happens.  So, in the event that the partner were to terminate the agreement or to abandon the candidate or fail to exercise commercial efforts to register the product in developing world countries while they’re pursuing markets in a developed world or failed to offer at a reasonable price or in sufficient quantities to meet the demand in the markets in the developing world—for any of those reasons—we may have, then, a trigger to either take a license from the partner to execute or to push manufacturing out to a local manufacturer.  And then there would be mechanisms to make sure that the technology is transferred appropriately so that could take effect.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That sounds like some bright-line recommendations.  I mentioned to Mr. Pooley from CCST that there was an absence of specificity on how the Bayh-Dole provisions could be defined—the ones that have yet to ever be exercised.  I mean, this is, I think, a bright-line recommendation on how to in fact exercise those march-in rights and extract a benefit for the State of California.


Have you read the CCST report?


MR. ABBOUD:  Yes.  I thought it was very well done.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, I think it was very well done in proposing a Bayh-Dole model.  I do hope that their final report spends a bit more time on the IAVI model as well as the Gates Foundation model of a global access strategy.  I think in their concluding comments they just said. . .“We expect there will be many lessons learned from IAVI in the global health challenge, but it’s too soon to determine whether or not they’re of any significance.”  So, hopefully, you’ll share with them your sense of accomplishment with the model in IAVI.


Assemblymember Mullin, do you have any questions?  Okay.  I think we’re all getting a bit tired here. 

MR. ABBOUD:  I’ll just maybe mention one other point about our research program because what we’ve been talking about largely has been our development work where we’re taking something that already sits with a partner and helping move it through development.  With our research consortium, it’s a different construct for the IP, and it’s an earlier stage—it’s further upstream.  There we have an agreement with our seven partner institutions, who are academic institutions and research institutes, to share IP and to work collaboratively together on trying to solve a couple of common problems.  All the IP that’s generated through that consortium is provided to IAVI as an option to license exclusively, and then IAVI, if it chooses to license the technology, is responsible for moving it forward through development, presumably with a partner.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Just so that we understand, we’re talking about very earlier-stage clinical trials at the front end, even before your development stage in which the IP agreements are . . . 


MR. ABBOUD:  Yes, it’s very early-stage clinical.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Could you give us the elements of that early-stage research agreement with your partners in that model?


MR. ABBOUD:  In this one it’s one agreement where everyone joins the same agreement, and it’s, in this case, to try to identify and then imitate broadly neutralizing antibodies to try to neutralize the virus and different strains of the virus.  The IP that may come out of that consortium could be a tool.  It could be a vaccine construct.  It could be a variety of things.  It’s very early-stage, still, in terms of the research.  It’s been operating for a couple of years, this consortium.  Once IAVI opts for the license, it then turns around and will license out the technology or partner with a development partner to move it forward.  The expectation among the collaborators in the consortium is that there would be no royalties coming back to the partners from developing-country markets but that there would be a royalty share for the consortium members for any commercialization of that IP.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Oh, I see.  So, it’s sort of a royalty pool?


MR. ABBOUD:  I’m sorry?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Would it be sort of an agreement of sharing in a royalty pool at that front end?


MR. ABBOUD:  In effect, yes.  It’s funneling all of the IP through IAVI, and IAVI’s role is to pull the consortium together to provide some supporting programs to the research conducted in the consortium and to fund the consortium.  And then IAVI takes the IP and tries to commercialize it and returns to the consortium the economic benefit, with the understanding that there won’t be an economic return from developing-country markets.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Interesting.  So, they forego that in lieu of an agreement that’s defined at the front end versus a market return on royalties.  That’s interesting.  Maybe we can see a little more detail and see whether that would be an appropriate model for CIRM.  We’ll forward that to CIRM and the Treasurer’s Office.  Again, the test is whether or not that violates the federal tax-exempt bond prohibition, which is a challenge for us under bond dollars.

Are there any other closing comments or points you’d like to make?


MR. ABBOUD:  No.  I’d just like to say that I very much appreciate the opportunity to engage with you in this discussion.  Obviously, from the materials that were circulated by Peter Hansel, which I very much appreciated, there’s a tremendous amount of work that’s gone into this and intellectual firepower behind this initiative in trying to give it shape.  I think from my side there’s much that we and probably others can learn from your deliberative process, and I look forward to further conversations.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, thank you for taking the time.  I really appreciate you working through your illness there.  Let me also say that we’re more than happy to take written testimony from you, and we’ll have that shared with our colleagues.  Hopefully, we’ll have an opportunity to gain from your insight once again in the future.


Thank you.


MR. ABBOUD:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Take care.


MR. ABBOUD:  Thank you very much.  Good luck with the rest of the hearing.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.  Thank you.


We now have Dr. Carol Mimura.  We’re really behind time, so I thank her for being very patient.  As I mentioned earlier, she’s the acting assistant vice chancellor for Intellectual Property & Industry Research Alliances at UC Berkeley.  She will describe UC Berkeley’s socially responsible licensing program and provide some general thoughts on how the state may be able to impose grant conditions under Prop. 71 that could result in favorable pricing for state programs that serve low-income residents.

Welcome, Dr. Mimura.


DR. CAROL MIMURA:  Thank you.  Thank you for your interest in our program.


Our program at Berkeley focuses on ensuring access to technology in the developing world.  It’s been in existence for about three years, and it has several goals.  It’s described on our website at IPIRA.Berkeley.edu.  The focus on the developing world is not yet a prevalent practice even within the UC system, though there are isolated contracts that resemble ours at other UC campuses.  The program at Berkeley consists so far of fewer than fifteen agreements out of hundreds of active license and research agreements, so we really don’t know what the long-term outcomes of the arrangements are going to be.  But there’s interest growing on a national level.


The initiative stems from our desire to maximize the social benefit of discoveries made at UC Berkeley, which has a strong historical record of providing public service.  In addition to promoting widespread availability of technology and healthcare in the developing world, it also includes a commitment to share revenue or other benefits with collaborators; in the case of our agreement with the Samoa Commonweal—a collaborator who is contributing a natural resource to our research efforts.

Another element of the program is that we want to give proper attribution to a research sponsor or a collaborator.  Several licenses under our program grant the right to commercialize Berkeley patents on a royalty-free basis in low- and middle-income countries.  Some agreements also state our intention to provide low-cost therapies for free, at cost, or with minimal profit in the developing world.


Our socially responsible licensing program at Berkeley involves our willingness to forego royalty on sales in low- and middle-income countries.  This stimulates investment by the licensee and by philanthropic foundations on neglected diseases.  It has allowed, for example, the Sustainable Sciences Institute to develop a handheld diagnostic for dengue fever which is now being used in Nicaragua with funding from the Acumen and other charitable foundations.


Royalty-free license terms for products sold in developing countries coupled to a requirement of our licensees to sell therapies at the cost of development, manufacture, and distribution have also enabled a public-private partnership between UC Berkeley, Amyris Biotechnologies, and the Institute for OneWorld Health, funded with $42.6 million from the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation to develop a low-cost malaria drug.  Also, a collaboration agreement under this program between Berkeley and the Commonwealth of Samoa obligates us to share revenue with Samoa, including its villages and certain individual shaman in Samoa, administered through a nonprofit foundation, and to give attribution as a provider of their resources.  


But please note that this royalty-sharing agreement must keep in mind our Bayh-Dole requirements and restrictions, including the need that net revenues should be used for research and education.  Because of this, no federal funds were permitted to be used in the collaboration with Samoa.  And given the very large amount of federal funding on our campus, it’s not necessarily an easy feat to segment research funding in that way.  All future royalty-sharing arrangements would likewise have to keep in mind the source of funding.

In this contract, we also agree to exert reasonable efforts in licensing IP for public benefit, keeping in mind Berkeley’s and Samoa’s mutual goals of providing low-cost therapies for free, at cost, or with minimal profit in the developing world.  Other contracts under the program include advanced commitments in research and collaboration agreements in which we agree to grant royalty-free licenses in the future should anything arise from the funding, such as a tuberculosis vaccine.


For each such transaction in our program, we know that pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies will not invest in neglected diseases due to the lack of a profit driver.  Under the program, we’re maximizing societal benefit by minimizing royalty income from transactions in the developing world, but this practice brings in more research funding up front.  Even though we forego royalty revenue on the back end, it’s more than a wash.  Another feature of the program includes a requirement, when appropriate, of a licensee to provide therapies at the cost of manufacture.  


This committee, of course, is interested in the relevance, if any, of Berkeley’s socially responsible licensing program to Prop. 71’s intention of achieving, number one, a return on its investment; number two, the furtherance of state interest goals, such as affordable healthcare, especially for low-income Californians; and number three, public benefit for Californians from Prop. 71 funding.  


In general, I believe the strongest parallel is that both programs share an overarching sentiment that intellectual property should not constitute an impediment to research but, rather, should be deployed and managed to support research and to maximize the humanitarian impact of research.  For example, research tools developed under Prop. 71 funding should be quickly and broadly disseminated so that this new science of regenerative medicine can be researched by as many scientists worldwide as possible under a simple and standardized material transfer agreement, such as the template endorsed by the National Institutes of Health in its research tools policy.  Moreover, the Gates Foundation funded agreement that I alluded to for development of a low-cost malaria drug is a novel example of a public-private partnership that leverages private sources of funding to support healthcare and poverty reduction.  

Primary benefits to the State of California will come mainly from results that are downstream of our university-managed tech-transfer programs, such as through reductions in healthcare costs, establishment of California as the hub of cutting-edge stem cell research, and all of the benefits that flow from that point, including new companies, jobs, prestige, concentration of cutting-edge experts, and geographically concentrated private investments.


I was asked whether I thought it would be feasible for California to require in its grants and contracts for stem cell research that any products resulting from or utilizing the research be made available to programs serving low-income residents at the lowest prices the products are sold, and I thought it would be feasible.  Licenses to inventions made under CIRM funding could state that sales to low-income Californians should be subject to the licensee’s best or lowest price offered to any customer.  Many licensees already offer their lowest prices to government customers on sales to federally funded inventions and would not find the practice to be an additional burden.


To give further incentives, IP owners could also forego a royalty on sales to low-income Californians, and the two concepts could even be combined.  For example, if we stated:  No royalties will be collected or paid here under unlicensed products; that the licensee is on notice as to be distributed to or by the state government for provision to low-income Californians.  The licensee agrees to reduce the amount charged for licensed products distributed to the state California government by an amount that is at least equal to the royalty for such licensed product otherwise due.

But we should be careful here because, while the university can easily forego its royalty without creating a disincentive for commercial development, advanced pricing requirements may constitute a disincentive for commercial development for certain applications.  Perhaps the state could also offer incentives, such as tax credits or preferential contracting rights or even expedited regulatory approvals.

I was also asked whether open sourcing or patent pooling approaches have the potential to improve dissemination of basic research, while at the same time ensuring and enabling the state through the pool to get better leverage and achieve better economic returns.  And I thought that, yes, any creative approach that encourages widespread dissemination of information, especially of research tools and data with collaborators worldwide, would advance the science more effectively and faster than in the absence of such mechanisms.  For instance, the use of open-source principles and licenses, such as those that have been widely used in the information technology industry, could expedite and diversify applications while ensuring that improvements of CIRM-funded advances are not sequestered from and do not block the original innovators or their inventions.


Having said that, I think it’s still important to keep in mind that IP requiring substantial industry investment should still be made available under terms that induce that investment.  And tools, for instance—such as the creative commons flexible copyright licenses or the analog to that under science commons for the dissemination of copyright protected data and reports—could be an easy and quick way of sharing copyrightable work.  Also, biological data repositories, such as the haplotype map funded by the Wellcome Trust, provides real-time and unrestricted access to data on the human genome as soon as it’s available, and it relies on contributions worldwide—thousands of contributions—all dedicated to a common-end product:  the annotation of the genome.  And the Rosetta software commons has been developed and is shared right now under open licenses.  It has to do with drug discovery and protein design.  It has many applications in the medical field.  Also, the appropriate use of open publishing sites, such as the Public Library of Science, in biology and genetics could ensure broad and public sharing of publications.


So, these examples illustrate how open innovation principles can be carried out in widely dispersed laboratories, each lab contributing its own expertise, and that open innovation can be applied to biological sciences.

In terms of achieving an economic return to the state under open licensing of research tools—for example, if Prop. 71 grantees create a biological disease model, a license could be granted that could require recipients to use the material at their own risk and agree to share improvements—typically worded as “derivatives”—in biological material transfer agreements with the originator and with all Prop. 71 grantees.  It would give attribution to the source and would agree to the standard state interest rights outlined above, including fair or best pricing should any commercial applications arise.  In this way, the ultimate state interests could be protected no matter how far downstream from the original source the improvements arise or no matter where in the world they arise.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Assemblymember Mullin is going to leave.  He’s been so patient to stay here longer than we were due to be here.  But let me just give him an opportunity before he leaves.  Do you have any questions?

ASSEMBLYMEMBER MULLIN:  No, but thank you.  I don’t seem to find your paper in my binder.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Are your comments in the packet?


DR. MIMURA:  I did submit them, and you’re welcome to distribute them.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER MULLIN:  I’d like to have a copy of your testimony.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’ll make sure we get that to you, Assemblymember Mullin.


DR. MIMURA:  I actually answered some more questions in my written testimony that I didn’t think we had time for today.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me just say thank you so much.  We got a chance to chat earlier before the hearing.  


I think there are a number of people here who are tired—it’s been a long day—but let me just say, we have a component of the University of California system that is actually developed and has a model here for socially responsible policy, and although it’s only a part of the policy of the University of California, I think it’s one that proves to be a model that should be looked at along with many others. 


You have suggested that a key goal of socially responsible licensing is to ensure that research results are disseminated quickly and broadly, which we will hear from the patient groups:  We want research to move forward as quickly as possible as well.  I think everybody agrees with that.  But don’t we find ourselves in a dilemma here when allowing grantees themselves to decide how and when to transfer their findings?  If we leave it to the trust of our grantees to do the right thing, are we inviting, potentially, some problems in terms of that access?


DR. MIMURA:  Actually, that decision is governed more by the nature of the technology.  If it’s a technology that will require private industry to invest hundreds of millions of dollars and ten to twelve years of R&D to bring basic research to the point of practical application, then the owners of the IP typically deduce that it should be given to that company under an exclusive license to provide an inducement to investment.  So, it’s more what the technology is and what particular market needs it would serve or who the customers would ultimately be and the IP landscape around it more than anything else.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me give you a hypothetical.  If it’s just cure Type 2 or Type 1 diabetes, what would your thoughts be in terms of access to that?

DR. MIMURA:  A therapy or a diagnostic typically requires a reward for the entity commercializing that.  And so, typically, it follows the patent model of making it proprietary and then giving a company enough of an incentive to make that magnitude of investment.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  To then in exchange assure timely access and affordable access?


DR. MIMURA:  Right.  And so, if we also added to our contracts that when they have a sale to a low-income Californian, it should be at their best price.  I was proposing that that shouldn’t be onerous to a company because they already have favorable pricing structures, for instance, with state entities.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Not all biotech companies are in the business of pharmaceuticals.  I mean, there is a little bit of a dilemma there.  Well, the big ones are, but some of the smaller startups that actually could provide much more innovation that many have argued takes a billion dollars to go from pure research to treatment, how do we treat. . . . I mean, might there be a different model for a small biotech that doesn’t also have a pharmaceutical end versus a Chiron that’s from beginning to end?


DR. MIMURA:  Are you suggesting that a favorable pricing clause or some restriction on the downstream actual price to customers would have that chilling effect if the company is small and not established and not net-revenue positive yet?

SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m actually not suggesting.  I am just trying to look for some counter to those who have suggested or said that it will have a chilling effect.


DR. MIMURA:  Well, it could be simply that the particular provisions that reach into the ultimate business model downstream would be, again, technology dependent, and we would put one technology or another in a bucket.  If it’s simply a research tool, then we say, Please open dissemination.  Don’t even make it proprietary.  If it’s a therapy or a diagnostic, it would go in the second bucket.  If it’s something else, that it’s just early-stage technology and a company would invest despite the lack of an exclusive license, that company might be very happy with only a nonexclusive license.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think that’s an important point because most of the discussion from the campaign forward and myself early at the front end was an eventual treatment or therapy, but the bulk of what is going to be funded here is pure research.  The discoveries will be how to measure a molecule on a cancer cell or how to develop a new diagnostic tool.  These are, essentially, the building blocks to innovation and fast-tracking research that down the line could be treatment and therapy.  But opening up those and not locking those into patents is a good thing for society.


DR. MIMURA:  Though it’s not a trivial exercise to determine in advance what truly is a tool and what isn’t.  It sounds easy but it’s a bit tricky.  Even PCR that turned out later to win a Nobel Prize and to have a thousand applications, it wasn’t obvious to IP managers at the time how many applications could be engendered by PCR.  It turned out to be a very useful tool.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  What would preclude grantees from adopting burdensome requirements such as expensive or complicated transfer agreements or reach-through provisions claiming intellectual property rights to subsequent inventions developed by the entities they transfer inventions to?


DR. MIMURA:  I wouldn’t think that a company would object to what you’ve termed “research rights” if it pertains to a tool.  They might object to reaching through to have rights granted back to the innovator if it’s outside of the tool category.


I also failed to mention that even though we have a program that we specifically call socially responsible licensing, the University of California had already been very careful in the past to reserve rights for itself and other nonprofit collaborators.  So, even when we patented a technology and exclusively licensed it, we routinely reserve the right to continue practicing it at UC and also to transfer tools.  So, we were aware even before the tools policy was imposed on us of the need to reserve those, what we call, “shop rights.”  And that should be an element of every socially responsible licensing program.  I didn’t think it was worth putting in this program because it was already in place.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It probably doesn’t hurt to be redundant, and I would welcome that policy document.  We’ll forward that to the ICOC, or CIRM, because there are a number of representatives from the University of California on that oversight board, and I think many of them may not be aware that their expertise is in an area where they’re not familiar with it.  I think it’s, again, another model for CIRM to look at.


DR. MIMURA:  And it speaks to the issue of patent thickets.  I mean, how do we as nonprofits navigate the landscape when big companies have locked out certain tools?  At least it doesn’t stop innovation at nonprofits on basic research.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, I would love to ask more questions, but I know I’m going to lose my own staff if I don’t move through this pretty quickly.


Are there any closing comments for the public here?  Anything you’d like to reiterate?


DR. MIMURA:  No, but thank you for your interest in our program and for the opportunity to speak together with Labeed on the similarities and differences of our programs.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, perhaps CIRM will invite you to address their body so you can give them some direction as well.


Thank you so much.


This is the end of this panel.  We now have the stakeholder perspectives, which I apologize—we’re all late here.  We’re going to hear the perspectives of a number of organizations and individuals—their thoughts—about the testimony we’ve received today and their thoughts on how the state might proceed in developing intellectual property policies for Prop. 71 grants.  We’re going to hear first from the ones listed on the agenda, and then we’ll open it up to public comment, as others have been waiting patiently as well.


Our first speaker is Mr. Jesse Reynolds, who’s a project director for the Center for Genetics and Society.  The Center is a watchdog group that has been tracking Prop. 71 implementation from the outset.  


Mr. Gollaher left.  He’s the president and CEO of California Healthcare Institute.  It’s the state’s largest organization of biomedical companies and universities engaged in biomedical research.  I think our time got away from him, and I apologize.


Then we have Ms. Jean Ross, who’s the executive director of the California Budget Project.


Let me ask Mr. Reynolds to begin.  Thank you.


MR. JESSE REYNOLDS:  Thank you for giving me the opportunity to speak.  I am the project director for Biotechnology Accountability of the Center for Genetics and Society.  We’re a public interest organization, and we advocate for responsible governance of human biotechnologies.  And while we support the public funding of embryonic stem cell research, as you noted, we have raised many concerns about both Proposition 71 and its implementation.


The Center believes that provisions regarding returns to the state and accessible pricing or any other such provisions must be made explicit before the individual grant agreements are negotiated.  It will be much easier now than later.  And we’ve heard much about those two implications of the IP policy.

I’d also like to talk about public opinion, that if poorly crafted, an intellectual property policy can undermine public support for the CIRM, because if CIRM-funded research leads to a valuable product that’s priced highly and the marketing company is making high profits and there aren’t returns to the state, then public support will certainly decline.


I’d also like to focus as well on the outcomes promised to the voters of California.  During the course of the campaign, voters were repeatedly told, Trust us with your taxpayer dollars.  We’ll do the best we can to get therapies and deliver them to you, and ideally, the state will benefit in the process.  The voters were told that the initiative would provide an opportunity for the state to share in the royalties.  These claims were made repeatedly in communications throughout the campaign.  Although these pledges do not carry the weight of law or policy, they were clearly a foundational element of voter support, and at a hearing of this committee in March, bioethicist Arthur Kaplan repeatedly called this language “an implicit moral promise.”


Two examples.  In the key presentation used by the campaign for Proposition 71 available on its website, it cites the state’s (quote) “opportunity to share in royalties resulting from the research which could generate millions in additional state revenues for decades to come,” (end quote).  And, of course, we’ve heard that the economic analysis commission publicized by the campaign estimated that the state could expect to receive up to $1.1 billion in revenue.  And earlier this year, the public became aware that such returns to the state might conflict with federal tax provisions.  We were quite disturbed to learn last week from a story in the Chronicle that Robert Klein, as chairman of the Proposition 71 campaign, knew of this likely conflict but did not inform the voters; yet, the campaign continued to project financial returns that relied on tax-exempt bonds and returns to the state.  Mr. Klein himself said on national television in no uncertain terms:  The state will gain intellectual property revenues.  And those two examples I cited earlier also continue to provide estimates based upon the tax-exempt bonds.  If this report is true, then Mr. Klein knowingly misled the voters of California and the supporters of Proposition 71.


On another topic, we’ve talked a lot about health disparities here and that the largest source of rising healthcare costs is the price of pharmaceuticals.  One of our original concerns about Proposition 71 was that it could greatly exacerbate health inequities.  Stem cell therapies are expected to be extraordinarily expensive.  Numbers are hard to come by, but one leading CIRM scientist said that some types of stem cell therapies could cost $100,000 or more.  But the CIRM’s policies, and its IP policies in particular, can greatly influence the degree to which Prop. 71 contributes to healthcare disparities.  We feel that the ICOC is obliged to enact policies to the best of its ability . . . [tape change - portion of text missing] . . . is not encouraging.  The leadership of the new institute has been surrounded with something of an echo chamber of enthusiasm for the status quo; that is, the Bayh-Dole Act.  We’ve seen today that there are numerous critics of Bayh-Dole who have constructive criticisms as well as ideas about alternative approaches; yet, these perspectives have not to date been brought to the table by the CIRM.  An example of this pattern, we think, is the CCST committee.  And we’re very thankful that this committee has brought forth these alternatives for a public hearing.


But, in the end, the overall impression that this gives of the campaign and then the following and then the subsequent advice and proposals coming around the CIRM, it feels like something of a bait and switch.  The Center for Genetics and Society is looking to this committee to provide leadership for ensuring that the promises of the Proposition 71 campaign and the promise of stem cell research in California are fulfilled.  The results of this generous public investment must benefit all Californians, not just the wealthy and not just the pharmaceutical companies.  To do otherwise is to renege on pledges made to the voters in November.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much.  I appreciate not only your comments today but your input as we’ve gone through this process.  Once again, thank you.  You have been pretty vigilant about tracking 71 and its implementation.  Just for the record, so that we understand, your organization does in fact support embryonic stem cell research.


MR. REYNOLDS:  And its public funding, yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Appreciate that.  I just need that to be said time and time again.


MR. REYNOLDS:  Thank you for bringing it up.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Yes.  There are times that it’s been misrepresented, and I don’t want that to occur.  So, thank you.


Ms. Ross.  Welcome.  Jean Ross, who is just a critical part of the legislative process, is the executive director of the California Budget Project.  The California Budget Project, for those of you who are not aware, is a well-known, very highly respected organization that tracks and analyzes budget issues that face the state.  It’s been a very important stakeholder and advocate for access to healthcare as well.  

Welcome, and thank you for being patient. 


MS. JEAN ROSS:  Thank you.  I think this has probably been one of the most thought-provoking and potentially intellectually stimulating legislative oversight hearings I’ve ever had the privilege to participate in, and I can assure you that I’m not here as an expert on intellectual property law, and I don’t speak intellectual property law as a second language.


I’m here because a fundamental part of the mission of my organization is to look at the accountability of state spending and to work to ensure that state dollars are best spent to improve the lives of low- and middle-income Californians.  I think over and over again throughout the debate today I come back to two distinct facts.  First, that the debate that’s been held today is very different than the one that was held before the voters during the campaign around Proposition 71.  I often think that if we could have the debate over implementation of initiatives before the election, perhaps campaigns would be a lot different than they are, given the fact that we grapple with these very, very tough implementation considerations after measures are approved by the voters rather than before.


Second, I come back to the fact that this really is fundamentally a debate around the accountability to taxpayers and, again, as my co-panelists have said, some of the promises—as the members of the committee have remarked throughout the day—the promises that were made to voters when they considered Proposition 71 a year ago.  I think the record is clear—the voter pamphlet is very clear—is voters were told that if they voted to approve Proposition 71, the state would share in royalty monies from the eventual licensing of any commercial products developed as a result of the research supported by the bonds; and second, that healthcare costs for the state and for Californians would be reduced.  And again, I think we’re now seeing throughout the past year that certainly, many of the claims with both respects were potentially overstated.  

I should say at the outset that my organization did not take a position pro or con on Proposition 71, and we don’t have a formal policy regarding public-supported stem cell research.  We certainly generally believe in public investment.  We can talk about—and I think that’s water over the bridge—whether this is the best method to accomplish that goal.  


I think, again at the outset, I think one of the points that’s become very clear throughout the past year and certainly through today is that the state is a critical investor in research.  And again, I think this goes back to some of the promises that were made to the voters.  The state stepped in because of the lack of federal investment in this type of research, and I think that makes the case why maybe looking to some of the current federal models are not the best model for how Proposition 71 should be held.  This is a very unique venture, both in terms of the magnitude and the fact that California stepped forward to fill a gap that federal dollars weren’t filling.  I think basic market economics would tell you that if the market could adequately support this type of research, there wouldn’t be a role for state government.  And so, I think certainly the argument that was made to the voters was this kind of research could only move forward, and again, I think the speed and the pace that proponents hoped were the critical investment of California.


That said, I think there are a couple of different lessons for public policy and for the current issue here.  First, I think a lot of the claims—and I think certainly the recommendations of the CCST report—are similar to those we’ve heard in a variety of other contexts with respect to state investment in commercial activities; that we can’t put strings on how those dollars are used, or businesses won’t take advantage of those tax credits or subsidies and that investment won’t take place in California.  Again, I think the record and the fact that this is a unique magnitude of funds for a particular purpose, I think there’s reason to be skeptical in most occasions.  I think this situation, again, is very, very different due to the lack of federal funds.


I think the CCST report and the committee that oversaw that report were narrow.  And I think the representative of the commission this morning was fairly honest in that regard.  This is not a report or a council that is broadly accountable to California taxpayers.  It’s accountable to the science and technology community, not necessarily to Californians as a whole.  I think that’s a critical fact, and I would urge both the CIRM as well as the Legislature to be cautious in how they use those results as well.


Second, if you look at what other states that have stepped forward to make public investment in stem cell research are doing, most of them are demanding royalties or licensing payments to the states.  They haven’t used the bond model, so some of the tax considerations may not be a factor, but certainly Connecticut, Wisconsin, New Jersey, to mention three that I’m aware of, have all had some kind of licensing or royalty structures in place.  So, I think to say that California can’t do it because the research will go elsewhere just isn’t the case, because, if you look at where the research is funding, they are demanding some kind of a royalty structure.


I know, Senator Ortiz, you said, Well, we’ve got these overwhelming tax considerations with respect to how those royalty payments might be structured.  I don’t think that should be viewed as an insurmountable obstacle.  Certainly, the state treasurer and his representatives have suggested that the worst-case scenario using a structure that relied a hundred percent on taxable bonds might still result in an added interest cost which is less than potential royalty and licensing payments to the state.  So again, I think a very careful and detailed cost benefit analysis should be undertaken.  

As a related issue, I think there are, certainly, alternative structures.  Connecticut uses a quasi-public structure.  I think Wisconsin certainly has the royalty payments go back to the University of Wisconsin.  I’m not intimately familiar with how New Jersey structures their program.  But certainly, some kind of a quasi-public or nonprofit structure should be considered to provide a mechanism if the interest rate costs of going the taxable bond route does prove to be not feasible from a cost-benefit standpoint.  And I think there were a lot of interesting charges you could use to do that.  

I think the excellent background paper provided by the committee staff as well as the prior panel and other panels throughout the day have made the point that a lot of times this type of research doesn’t lead to reductions in healthcare costs.  We talk about the fact that potentially some of the therapies that would be developed would be incredibly expensive.  These could actually increase the state’s cost to healthcare, assuming that this state would have in its interest making these therapies available to low-income Californians—Californians in the Medi-Cal Healthy Families program.  I think that is certainly a very large consideration.  And taxpayers shouldn’t be asked to pay twice:  first for the research and second for the product when it eventually moves to market.  And I think certainly, at a very minimum—at-cost considerations—some provision should be made for making those therapies broadly accessible to Californians.


Finally, I think there should be very careful consideration paid to looking to directing the money to those therapies and those applications which have the broadest public health outcomes.  And again, I think certainly the whole field of biomedical research shows that that isn’t always the case.  We don’t have an effective vaccine for AIDS.  We don’t have effective vaccines for malaria.  We have multiple forms of treatment for impotence—and not to understate the importance of that—but certainly profitability, not broad public health outcomes.  We don’t have a meaningful vaccine for avian flu, to talk about something that’s potentially on our own doorstep as well.


Finally, I think I would applaud your efforts and those of the Legislature to step up oversight.  I think that certainly with an investment of somewhere in the neighborhood of $6 billion of taxpayer funds over the next thirty years, this is an extremely expensive program.  I think, again, some of the research that’s been discussed from a cost-benefit standpoint talks about the added revenues, talks about the benefits to California.  But those funds, the $200 million or more a year that will go to pay back these bonds, represents a foregone opportunity to California.  We don’t hear about the monies that won’t be available for the University of California, that won’t be available for children’s healthcare because they are going to repay these bonds, and I think that is a critical reason why it’s essential for the state to have a share in whatever eventual outcomes financially accrue from this investment.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for making those points.  They’re points that I make, and I think they sometimes fall on deaf ears.  But sometimes when someone else articulates them in a much more cogent manner, it’s helpful for the public to understand the difficulty we have in defending critical programs because there’s a two-thirds vote requirement to protect these.  We’re doing it with our general fund costs and costs for a budget overall, and that’s the difficult decisions that force many of us to get out here and do these uncomfortable kind of advocacy efforts that are often, I think in some cases, misunderstood as somehow being contrary to the interest of public.


So, thank you both for your comments.  I don’t have any colleagues here.  I do have others who want to come up under Public Comment.  Let me just thank you, Ms. Ross.  You put things in context.  Mr. Reynolds as well.  And I’m going to hold off any questions because it’s been a long day.  And thank you both.


Let me now encourage others to, if they can, stick around to give attention and time to the public that have been very, very patient as well.  We have Mr. Don Reed, who is our first speaker under Public Comment, as well as Mr. Flanagan, second speaker, and then Professor David Winickoff is the third speaker.  If you would just come forward, I can get a sense of who else.  Ms. Rotchy, Ms. Miner, and Ms. Lopes.  I believe they’re here.  Are there any others who want to come forward to provide public comment?  Usha Balakrishnan. 


I think that’s it in terms of those who signed up for Public Comment, but let’s begin with Mr. Reed.


Welcome.


MR. DON REED:  First off, thank you, Senator Ortiz, not only for hosting this tremendously important meeting today, but also for so many years of dedicated advocacy for stem cell research.  You have been there from the beginning for California, and we will never forget that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


MR. REED:  I have concerns.  My one concern is that Bayh-Dole, which I see has problems—many people have made valid criticisms of it—but it is the law of the land, and if it is not abided by, it’s my understanding that we may not be able to get matching grants from the NIH.  

Now, that so happens to be something I know about.  As you know, my son, Roman Reed, is paralyzed, and we passed a law called the Roman Reed Spinal Cord Injury Research Act.  So far we’ve spent $5 million of the California taxpayers’ money, and we’ve attracted $25 million in matching grants from NIH.  So, we want to be very careful whatever avenue we take that it’s carefully vetted by lawyers so that it will not conflict with something that will cost us that money.  Now, granted, right now the federal government is not apt to want to help us with some of our stem cell research.  Some they will.  Some of the old stem cell research which we’ll do will still be eligible for matching grants, and many of the in-between stuff will be eligible also.  But we don’t want to be cut off from that.


The key thing about all of this is the benefits to California.  One example, it’s not paralysis but Alzheimer’s.  It costs roughly $50,000 to take care of one Alzheimer patient through one year.  There’s five million Alzheimer patients in America.  That’s $250 billion.  This is gigantic money.  That’s one-eighth of the entire federal income tax.  For the entire federal income tax, go to www.IRSataglance.org.  Two trillion dollars.  One-eighth of that to take care of just one disease.  This research that we have is so valuable and it must go forward.


Now, we have tried before in reasonable pricing policy, and that was, as you know, _____________________, and unfortunately, it was a total disaster.  For six years the grants were not picked up.  It failed.  Now, I don’t particularly care who gets rich off this.  Some will.  Not me.  Not you.  Not probably anybody in this room, but maybe so.  But the research must go forward, and if it takes a financial incentive, I have no problem with that.  We want to let the companies that can do it bring the cost down.  That’s the best way we can help make stuff affordable is by bringing the cost down.  Computers.  The space race.  We paid for that.  So, you might say we paid for computers twice because computers came from the space race.  At first, computers were big as classrooms and cost millions.  Now they’re cheap like cereal box giveaways.  Industry brought that down, but first, public financing had to do it.  


One place I really agree with you—I think you’re one hundred percent right—is on the dissemination of information.  I think anything we can do to assure knowledge and not get tied up in too tight a constriction of the patents is valuable.  I don’t know how it can be done, but from our aforethought, please let’s do it as we’re doing it now.  We’re working together.  We’re talking together.  All sides be heard.  We’re working things out.  We want to avoid an expensive and divisive battle.  If it does come to that, I must defend Proposition 71.  It is a gorgeous thing.  You were there from the beginning.  You know how important it is.  It must not be harmed.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Mr. Reed.


The second speaker is Mr. Flanagan.  And after that is Professor Winickoff, and then we’ll go from there.


Welcome.  


Mr. Reed took about five minutes, so if everyone takes five minutes, we’ll be here another half hour.  But let’s go ahead and try to keep it within that timeframe.


MR. JERRY FLANAGAN:  Thanks, Senator Ortiz, members of the committee, for the opportunity to testify.  I’ll try to keep my comments briefer than that, just to hit on a couple of things that were not brought up in great deal today.


One of the key things of our organization getting involved in Prop. 71 following the passage is to make sure that the intent of the voters is upheld.  In addition to royalty collection, one of the clear messages of Prop. 71, both as an advertising—the proponents—as well as the plain language of the initiative . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m sorry to interrupt you, Mr. Flanagan.  Can you state your name and your organization for the record?

MR. FLANAGAN:  Jerry Flanagan, healthcare policy director for the Foundation for Taxpayer and Consumer Rights.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  Continue.


MR. FLANAGAN:  The key issue in addition to royalties is making sure that the end products are affordable.  Affordability is the key to access for most Californians.  If the end product, as we see happens nationally, is priced so grotesquely high by these private companies who have an exclusive license and Californians can’t afford that product, the question of whether people are truly benefiting from it is. . . . well, it’s, I think, a failed question.  We’ve seen this happen nationally.  Bayh-Dole is a failure on keeping drugs affordable.  About 44 percent of money spent to develop health and medical and prescription drugs nationally, 44 percent of that money is provided by taxpayers through the NIH.  However, because of the exclusive licensing of drugs to private companies by universities, we have no control over the ultimate price of these drugs.  


One example, Columbia University developed a glaucoma breakthrough drug called Xalatan back in 1999.  It was discovered and researched and put together with about $4 million with taxpayer money.  Columbia licensed through an exclusive license this drug to Pharmacia Corporation, which is now Pfizer, this drug for $150,000 in 1999.  Pharmacia Corporation turned around the next year and made $500 million off that drug.  They were allowed to sell the drugs at $50 a bottle, about 50 pills—about a dollar per pill—on pills that cost pennies to make. 


This is the problem with exclusive control.  We put to your staff—and we will add more detail and look forward working with you—about three principles(?) we need to make sure don’t get imported from the feds.  One is who gets to provide exclusive control of patents.  The way Bayh-Dole is structured, universities are letting those patents and those exclusive rights go too cheaply.  We don’t think that improving Bayh-Dole is the way to go.  This use of march-in rights is complex and frankly designed nationally not to work.  We think the most important thing we can do here in California is deciding who gets to give those exclusive rights.  One, if they’re necessary, and keeping that use limited because allowing open access is key to fulfilling other aspects of the public benefit.  But also, when you do give those exclusive rights, don’t allow the universities to do it.  Don’t, like the CCST report, recommend just give the IP rights as a matter of fact—whether it’s the IAVI model or some independent entity that licenses those products on behalf of the public.  That gives a more solid basis for exercising affordability standards down the road than march-in rights will ever do, providing a sense of public ownership.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask you to wrap up in a little over one minute so we can be consistent about time.


MR. FLANAGAN:  Another issue that didn’t get mentioned much today is diversity research.  One thing that’s happened federally is that Bayh-Dole has resulted in research focus on products that have an immediate commercial value in areas where there’s large markets for a particular type of disease.  For instance, Type 1A diabetes, Type 2.  These are important areas.  Unfortunately, there are lots of diseases, and the public interest is best served when there is a diversity of funding.  For instance, sickle cell anemia, which is a disease that primarily affects the African American community, adult blood cord cells have been used very effectively to treat the disease.  We may actually develop some new research and new products under the stem cell grants.  However, the CIRM has to vote for those grants.  There aren’t sickle cell anemia advocates on that committee.  But we also don’t know which grants are being denied by CIRM.  We know which ones come out, but there’s no way to evaluate who’s being denied, and this is not get-able under the Public Records Act request because of the exclusions in Prop. 71.  This is a very important area to evaluate whether the broad interests of the California public as the investor here are being represented.


With that, thank you very much.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  And some of your comments we’re attempting to address, and there is at least someone(?) from CIRM creating a record as to what gets funded and doesn’t get funded.  But I agree, there needs to be a nexus with the compelling public health needs.  On the other hand, we don’t want to ignore orphan drugs that are really critical, even though there’s a small percentage of people in California who may be affected by them.  So, it is a legitimate concern.


MR. FLANAGAN:  One other thing.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Very quickly.


MR. FLANAGAN:  The orphan drugs, particularly the AIDS drugs, nationally, up to 50 percent of the money spent on AIDS drugs are taxpayer dollars.  But again, once we’ve downstreamed that ownership. 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I just mean very rare diseases but they’re fatal.  Those ought not to be ignored because we don’t have a huge percentage, but legitimate comments.


Our third speaker is Professor David Winnickoff.  Welcome.

PROFESSOR DAVID WINNICKOFF:  Thanks, Senator Ortiz and members of the panel.  My name is David Winnickoff.  I’m an assistant professor of Bioethics and Society at University of California at Berkeley.  I teach bioethics and especially the governance of biotechnology.  I, in fact, teach the stem cell initiative to my 100-person class at Cal, the policy and ethical aspects of it.  I write on this topic and am trying to develop some ideas around intellectual property.  I’ll just outline quickly a few important things that I don’t think have come out yet today.  I think a number of important things have.


The first is a framing issue.  Even though intellectual property is talked about as its own language—I think that was one thing that person said—it involves very technical aspects.  I think it’s clear to many people here that there are fundamental, political, and ethical choices that intellectual property policies will dictate:  fundamental choices of political morality of what kind of society we want to be; what kind of distributive impacts we want this initiative to have; who gets to benefit from this sort of thing.  What does public health really mean?  Does it mean speed, or does it mean distribution?  This is the open political terrain that IP policy is, and I’m just so happy that you’re taking this on board because I think it’s the Senate and the direct representatives of the people who are actually accountable to the people of California who should actually be implementing or making decisions in this area.


One of the ways that it is political is we have a set of goals that conflict, that potentially conflict, as articulated in the initiative itself.  Obviously, we have this thing called public health or advancing health.  But what does that mean?  Does that mean try to get cures as fast as possible—which is one version that we hear—trying to get therapies or pills to market as quickly as possible?  That’s one idea.  Another is distributive facts:  Who has access?  Well, getting something to market very quickly doesn’t necessarily mean that the average Joe on the street is going to be able to afford it.  Both of those ideas are within this idea of public health, and I don’t think we’ve been clear about that all the time, and I think it’s important to draw that out.  Speed, which I think the CCST report tends to emphasize, does not emphasize other and important aspects of public health, which is the distributive impact which can be impacted by pricing.  

The other goals are openness of science—which is clearly articulated in the initiative—as well as the impacts on growing the biotech industry in California, which is also articulated.  A goal that wasn’t really talked about much in the public campaign but which is clearly in the initiative itself.  How are these goals going to be balanced?


Bayh-Dole contains one vision for how these things should be balanced.  I think the alternative models have other sorts of visions for how these things will be balanced.  

I’ll briefly state that the idea that it’s either full licensing to the private sector or that CIRM has to do it itself—which is, I guess, the idea drawn by Mr. Pooley—I just don’t agree with.  You can look at any number of models that we’ve already talked about that create a middle way between a full private sector licensing and a full, say, public treatment; sort of a pre-Bayh-Dole-NIH model.  There are many models now that create a public domain and a space to make sure that the public’s investment actually benefits public health.


Finally, I think one thing we have not talked about and which is absolutely vital—and this is a way in which the stem cell initiative diverts(?) dramatically from other sorts of funding at the federal level—is not only the types of promises on cures but the role of egg donation; the role of egg donors and gamete donors.  Women who will have to donate materials go through hormone therapy—painful extraction—in the hopes that they will create a resource for science.  Many people agree that this is going to be necessary to do SCNT and other technology.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You have just a little bit of time left, if you could conclude with that comment.


PROFESSOR WINNICKOFF:  Okay.  Let me just finish this point.  We talk about it as if it’s only the taxpayers or the IP transfer offices who should be dictating the terms of the IP, but I think we have to think about the terms of donation.  I think when women will donate, it’ll be because they want to benefit not only a speed idea but also an idea of generating help for the public.  And I think to structure an IP policy that does not consider the mandate or the extra obligations entailed by the donation would be doing those people a big disservice and might be actually unjust.


Thanks.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  And I’ll hold off my comments on that recommendation until we hear from everyone.  But I don’t disagree with you.


Our next speaker is Usha Balakrishnan.


MS. USHA BALAKRISHNAN:  Hi, I’m Usha Balakrishnan.  I’m the executive director of MIHR-USA.  I think this is a pretty historic juncture, and that is why I am here all the way from Iowa City, Iowa.  Thank you so much, Senator Ortiz, for your leadership on this issue.  I’ve really enjoyed the sessions today and the comments.


Just to give you one moment of where my background is—professionally, I could be characterized as a child of Bayh-Dole.  I’ve been in this business working at the University of Iowa for fifteen years, but I started in the technology transfer profession in 1991.  It was a very small community.  There wasn’t this much of attention paid to technology managers or their work.  So, in some ways, even though I think much of the beating up is going on right now, at least people are paying attention to what technology managers have to offer or can change within a system.


I also want to introduce myself as a founder of the technology managers for the Global Health group, which was founded as a small special interest group within the Association of University Technology Managers.  I started it with less than half a dozen people two years ago, and now it’s over 150 people.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  If you could give us some insight or observations specifically.

MS. BALAKRISHNAN:  Exactly.  I just wanted to say three things.  Essentially, that our partnership through MIHR, which is based in Oxford, England, was founded by the Rockefeller Foundation in 2002.  Our partnership through the technology managers for Global Health group, some of whom are from California universities, are ___________ and training programs now that are also going to be offered globally in developing-country environments for public sector IP management.  All this is a changing field, but I think you have to recognize we have to acknowledge that the current piece of technological advances create significant challenges for managers, lawyers . . .

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can you give us some specific recommendations or observations on some of the points raised today?  I just don’t want you to run out of time. 


MS. BALAKRISHNAN:  I have two.  Essentially that while we talk about global health right now in terms of neglected diseases, AIDS, malaria, and TB are killing off millions of the poor populations in developing countries.  The next  ___________ really is going to be diabetes, cancer, heart disease, mental disorders.  So, how can you all perhaps think about global health dimensions?  I think several of the prior speakers did bring up some of this.


The second point I think which has not been made is that my current work has influenced and brought me in touch with several corporate executives, foundation officials, and public-private partnerships.  A whole host of people that need to be involved in these initiatives.  I mean, dialogue suggests these become extremely crucial.


One thing that the Bayh-Dole Act—at least from my vantage perspective—did not provide for was the operational support for new staff or new kinds of thinking within technology management offices.  This is about professional development.  Could California do something right now as these changes are going to occur even as you talk about stem cell IP initiatives?  IP challenges are not going to be static at all.  So, I would just suggest that at least something be considered for how you’re going to energize people to keep thinking about it in new ways.


Thank you very much for the opportunity.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much, and I will at least comment.  We are the Legislature.  The oversight body has in fact committed their early investment in developing the pipeline of researchers, which is laudable, given the need to support that.  I think the ICOC has in fact committed their first round of grants, when the money is available, to encourage researchers going into the field of stem cell research.  Which is great.  So, hopefully that addresses part of your concern.


MS. BALAKRISHNAN:  And Senator Ortiz?  I’m going to leave these . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  We’ll make sure all of the members get a copy.  If we need to get more from you, then my staff will do that.  But thank you for your testimony.


We have Susan Rotchy, Karen Miner, and Fran Lopes.


MS. KAREN MINER:  Fran had to leave.  I’m Karen.  I can go next.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Of course.


MS. MINER:  I’m Karen Miner.  I’m co-chairperson of Californians for Cures.  We helped pass the Roman Reed Spinal Cord Injury Act which provided the first state-funded embryonic stem cell research.  If you’ll remember, I’m sure you heard or saw the rats that were once paralyzed walking.  Money from the Roman Reed bill funded that research and that started it.


So, funding is something that we know about.  If we follow some of the suggestions made today, my concern is that if we don’t follow the Bayh-Dole Act—I believe it’s a national law—that we will lose just a huge amount of money from NIH.  Now, with the Roman Reed Spinal Cord Injury Act, we got about $5 million from the general fund.  That $5 million generated $25 million just from NIH, and that was in three-and-a-half years.  So, I think that’s a huge amount of money to take a chance on losing.


The next thing that I wanted to mention is that the woman, Mrs. Smith, with her low income and her small children, if this funding doesn’t get going and get going fast, she’s not going to get the treatment no matter what social reforms you do.  Korea is moving; China is moving.  All these other nations aren’t sitting around discussing this, every detail, until the cows come home.  I will sell my house—I’m lucky I have a house—I’ll sell it and I’ll go where that care is because I’ve been in this chair way too long.  I know that those rats are walking, and I can be too.  But I won’t be if we’re delaying and delaying.  This must be implemented.


When we talk about what Californians wanted with Proposition 71, what they wanted, the main thing that we’re hearing, was speed.  Speed.  It was going to be fast.  When I talk to people—I do a lot of speaking—the thing that comes out is people are shocked.  They’re totally unaware that this funding hasn’t been implemented yet.  They’re totally shocked and don’t understand.  

It is my hope today that these issues and non-issues will be resolved as soon as possible.  Spend one day in my chair or spend one day as being a burn victim or one day with ALS and you will see that time is of the essence.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Susan.  Welcome.


MS. SUSAN ROTCHY:  Thank you.  My name is Susan Rotchy, and I have a very selfish reason for being here, and that’s I want to walk.


I was paralyzed in an automobile accident nine years ago, and I want out of this chair.  I don’t want to have to go through my whole life being cared for by my two children.  I don’t want my children to know the life of just getting mom in and out of bed, bathing me and dressing me every day.  

I worked before my injury, and the accident happened on the way to work.  There was no insurance policy.  There was no worker’s comp.  I qualify for no state services because my income of $2,000 a month is $1,200 over the poverty level, with my income of Social Security disability.  The van that I drive is over $50,000, and I needed to get a second on my home to purchase that.  There are no programs to help me drive or assist me in everyday care.  What programs will be cut that I as a taxpayer will benefit?  Yes, there are programs for people that haven’t worked enough and haven’t paid into Social Security and earn less than $810 a month.  This consumer will be entitled to receive free, low cost of in-home support services, which is when the state pays for them to help them take care of them.  Low-income housing and Medicaid.  That is not me, the taxpayer.  I know this because I was a benefit specialist funded by Social Security.


If you are so concerned with Mrs. Smith the consumer, that she will not get the benefits of research, consider this:  If she were to have a tragedy, a spinal cord injury today, she would receive assistance from the state of in-home support services, assist with the vehicle, and free medical—or at least at low-cost minimal.  Using that as an example, the future research cure for Ms. Smith so she should have no problems receiving the benefit we all hope to have, this discussion is mute if stem cell research is continued or delayed.  All of us will gain when Prop. 71 is allowed to go forward.  


This could be you ten to twenty years from now, with Alzheimer’s, MS, Parkinson’s, diabetes, or stroke.  I’m here today with a spinal cord injury.  You are the future with these diseases.  Please do not hold up Proposition 71, because you or your loved one or, God forbid, your child will be in the situation in the near future.  


I noticed on your program the word “stakeholders.”  I am paralyzed with a spinal cord injury.  Am I not a stakeholder?  Is not everyone with an incurable disease or disability a stakeholder in California?  Stem cell research will benefit.  We need to make this about implementation of Proposition 71, not to restrict stem cell research.  We need to move forward so we can all walk away.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Ms. Rotchy.


I’m going to comment on the public comment before I give my closing comments.  Let me address the consistent message of Mr. Reed and Ms. Rotchy and Ms. Miner in every hearing that I’ve had.  Let me just say to you that the policies that we’re attempting to develop—there may be some discomfort with it, Ms. Rotchy—are not for people who have never worked.  It’s for you.  There is no policy that has been adopted by the ICOC and CIRM that assures you will have access to these treatments.  It is not about assuring people, as you articulated, who have never worked and paid into Social Security, but it is for working-poor Californians, persons who had an income and had a devastating injury and then have no source of healthcare.  It is for far more people, and it includes you, the both of you, and your son.  What you have missed in this debate is the fact that nothing in the ICOC’s policies will guarantee that Roman will have access to this therapy if they develop something down the road, or that either of you will.  

So, as much as I have been accused—and let me just go to this because I think it’s probably the most, if not disingenuous, the most difficult part of your comments to me—that a discussion about an obligation of the State of California to assure that you will indeed benefit from the billions of dollars that you are paying for this research, to suggest that this discussion and this debate and the pushing of a policy is a delay that is going to cause you greater harm is so unfortunate.  Before many people who are on that ICOC board ever thought of creating a bond measure, I was one, if not the only voice in the Legislature who pushed this policy, who proposed the bond; who proposed a bond that didn’t have the obstacles that are in the language of the initiative now.  You were in my committee and other committees advocating on behalf of that.  

To suggest that somehow the money that we are not realizing from the federal government right now—that was the motivation to authorize the law that I did in California and to push a bond measure.  To somehow suggest that we won’t draw down millions of dollars—that don’t exist on the federal level, by the way.  We cannot get matching dollars under Bayh-Dole from the federal government for embryonic stem cell research, period.  Perhaps in the future—perhaps—if we see a change in the federal government’s policies and laws, sure.  But I am not going to delay developing a policy that assures access to 35 million Californians because of a hypothetical that someday in the future we may see a federal government that is going to release matching federal dollars for embryonic stem cell research.  To suggest that that rationale should preclude us from taking care of the 35 million Californians that are before us today, many who are very poor, Ms. Rotchy, but many who are like yourself, who meet with these horrible situations, you have no guarantee in any policy that has been articulated today that you will have access to these therapies and treatments. 


It’s wonderful, Ms. Miner—you have a house you can sell.  But how about the person who has already sold their home, their car, who’s borrowed from their family members?  God forbid someone who’s a janitor or a waiter who is working hard and contributing to our system who doesn’t have a home to sell.


MS. MINER:  That’s my point.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No.  Your point is misplaced.  Let me say to you . . .


MS. MINER:  My point is different than yours.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No.  Your point is, you have a house to sell and therefore.  But once the proceeds from your home are gone?  One, you should not have to sell your home.  And this discussion today and all of the discussions I will do until my last day in the Legislature will do nothing—will do nothing—to create a greater risk of you losing your home.


So, with all due respect, Mr. Reed, the $5 million that doesn’t exist from the federal government that ought to be a bar to preclude pursuing a policy beyond Bayh-Dole should not prevent me and others who care about this to assure that we have a policy that serves all Californians. 


And the hypothetical Mrs. Smith that Assemblymember Jones addressed—you know what?  I think we have an obligation to them as well.  To suggest that the delay, that these discussions about developing a responsible obligation to serve Californians, is creating the delay in the dollars, let me be very clear—the lawsuit is delaying rolling out dollars, number one.  Number two, the missteps of the ICOC in general may have created a lack of confidence in those who buy these bonds.  Nothing that this committee is doing or that I have done throughout my career in any way has delayed issuance of money that doesn’t exist at this point.


So, to suggest, as has been suggested consistently—you know what?  I’ve held my tongue in all of these hearings in which you continue to say that my work is somehow going to harm you or your son, Mr. Reed—to me is probably the most painful part of this discussion.  As a politician who has put her career and her reputation and the political problems that are inherent in tackling a huge issue, it really doesn’t do service to everything that you have done as a partner in this up to this point.  It takes away from the credibility of those who are out there who don’t have a voice.


MR. REED:  We must respond to this.  You go way too far.  You are insulting us personally.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask the sergeants to let the witnesses know what the rules are in the committee.


Let me close on a couple of other points.  The question was raised regarding a potential opportunity to attach to egg donations an obligation or an opportunity for those who donate eggs, who undergo hyper-ovulation and a procedure that is not insignificant to extract those eggs, that they should have the right to then direct how those eggs will be used in research is one that we’ll take under consideration.  I’m not sure if you’re familiar with a measure that would have governed informed consent.  It would have created a higher level of informed consent.  A measure of mine is SB 18 that put back in place the informed consent provisions that were taken out by Proposition 71.  We attempted to put them back in, in a bill. 


We also added a provision of a performance audit that we had Legislative Counsel assure us in an eight-page opinion did not in any way conflict with Prop. 71, and it was vetoed by the Governor.  And it was vetoed by the Governor under this false assessment or interpretation, without a legal opinion accompanying it, that a performance audit was in direct violation of Prop. 71.  I trust the Legislative Counsel opinion.  It was well-thought-out.  It was significant.  It was seven to eight pages long.  And the Governor’s Office did not deliver a counter-opinion that was written out.  I understand that there may have been pressure—although there was no opposition at all in the record in any committee hearing; it had wide bipartisan support—that there was effort from the CIRM to veto that bill.  God forbid we should do a performance audit to question whether they’re adhering to the language of 71. 


So, we will take those under advisement.  We’ll come back.  I hope that we’ll be able to put those provisions in.  I suggest you give your testimony as well to the ICOC and give them your thoughts and advice on that obligation or that option for women who donate to be able to direct the egg donations to go to a socially responsible policy that benefits other Californians.


We have tackled many of the concerns raised by Mr. Flanagan regarding models out there.  We’ll continue to take in his comments, and we’ll continue to be the voice that is not always welcome but is one that has to be heard in this discussion until the ICOC adopts a policy that I think meets with the expectation not only of the voters but I think just the ethical obligation to assure that the electoral process, the initiative process—one in which I put my reputation and my name on the line, unlike many other politicians who have weighed in subsequent to the enactment—that I had to admit publicly that we missed a key point—I missed a key point—this notion of an obligation to return back to California.  Unfortunately, I believed, as many did in the beginning, that we would have assured those policies in place thus far.  We’ve only heard from the ICOC and CIRM that the Bayh-Dole model is the one that we ought to adhere to; that that model, that we won’t have takers in the research community from the private sector community participating; therefore, we ought not to chill the market. 


Let me just say that I thank Professor Mimura who’s illustrated a policy within the University of California that indeed imposes an obligation, a social responsibility.  Let me also thank the representative from IAVI that outlined that international AIDS vaccine institute model that imposes an obligation to assure that there’s access and availability to treatments if they’re eventually developed.


What this hearing has done today, I hope, is that it’s demonstrated that it is possible to meet both of the goals of Proposition 71, which is the rapid dissemination of research findings and translation into useful therapies, and achieving a significant economic return for the state in a way that maximizes our opportunity to use tax-exempt bonds rather than taxable bonds to finance that research if we are committed and we are willing—and we see the will from CIRM to in fact do that.  Using taxable bonds alone could increase our costs of at least close to a billion dollars, if not more.  The purpose of the hearing was, once again, to outline the breadth of thinking and ideas on how the state might structure its intellectual property policy for stem cell research grants.  I think we have raised questions again.  We may not have resolved all of them, but I hope it’s more food for thought for the policymakers to take back to the oversight body.


I’m personally optimistic that we’re going to arrive at a policy that does in fact meet both of the goals of the initiative.  I have about a year left in the Legislature, but this will probably be my number one priority.  The stakes are too important if we don’t meet the intent of the initiative and if we don’t make good on the promises we made to the voters.  This is the first of what will likely be a number of public forums on this topic. 


For those who have come out who sat through this long hearing, I thank you.  We’re very appreciative of your input.  The final policy that will be adopted will be one that is stronger.  It will be better because of your involvement, and I urge you to continue to stay involved as we move forward on this important issue.


Let me say to my colleagues who have since gone but to their staff.  Thank you for being here.  Also the sergeants as well as the parents who are attempting to get back for a good holiday and a safe holiday. 


We have some difficult options before us.  Time is running out.  I hope the clock doesn’t run before my time to leave the Legislature.  This is an incredibly important public issue, not just for the health of Californians that will be compromised if we don’t deliver for them, but more importantly for the process that will have been tainted; that will have once again convinced the voters that we as politicians and that the electoral process has failed them.  And I will take all of the time that I have left in the Legislature to try to restore that confidence.


With that, thank you all for being here, and I look forward to further committee discussions.

# # #
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